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Financial Highlights
B E

Year ended 31 December

BE+_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
(in HK$°000) (F#7T) —EBE_NE =% +/(-)
Revenue A 6,044,878 6,709,324 -9.9%
Gross profit EF] 2,853,389 2,994,001 -4.7%
Operating profit KEER 856,163 1,254,366 -31.7%
Profit before income tax BRETIEM AR A 861,245 1,253,964 -31.3%
Profit for the year FEEEHN 720,922 1,165,103 -38.1%
Profit attributable to the owners of NNBEB ANEML G
the Company 713,427 1,155,164 -38.2%
Research and development costs (included in ~ FA3EE A (BIEEITHERR)
administrative expenses) (683,513) (644,075) +6.1%
As at 31 December
®w+=ZB=+—H
2024 2023
(in HK$°000) (F#7T) —ECNE =% +/()
Total current assets TRENE EARZE 7,646,119 7,553,221 +1.2%
Total assets BEME 9,169,505 9,075,329 +1.0%
Net current assets BB EFE 6,130,960 6,064,406 +1.1%
Total equity R 4EEE 7,564,587 7,486,174 +1.0%
EARNINGS PER SHARE & DIVIDEND
BREBEINREKE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—HLEE
2024 2023
Per Share (in HK$) =8 (B —ECNE —ET=4F +/(-)
Earnings per share gRET
— Basic —&K 0.669 1.075 -37.8%
— Diluted —#8 0.658 1.051 -37.4%
Proposed final dividend per ordinary share EERERTERKPRE 0.25 0.23 +8.7%




Financial Highlights
B E

FINANCIAL RATIOS

MFSEEE
2024 2023
Gross profit margin ETIES 47.2% 44.6%
Operating profit margin &R 14.2% 18.7%
Net profit margin RIS 11.9% 17.4%
Current ratio (times) TRENEE R () 5.0 5.1
Return on equity’ By 9.4% 15.4%
Return on assets? BE[DIHR 7.8% 12.7%
TURNOVER DAYS
HEHH
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Year FE S — i
Inventory? g 183 175 194 236 220
Trade and bills receivables* FEUCER R FE M 4 102 % 106 143 163
Trade and bills payables® ERRNRERNERE 152 127 129 127 105
Cash conversion ReBine 133 144 171 252 278
Notes M &E
1 Return on equity = Profit attributable to the owners of the Company/Total 1 EROR=ATEE ABEGEN, ERE
equity as at year end 4R BB
2 Return on assets = Profit attributable to the owners of the Company/Total 2 BEERKR=AQNEEEABERN FXE
assets as at year end EMREE
3 Inventory turnover days = Average gross inventory balance/(Cost of sales 3 FERERYM=FHEEEHREE (EEH
for the year/366 days) EmA,366H)
4 Trade and bills receivables turnover days = Average gross trade and bills 4 FEWBR A R E W E B 0 &8 = FHEUIER
receivables balance/(Revenue for the year/366 days) TR ERZEEHEE (FEERA366H)
5 Trade and bills payables turnover days = Average trade and bills payables 5 MR RENEZEEAEE#=FHEN
balance/(Cost of sales for the year/366 days) RAERENEREREE (FEHERE
/366H)
6 Cash conversion days = Inventory turnover days + Trade and bills 6 HREEMHY=-"GFEEEHH+EBRERAK

receivables turnover days — Trade and bills payables turnover days

BUZEEEAH - BOERAREMRER
EA#H



Bank Card Transaction Flow of Electronic Payment
RITFEFZIRZHE

The following is a simplified diagram illustrating the transaction flow in
a typical electronic payment transaction
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(e.g. hotels, restaurants, retailers )

(BB B )

Acquirer
Card Issuer B

feg. Ban?if*éﬁfa HSBC) (e.g. First Data, Fiserv, Global Payments,
(Gl T Hang Seng Bark)

Card Association
R4EB

(e.g. Visa, MasterCard, China UnionPay)
(BYZ0Visa~MasterCard~HEI5RH)

(PI%First Data-Fiserv~Global Payments-1§4:R1T)
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E-payment

E-payment Terminals

Solutions Provider
« BF X (AR
(e.g. PAX Global)

(BIIE IR

Terminals Solutions

BFZHEIRRRSR

E-payment Terminals solutions provider sells E-payment Terminals
solutions to acquirer directly or through distributor.

Cardholder purchases with card at a merchant through an
E-payment Terminal.

The E-payment Terminal sends transaction data to the acquirer.

The acquirer sends authorisation request and verifies with the card
issuer that the card number and transaction amount are both valid
through the network of card association.

The card issuer verifies that the cardholder’s credit is sufficient and
grants authorisation.

The acquirer receives the response and relays it to the merchant.
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Products Highlights (for reference only)
QB Em (EH2E)

ANDROID SMART E-PAYMENT SOLUTIONS
REGEBEFZMBREE

General features: Powered by Android operating system and PCI PTS certified. Compact, portable, equipped with a large
high resolution touch screen and inbuilt camera. Support various kinds of payment options, including
bank card payments, Near Field Communication (“NFC") contactless and QR code payments.

—ARAER WL S FERBIRIE WEISPCI PTSSREESMNUNTS FEFR BARASERIERKNERK
BoBRBEBIMAAI QFERIT R NFOME R B IF-

A920MAX A81700 A6650 ATl ARS




Products Highlights (for reference only)
QB Em (EH2E)

UNATTENDED SOLUTIONS
BENARFE AR TS

General features:

—RRAERS

Ideal for self-service sales points such as railway stations, petrol stations, parking lots and kiosks.
Products are certified with PCI PTS and have met required standards for anti-vandalism and
waterproofing. Support various kinds of payment options and connectivity options include 3G, 4G, WiFi
and Bluetooth.

BRARXNBI IR FHIB - EEFEBIHE SR - ERERPC PTSERE » T EFHEBEMH KR
N HTREREBE NI AN R3G 4G WIFiRI B2 TF LB E I EEIH o

CLASSIC E-PAYMENT SOLUTIONS
BMEFZARREGE

General Features:

—ARASRL

Traditional Linux portfolio with PCI PTS certified, ranging from the D-Series, Q-Series, S-Series, and more.
Support bank card payments, NFC contactless payments, and more.
BEPCI PTSEEMVEMLinuXE fmm  WEDR T QRF SHRIF - ZIRIFTT R NFCIEEME

NEX

$210 D188




Products Highlights (for reference only)
QB Em (EH2E)

COMMERCIAL EPOS SOLUTIONS

R #EPOSHR RS %
General Features: Feature a suite of software and hardware for business Internet of Things, such as the handheld scanner,

the external printer, as well as a commercial Kitchen Display System (“KDS"). Powered by Android, these
devices seamlessly interconnect and collaborate between in-store POS devices.

— ARG HE—RIBEYBANTIBHERE S FREES - HNERXITNE ARAFERERR S UE
BIERERE BIERPOSHKE 2 B BIRMAB T EMHE -

MAXSTORE

MAXSTORE, a cloud-based Software as a Service (“SaaS") platform,
connects payment service providers (“PSPs”), acquiring banks,
application developers and merchants, providing one-stop terminal
management and value-added services.

Advanced terminal management
Industry-leading terminal management features designed to enable PSPs
and acquiring banks manage payment terminals in real time.

Powerful value-added services hub
Rich industry value-added tools, deliver business management for
merchants across diverse business segments.

14,000,000+ 14,000+

Connected terminals Applications
AR FEREER

MAXSTORE

MAXSTOREZ 2 i & 14 B AR 75 (TSaaS ) F & 8
BXORER WERT EREAMEENG
PoRE— iR E B R IGERTS o

*EE’M& BIE
REEREENRIKREENE RXARESE
%D W BB SRTTIR (BN B B I S (J AR IR AR TS o

SR RYIEERRFS O
BEEEENTEREIR ATAEHBHNER
RUHEFEERERH -

3,700+

Application developers

EREARZEAE
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Corporate Information
~vEEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

NIE Guoming (Chairman)

LU Jie (Chief Executive Officer)
LI Wenjin

CHEUNG Shi Yeung (Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary)

(appointed on 14 March 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
YIP Wai Ming

WU Min

MAN Kwok Kuen, Charles

FOK Wai Shun, Wilson

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
CHEUNG Shi Yeung
CHAN Yiu Kwong

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
LI Wenjin

CHEUNG Shi Yeung

CHAN Yiu Kwong (alternate)

BERMUDA RESIDENT REPRESENTATIVE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong Law
Reed Smith Richards Butler LLP

As to Bermuda Law
Conyers Dill & Pearman
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Corporate Information
~vEEH

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
UBS AG

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Room 2504, 25th Floor

Sun Hung Kai Centre

30 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRAR IN BERMUDA
Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.paxglobal.com.hk

STOCK CODE
327
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Simplified Corporate Chart
YNSES RS

The following is a simplified corporate chart of the Group’s principal operating subsidiaries up to the date of this report.

PAX Global Technology Limited
(Stock code: 327)
(Bermuda)

Pax Technology Limited

(HK)

Wonder Pax
Technology
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
(PRC)

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
(PRC)

100%

Pax Computer
Technology

Pax Technology, Inc.
(UsA)

100%

Pax Japan

Kabushiki Kaisha

(Japan)

Pax Pos
Solutions India
Private Limited

(India)

95%

CSC Italia S.rl
(Italy)

Kwang Woo
Information &
Communication
Co., Ltd.
(Korea)

70%

Pax Italia S.r.l.

(Italy)

100%

Pax Singapore
Technology

Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%

Pax Technology
Australia

Pty Ltd.

(Australia)

HERKEHZARAR —ZTTNEFR
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Simplified Corporate Chart
YNSES RS

TERABEAREARFAEETBZEBENBLANARAREHR

100% 100%
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Co., Ltd.
(32ED)

Pax Singapore
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[(

Pax Technology, Inc.
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100% 95% 70% 100%

Pax Technology

(& Australia
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Directors and Senior Management
EXREREER

As at 20 March 2025, the date of the Report of the Directors, the
biographical details of the directors (the “Director(s)”) and senior
management of PAX Global Technology Limited (the “Company”) are as
follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

NIE Guoming Chairman

Mr. Nie, aged 62, is the Chairman and an Executive Director of
the Company, the general manager of Pax Computer Technology
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Pax Technology (Shenzhen)”) and a director in
a number of subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible for the
overall management and strategic development of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”). Mr. Nie has over 25 years
of experience in the card payment industry. He joined Pax Technology
Limited (“Pax Technology”) at its founding in March 2000 as the vice
president until January 2001 and subsequently as the president prior
to his appointment as the chairman in June 2010. Mr. Nie previously
worked as an engineer in the Information Technology Department of
the Headquarters of China Merchants Bank in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") from 1996 to 1999. Mr. Nie graduated from
Tsinghua University in 1984 with a bachelor’s degree in Radio Electronics
and obtained a master's degree in Radio Electronics Engineering from
Southeast University in 1991. He was appointed as the Chairman and an
Executive Director of the Company in December 2010.

LU Jie Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Lu, aged 60, is the Chief Executive Officer and an Executive Director
of the Company and a director in a number of subsidiaries of the
Company. He joined the Group in August 2001 and is responsible for
managing the business development, sales and marketing functions
of the Group. Mr. Lu has over 20 years of experience in sales and
marketing in the electronic payment industry and served a number of
management positions and executive role at Beijing Order Computer
Company (“Beijing Order”), a system integration company, from 1998
to 2001, including general manager of insurance department, general
manager of marketing department and vice president. He also worked
as an engineer of the Ministry of Geology and Mineral Resources of
the PRC and the Chinese Academy of Geological Sciences from 1986
to 1994 and from 1994 to 1995 respectively. Mr. Lu holds a bachelor’s
degree from Chengdu Geology Institute. He obtained an Executive
Master of Business Administration degree from the Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business in 2010. He was appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer and an Executive Director of the Company in May
2013.
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Directors and Senior Management
EXREREER

LI Wenjin

Mr. Li, aged 61, is an Executive Director of the Company and a
director in a number of subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible
for the Company’s risk management and treasury management and
overseeing operations of Pax Technology, of which he has been serving
as a director since April 2000. Mr. Li has over 30 years of experience
in investment and administrative affairs. Mr. Li was the director of Hi
Sun Information Technology Services Limited (“HSITSL") from August
1997 to May 2005, a Hong Kong company engaging in general trading
and provision of consultancy services. HSITSL provided consultancy
services to Pax Technology from 2002 to 2003. Mr. Li has also been
the managing director of Hi Sun Limited since August 1999 and an
executive director of Hi Sun Technology (China) Limited (“Hi Sun”), a
controlling shareholder of the Company, since June 2001. He has also
been appointed as an executive director of both Hi Sun Limited and Hi
Sun and certain of their subsidiaries. Prior to joining Hi Sun Limited in
1999, he worked for several companies in the PRC and Hong Kong,
including Beijing Order from 1994 to 1995 where he was responsible for
investment and administrative affairs. Mr. Li obtained a master's degree
in laws from the Peking University in 1989. He was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company in February 2010.

CHEUNG Shi Yeung Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary

Mr. Cheung, aged 41, is an Executive Director, the Chief Financial
Officer and one of the joint company secretaries of the Company,
and a company secretary in a number of subsidiaries of the Company.
He is responsible for overseeing the business development, finance,
compliance, merger and acquisition, and investor relations of the Group.
He was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company in
October 2016, the joint company secretary of the Company in January
2018 and an Executive Director of the Company in March 2024. Mr.
Cheung graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with
a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration in 2006 and obtained
a master's degree in Business Administration jointly from Columbia
University, London Business School and The University of Hong Kong
in 2021. Mr. Cheung has over 15 years of financial and accounting
related experience. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and an associate of The Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung
worked for an international public accountancy firm and was involved
in a number of audit and assurance, capital market transaction and
advisory projects advising corporate clients including listed companies
and conglomerates worldwide.
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Directors and Senior Management
EXREREER

Independent Non-Executive Directors

YIP Wai Ming

Mr. Yip, aged 59, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in December 2010. Mr. Yip is currently an
independent non-executive director of Ju Teng International Holdings
Limited, Far East Horizon Limited, Sinohope Technology Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Huobi Technology Holdings Limited and New Huo
Technology Holdings Limited) and Peijia Medical Limited, all of which
are companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). Mr. Yip was also an independent non-executive
director of Poly Culture Group Corporation Limited, a company
previously listed on the Stock Exchange, from December 2013 to June
2022 and an independent non-executive director of Yida China Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, from June 2014 to
July 2024. Mr. Yip graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’s degree in social sciences in 1987. He also holds a bachelor’s
degree in laws from the University of London. Mr. Yip is a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

WU Min

Dr. Wu, aged 53, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in December 2010. Previously, Dr. Wu was an
assistant professor at The Hong Kong University of Science & Technology
Business School and The University of Hong Kong School of Business. Dr.
Wu has been teaching International Accounting Standards, US Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles and Chinese Accounting Standards.
Her academic research achievements in identifying US accounting
restatements and frauds were reported by various media, including the
Wall Street Journal, New York Times, Business Week, Fortune, CNN, etc..
Dr. Wu used to cooperate with major accounting firms and the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (US) in conducting research in the
areas of accounting manipulation and frauds by US listed companies.
She also provides professional interpretation and analysis services for
investment funds on accounting standards and on listed companies’
financial statements. Dr. Wu graduated from the Peking University
with a bachelor’s degree in Economics in 1994 and obtained a master’s
degree in Economics from the Tufts University in 1996 and a Ph.D. in
Accounting from the Stern School of Business, New York University in
2003.

MAN Kwok Kuen, Charles

Mr. Man, aged 66, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in December 2010. Mr. Man graduated from
The University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in laws in 1981.
Mr. Man was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1984 and has
practised as a solicitor at Joseph S. C. Chan & Co. (formerly known as
Chan and Lo) in Hong Kong since then. He is currently a partner of
Joseph S.C. Chan & Co.
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Directors and Senior Management
EXREREER

FOK Wai Shun, Wilson

Mr. Fok, aged 50, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in May 2023. Mr. Fok has over 20 years of
experience in the fields of accounting, investment banking, corporate
development and finance. Mr. Fok has been an independent non-
executive director of D&G Technology Holding Company Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, since 2015. Mr. Fok holds a
double bachelor degree in commerce and in laws from the University
of Melbourne. Mr. Fok was admitted as a solicitor and barrister of the
Supreme Court of Victoria, Australia in 1998 and is a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of
Certified Public Accountants, Australia.

Mr. Fok previously worked in the assurance and transaction services
departments of PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2000 to 2004. From
2004 to 2010, he served in various positions at the investment banking
division of Piper Jaffray Asia Limited. From 2010 to 2014, he served
at the corporate finance division of CCB International Capital Limited
where his last position was executive director. From 2015 to 2018, he
was the managing director of Challenge Capital Management Limited.
From 2018 to 2019 and from 2021 to 2023, he was the managing
director of Titan Financial Services Limited. From 2019 to 2020, he
was the managing director, co-head and head of IPO of the corporate
finance department of Opus Financial Group. He served in Kum Shing
Group as director of new venture and investment from July 2023 to
August 2024 and as advisor from September 2024 to December 2024,
where he was principally responsible for developing opportunities for
new ventures and business models, as well as leading potential mergers
and acquisitions, joint ventures, partnerships, strategic cooperation and
investment initiatives.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LUO Shaowen

Mr. Luo, aged 56, is the executive vice president, chairman and
legal representative of Pax Technology (Shenzhen). He is responsible
for the research and development management of the Company’s
smart electronic payment point-of-sale terminals (“E-payment
Terminals”) products and supply chain business and oversees the
finance of the operations in Shenzhen and construction matters. Mr.
Luo graduated from Wuhan University with a bachelor’s degree in
economic management. Mr. Luo has over 25 years of experience in
the card payment industry and over 20 years of experience in financial
administration and supply chain management. He joined Pax Technology
(Shenzhen) in December 2004. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Luo
served various management positions in Beijing Order and Beijing Hi Sun
Electric Power Information Technology Limited.
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Chairman’s Statement
EFERSE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of PAX Global
Technology Limited (“PAX” or “the Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present the annual report of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the year under review, the Group’s revenue amounted to
HK$6,044.9 million, representing a decrease of 9.9% compared to
HK$6,709.3 million in 2023. The decline in revenue was due to the drop
in purchase orders in certain markets during the year, which is attributed
to the global economic uncertainty.

In 2024, profit for the year was HK$720.9 million, representing a
decrease of 38.1% compared to HK$1,165.1 million in 2023. Profit
for the year attributable to the owners of the Company was HK$713.4
million, representing a decrease of 38.2% as compared to HK$1,155.2
million in 2023. Basic earnings per share for the year was HK$0.669
(2023: HK$1.075).

The proposed final dividend achieved a record high in 2024. The
Board has recommended to declare a final dividend of HK$0.25 per
ordinary share (2023: HK$0.23) for the year ended 31 December
2024, amounting to a total of approximately HK$265,426,000 (2023:
HK$246,056,000) (assuming there will be no change in the number
of shares in issue on or before the record date for determining the
entitlement of final dividend) subject to the approval of the shareholders
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

OUTLOOK

In 2024, the world’s economic recovery remained challenging,
compounded by ongoing macroeconomic uncertainties and persistently
high interest rates, which have affected the Group’s business. As the
world’s leading electronic payment terminal enterprise, PAX is steadfast
in its commitment to investing in the future, driving long-term business
development.

During the year, the Group achieved a major milestone with the
commencement of two core infrastructures: the PAX Smart Terminals
Industrial Park and a new headquarters building. The Smart Terminals
Industrial Park in Huizhou (China), now serves as PAX's key production
hub, enhancing the Group's supply chain efficiency and delivery
capabilities. Meanwhile, the commencement of the new headquarters
marks a new milestone in the Group's development, laying a solid
foundation for the Group’s global expansion and innovation.
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Chairman’s Statement
EFERSE

Leveraging our cutting-edge technology and exceptional product
portfolio, PAX has been collaborating with acquiring banks, Payment
Service Providers (“PSPs”) and channel partners worldwide to explore
market opportunities. In 2024, the Group recorded revenue of
HK$6,044.9 million and profit for the year of HK$720.9 million. PAX
continues to focus on innovation and quality excellence of Android
smart payment terminals, as well as driving the growth of its SaaS
business and actively expanding its presence in the commercial POS
("EPOS") market.

During the year, sales of Android smart products accounted for more
than 60% of the Group's total revenue, with the flagship model
A920Pro continuing to be one of PAX's most popular products.
Moreover, SaaS solution revenue delivered encouraging results, with a
year-on-year growth of 30.5% to reach HK$138.2 million. The Group
has made significant progress in its strategic expansion of the Android
EPOS market. The Elys series of EPOS products has effectively driven the
digital transformation of the retail and hospitality industries, gaining
growing traction among PSPs in the North America. Demand for the Elys
Workstation ECR model increased, driving steady sales growth.

Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA") has now emerged as the
Group's largest revenue region, with annual sales reaching HK$2,202.9
million. The market continues to show robust demand for the A920Pro
smart payment terminal. PAX business maintained strong momentum
across Europe, with significant sales in Italy, the United Kingdom, France
and South Eastern Europe. However, demand in a few countries such
as Germany and Spain was volatile. In the Middle East, sales in Saudi
Arabia and the Gulf Cooperation Council (“GCC") countries continued
to generate significant revenue contribution for PAX. In Africa, the
Group is focusing on expanding its footprint in the UEMOA region
(West African Economic and Monetary Union), with growing number
of PSPs adopting the A920 payment terminal, certified to regional
standards.

In Latin America and the Commonwealth of Independent States
(“LACIS™), Brazil's payment terminal industry has transitioned from
high-growth period to a more stable development phase, resulting in a
decline in the overall procurement. On the other hand, PAX is making
steady progress in expanding its footprint across other South American
markets, with a strong focus on optimising distributor partnerships.
Mexico and Argentina have emerged as new key contributors in the
region. In Mexico, the Group seized the market opportunity of strong
demand for Android smart terminals, and achieved large-scale shipment
of A-series products.
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Chairman’s Statement
EFERSE

In Asia Pacific ("APAC"), PAX continues to strengthen its position as
the preferred payment terminal provider for banks in India. The newly
introduced the soundbox CS70 and CS75 have successfully secured
large-scale orders from leading acquiring banks and PSPs. In Japan
and Indonesia, the Group's market expansion has achieved remarkable
results, with record-high sales in both markets during the year. In
Japan, the continued shift towards cashless payments has fuelled robust
demand for PAX Android smart payment terminals. A920 continues to
maintain widespread market adoption, while the new model A920MAX
was successfully rolled out for commercial use this year. To enhance our
market share and brand presence in Australia and New Zealand, the
Group fully acquired the Australian distributor Pax Technology Australia
Pty Ltd. during the year. This acquisition will strengthen our ability to
deliver localised products and services, scaling up the deployment of
Android payment terminals and fostering business expansion in Australia
and New Zealand.

In the United States of America and Canada ("USCA"), independent
sales organizations (“I1SOs"”) and financial institutions adopted cautious
investment strategies in the first half, resulting in slower payment
terminal deployments. The market began to rebound in the second half,
propelling a steady resurgence in orders. The Group has strengthened
its strategic partnerships with banks while actively expanding direct-
to-retail sales channels. These efforts have extended across various
industries, including cinemas, telecom providers, convenience stores and
quick-service restaurant chains, further solidifying the Group’s leadership
position in the Android smart payment terminal market.

Looking ahead, with the rapid evolution of financial technology and
increasing government initiatives toward cashless economies, the global
payment industry will usher in more opportunities. The Group will
remain committed in strengthening its strategic presence in key markets,
while driving digital transformation and business innovation through its
cutting-edge Android smart payment terminals and SaaS$ solutions.
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Chairman’s Statement
EFERSE

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my heartfelt thanks to all the directors, management, as
well as our employees for their dedication. We would also extend our
gratitude and appreciation to our loyal customers, suppliers, business
partners and shareholders for their unwavering trust and support to the
Group over the years.

Nie Guoming
Chairman
Hong Kong, 20 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREZA®ADH

FINANCIAL REVIEW B4 #%5 [0l R
The key financial figures are extracted as follows: EMBHRBREROT
Year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=1+—HLEE
2024 2023
—EINE =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET +/(-)
Revenue A 6,044,878 6,709,324 -9.9%
Gross profit el 2,853,389 2,994,001 -4.7%
Other income Ha A 85,372 95,126 -10.3%
Selling expenses HER (772,428)  (674,479) +14.5%
Administrative expenses THER (1,317,994) (1,171,459) +12.5%
Net reversal of impairment losses/ B EZRERERED
(impairment losses) on financial assets FEE CREFE1E) 6,963 (1,443) N/A B
Profit before income tax PRPTEM AR H 861,245 1,253,964 -31.3%
Income tax expense Frigfsz (140,323) (88,861) +57.9%
Profit for the year FEE&H 720,922 1,165,103 -38.1%
Profit attributable to the owners of the Company Z&A B #EA A B &EF 713,427 1,155,164 -38.2%
Research and development costs (included in e A (BIEEITH
administrative expenses) = g==I)! (683,513)  (644,075) +6.1%
As at 31 December
®W+=ZA=+—H
2024 2023
—EINE =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET +/(-)
Total current assets BN E ELERA 7,646,119 7,553,221 +1.2%
Total non-current assets R EELEL 1,523,386 1,522,108 +0.1%
Total assets B ELEEE 9,169,505 9,075,329 +1.0%
Total current liabilities MENEE4E%E 1,515,159 1,488,815 +1.8%
Total non-current liabilities JEmB B ([EAREE 89,759 100,340 -10.5%
Total liabilities BEEE 1,604,918 1,589,155 +1.0%
Net current assets MENEEFE 6,130,960 6,064,406 +1.1%
Total equity e 4B R 7,564,587 7,486,174 +1.0%
EEERERARAR —EoNEER 14
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Year ended 31 December

BE+_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EBECNE —_T_=4F +/(-)
PER SHARE (IN HK$) s (B
Earnings per share for profit attributable KABVHER NS
to the owners of the Company wmilz BREF]
— Basic —H®K 0.669 1.075 -37.8%
- Diluted —#5E 0.658 1.051 -37.4%
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—HILEE
2024 2023
—ENE _EC=F
FINANCIAL RATIOS BAFSLE =
Gross profit margin EF=E 47.2% 44.6%
Net profit margin FFEE 11.9% 17.4%

Revenue

i)  Sales by Geographical Region

2024

889,338

HK$’'000
TET

Total 485t

6,044,878

1,064,905

® EMEA @ LACIS

2,202,923

1,887,712
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERZAmADH

Year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=1+—HLEE
2024 2023
ZEINE —_E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT TET +/(-)
Europe, the Middle East and UM ~ R R IEM (TEMEA J)

Africa ("EMEA") 2,202,923 2,244,595 -1.9%
Latin America and the Commonwealth of fI T = MNABHEEE R

Independent States (“LACIS") (TLACIS ) 1,887,712 2,327,624 -18.9%
Asia Pacific Region (“APAC") K& (FTAPACY) 1,064,905 1,074,584 -0.9%
United States of America and EEEME=AR (TUSCAY)

Canada ("USCA") 889,338 1,062,521 -16.3%
Total “agR 6,044,878 6,709,324 -9.9%
Revenue decreased by 9.9% to HK$6,044.9 million for the year WABBEE_E_=F+_H=+—H
ended 31 December 2024 from HK$6,709.3 million for the year IEFEMG6,7093B BB TR LIO%ER
ended 31 December 2023. The decline in revenue was primarily EFCE_NME+_BA=+—HLIEEY
due to the drop in purchase orders in certain markets during the 6,044 9B B BT - WMABFM THEITEH
year, which is attributed to the global economic uncertainty. RENTSENRFEFRNNRKBEBITETR ; B

BRREXEENREN. -
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i)

17

Sales by Product Category

i) BERSEHESR

Year ended 31 December

BE+_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023

—ECNE —ET=4F

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET +/(-)
Sales of E-payment Terminals products HEBTZNRKESR 5,706,490 6,424,798 -11.2%
Provision of services MRS 338,388 284,526 +18.9%
Total 4B%E 6,044,878 6,709,324 -9.9%

Sales of E-payment Terminals products

E-payment Terminals products include Android smart E-payment
solutions, unattended solutions, classic E-payment solutions and
other products.

Revenue from the sales of E-payment Terminals products
decreased by 11.2% to HK$5,706.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2024 from HK$6,424.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the drop in
purchase orders in certain markets during the year.

Provision of services

Services income mainly consists of the income generated from
the provision of maintenance and installation services and the
payment solutions services, e.g. SaaS (Software as a Service)
solutions.

Revenue from provision of services increased by 18.9% to
HK$338.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from
HK$284.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
increase in revenue from provision of services was mainly due to
the growing demand for the maintenance and installation services
and the Saas solutions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEZsmAD R

Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2024 was 47.2%,
representing an increase of 260 basis points as compared to 44.6% for
the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was primarily driven
by the decrease in costs as a result of the depreciation of Renminbi
(“RMB") and the change in the sales mix.

Other Income

Other income comprises primarily interest income, government subsidies
and value-added tax refunds. It decreased by 10.3% to HK$85.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from HK$95.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, mainly due to the decrease in interest
income.

Selling Expenses

Selling expenses increased by 14.5% to HK$772.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 from HK$674.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The increase was mainly driven by the increase in sales
commission and advertising and promotional expenses.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased by 12.5% to HK$1,318.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024 from HK$1,171.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was mainly due to the
increase in research and development (“R&D") costs and the recognition
of share-based payment expenses during the year.

Net Reversal of Impairment Losses/(Impairment Losses) on
Financial Assets

The Group recognised net reversal of impairment losses on financial
assets of HK$7.0 million and net impairment losses on financial assets
of HK$1.4 million for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
respectively. The amount recognised consisted of the expected credit
losses assessed on both individual and collective basis.

Profit for the Year and Profit Attributable to the Owners of

the Company

As a result of the foregoing, profit for the year was HK$720.9 million,
representing a decrease of 38.1% compared to HK$1,165.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. Profit for the year attributable to
the owners of the Company decreased by 38.2% to HK$713.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from HK$1,155.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERZAmADH

Other Event

Acquisition of Pax Technology Australia Pty Ltd.

On 5 August 2024, Pax Technology Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share purchase deed (the
“Share Purchase Deed”) with, among others, the then shareholders
of Pax Technology Australia Pty Ltd. (“Pax Technology Australia”) to
conditionally acquire 100% of the issued shares of Pax Technology
Australia (the "Acquisition”) at an initial amount of consideration of
approximately Australian Dollars (“AUD") 5,400,000, which may be
further adjusted to up to AUD30,000,000 based on, inter alia, the
financial performance of the Pax Technology Australia for each of
the two consecutive financial years ended/ending in 2024 and 2025
respectively.

All conditions precedent as set out in the Share Purchase Deed were
fulfilled and the Acquisition completed in September 2024. Subsequent
to the completion of the Acquisition, Pax Technology Australia has
become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
has been consolidated in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

Business Overview and Industry Trends

Maintaining profitability amid global economic headwinds
In 2024, the global economy maintained a slow recovery phase, with
high interest rates and a strong U.S. dollar resulting in more cautious
payment terminal deployments among international clients. With its
long-term strategic vision, PAX proactively navigated market dynamics
by driving payment technology innovation through Android smart
payment terminals and Software as a Service (“SaaS”) solutions. PAX
strengthened its collaboration with acquiring banks, PSPs, and channel
partners worldwide to explore more synergies, enhancing the agility and
digital competitiveness of merchants.

While strengthening our global business footprint, PAX has adhered to
implementing U.S. dollar settlement strategy to overseas businesses,
effectively mitigated foreign exchange risks and strengthened the
Group's risk management capabilities. Moreover, PAX reinforced its
financial resilience through stringent credit management strategy and
shipment optimisation. During the year, the Group recorded revenue
of HK$6,044.9 million and profit for the year of HK$720.9 million,
with net profit margin of 11.9%. Net cash generated from operating
activities reached HK$1,162.7 million, reflecting our strong cash flow
generation capability even amidst global market challenges.
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Continuously strengthening the Android payment terminal
portfolio to create versatile smart payment experience

across multiple market segments

Leveraging its leading Android smart payment terminal technology, PAX
is dedicated to enhancing merchant service capabilities for acquiring
banks, PSPs and channel partners, driving intelligent and efficient
upgrades in the payment industry. With a strong focus on innovation
and high-quality products, the Group holds a leading position in the
global Android smart payment terminal market, effectively meeting the
needs of diverse sectors, including retail, hospitality, transportation,
parking, electric vehicle charging stations, sports venues and tourism
hotspots, creating great commercial values.

In 2024, PAX continued to strengthen its global market presence,
with sales of Android smart terminals surpassing 60%. Flagship model
A920Pro continues to be the most popular payment terminal, widely
acclaimed by global acquiring banks and PSPs for its uniquely elegant
design and robust features. PAX has maintained its commitment
to product innovation, introducing a series of new smart payment
terminals including the handheld models A8900 and A99 which will
cater to retail and hospitality needs, and the unattended payment
terminal model IM25, designed for self-service environments, providing
robust support for diverse payment scenarios.

Steady sales growth of Android commercial POS (“EPOS”)

business

Recognising the increasing demand for integrated business solutions
across retail and hospitality, the Group is expanding into the Android
EPOS market. The Elys series leverages the Android operating system
to achieve seamless device synchronisation. This enables retailers and
restaurants to optimise operations across the entire value chain -
from front-end transactions to back-end management — significantly
improving operation efficiency.

The Elys series has garnered strong market attention and demonstrated
steady sales growth in North America. Moving forward, PAX is
committed to increasing R&D investment and accelerating the global
expansion of the Elys series, fueling new momentum for the Group's
long-term growth.
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Harnessing the power of Saa$ to create synergies across the

payment ecosystem

The Group continues to unlock the potential of the payment market by
offering cutting-edge SaaS solutions including terminal management
platform, Remote Key Injection (RKI), and value-added operational
services for acquiring banks, PSPs and merchants.

In 2024, revenue from our SaaS solutions reached HK$138.2 million,
showing a year-on-year growth of 30.5%. As of 31 December 2024,
over 14 million payment terminals were connected to the MAXSTORE
platform, enabling merchants to access more than 14,000 diverse
software applications and value-added operational services.

Global Regional Analysis

EMEA

In 2024, Europe, the Middle East and Africa emerged as the Group's
largest revenue region, with annual sales reaching HK$2,202.9 million.
With years of strategic investment and commitment to the EMEA
region, the PAX brand and its reputation for superior product quality
have earned high praise and market recognition. The A920Pro smart
payment terminals have been deployed en masse across most of the
region’s countries, with growing market penetration.

The PAX business maintained strong momentum across Europe,
however demand in a few countries such as Germany and Spain
were volatile. During the year, significant sales were achieved in Italy,
the United Kingdom, France and South Eastern Europe, the Group
continued to achieve notable breakthroughs, with adoption of smart
payment terminals across retail, transportation and sports venues,
highlighting our strong brand recognition and growth potential in the
market.

In the Middle East, sales in Saudi Arabia and other GCC countries
continued to generate significant revenue contribution for PAX. In
Africa, the Group is focusing on expanding its footprint in the UEMOA
(The West African Economic and Monetary Union) region, with growing
number of PSPs adopting the A920 payment terminal, certified to
regional standards. As PAX accelerates the certification of other models,
we expect that shipments in West Africa will see positive growth in the
future.
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LACIS

PAX performance in the LACIS region was affected by the sales
slowdown in Brazil, while other South American markets delivered
promising development. As Brazil’s payment terminal industry
transitioned from a high-growth period to a more stable development
phase, compounded by macroeconomic pressures such as high-level
of interest rate, resulting in overall procurement decline and posing
challenges to PAX business in Brazil.

In other South American countries with growth potential, the Group
has further strengthened cooperation with channel partners and PSPs,
driving steady business expansion. Notably, Mexico and Argentina have
emerged as new key contributors in Latin America.

In Mexico, market demand is gradually shifting from traditional
terminals to Android smart payment solutions. The market showed
growing demand for PAX A-series Android smart payment terminals,
with the A910 proving to be the best-selling model with substantial
shipments, expanding into diverse segments such as vending machines,
self-service airport kiosks and public transit systems.

In the future, the Group will further strengthen its presence in Mexico
and Argentina, with product portfolio enhancement and closer
collaboration with local channel partners and PSPs. Meanwhile, PAX will
devote more resources in South American countries such as Chile and
Panama, striving to transform these potential markets into new business
growth engines in the region.

APAC

The Group continues to strengthen its business presence across the
Asia-Pacific region, achieving robust sales growth in India, Japan and
Indonesia. However, macroeconomic uncertainties have caused market
demand slowdown across certain Southeast Asian markets.

In India, PAX has maintained its leading position as local banks’
preferred payment terminal provider, with sustained year-on-year sales
growth. To capitalise on the surging demand for UPI QR code payments,
PAX has introduced the soundbox CS70 and CS75, and successfully
secured large-scale orders from leading acquiring banks and PSPs.

The Group’s market expansion in Japan and Indonesia has achieved
remarkable results, with record-high sales in both markets during the
year. In Japan, the continued shift towards cashless payments fuelled
robust demand for PAX Android smart payment terminals. The PAX
A920 has gained widespread market adoption, while the new model
A920MAX was successfully introduced for commercial use this year. In
Indonesia, PAX maintains its market-leading position, with its A920Pro
and A930 earning high recognition among acquiring banks, driving
order volumes continue to rise.
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To enhance our market share and brand presence in Australia and
New Zealand, the Group fully acquired an Australian distributor Pax
Technology Australia during the year. This acquisition will strengthen
our ability to deliver localised solutions and value-added services, scaling
up the deployment of Android payment terminals, driving business
expansion in Australia and New Zealand.

USCA

In the first half of 2024, cautious investment strategies among retailers,
ISOs and financial institutions resulted in slower payment terminal
deployments, leading to a temporary slowdown in market demand. As
market gradually recovered in the second half of the year, propelling a
resurgence in orders and fueling sales growth in North America.

Leveraging a robust portfolio of Android smart payment terminals,
the Group continues to strengthen its strategic partnerships with
banks while actively expanding direct-to-retail sales channels. These
efforts have extended segments, including cinemas, telecom providers,
convenience stores, and quick-service restaurant chains, delivering
efficient payment solutions tailored to diverse business needs. Flagship
products such as A920Pro, A3700 and A80 have gained widespread
market recognition, further solidifying the Group’s leadership position
in the Android smart payment terminal industry. Meanwhile, significant
progress was made in product certifications with banks, laying a strong
foundation for future deployment.

The Group has accelerated its strategic expansion in the Android-based
EPOS market, facilitating the digital transformation of the retail and
hospitality industries. PAX Elys series has gained strong traction among
PSPs, with increasing deployment of the Elys Workstation, driving
sustained sales growth.
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Management strategy

As cashless payments gradually become the global commercial standard,
PAX is dedicated to continuous innovation, precisely addressing market
needs and delivering smarter, more efficient and high-quality payment
solutions to clients worldwide. The Group continues to strengthen its
footprint in key markets, focusing on value creation along the payment
chain and collaborating with partners to capitalise on emerging business
opportunities.

Focusing innovation with Android smart terminals and Saa$

Solutions

Amid the ongoing wave of evolution in the global payment landscape,
PAX leverages its superior Android smart payment terminal technology
to empower acquiring banks, PSPs and ISOs to enhance their
merchant service capabilities. This accelerates the payment industry’s
transformation toward greater intelligence and efficiency, creating
significant commercial value. In the future, we will continue to
optimise A-series handheld terminals, IM and SK series unattended
solutions, whilst devoting greater R&D investment in EPOS products and
accelerating global promotion of the EPOS Elys series.

To fully harness the application potential of Android terminals, PAX is
dedicated to expanding SaaS ecosystem, proactively collaborating with
independent software vendors (ISVs) and partners to build innovative
and industry-specific applications on the MAXSTORE. Meanwhile, the
Group is strategically devoting more investment in strengthening value-
added services, such as RKl, Cyberlab and AirViewer, so as to fully
enhancing our service capabilities.

Strengthening global sales footprint and driving PAX

solutions adoption across diverse sectors

PAX is dedicated to working closely with our global channel partners,
with an aim to drive the widespread adoption of Android smart
payment terminals worldwide. Focusing on long-term business
expansion, the Group will devote more resources in high-potential
markets such as the United States, Europe, Japan and Australia. With
the increasing diversification of market needs in the global payment
space, the Group is accelerating the expansion of its solutions across
multiple segments, unlocking new growth opportunities. Moving
forward, the Group will actively explore strategic mergers and
acquisitions and investment opportunities, so as to optimising our
global sales network, and strengthening payment and business-related
technologies.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

During the years of 2024 and 2023, the main source of funding to
the Group was the proceeds generated from operating activities in the
Group's usual course of business. Certain financial data is summarised as
follows:

RBBEERMBER

RTE ORI EC=FE AEENTEE
ERBH/EEE-—RBEIHPEE Fﬁ%i
B A - BT M BBIEBA T ¢

As at 31 December

®w+=-—BA=+—H
2024 2023
Current ratio (times) TMENELE (2) 5.0 5.1
Quick ratio (times) EEEEE (%) 4.0 3.8

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
HK$3,083.6 million (2023: HK$2,863.6 million), United States dollar
denominated short-term bank deposits of HK$162.5 million (2023: Nil)
and no borrowing (2023: same). As at 31 December 2024, the Group
reported net current assets of HK$6,131.0 million (2023: HK$6,064.4
million). For the year ended 31 December 2024, net cash generated
from operating activities was HK$1,162.7 million (2023: HK$490.0
million). As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no borrowing,
therefore the gearing ratio is not applicable (2023: same).

Capital Structure and Details of Charges
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant borrowing and
banking facility (2023: same) and no charge on any assets (2023: same).

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's cash and cash
equivalents were denominated in the following currencies:

ATE_NE+"_B=+—RH> AEEHER
ERIESEEY3,083. 688 T (T _=
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B REXFMEBIRESFEA162.7TA8ET
(ZE =% 1490088 8w - N_E_@
E+"A=+—H AERULEEE HEX
EEREXTAERA (CE=F FL)-

BRRBRIRRFE
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N B _NER_E_=F+_A=+—H"
FEENESRESSEYORLUTIE
sHE :

As at 31 December

®w+=ZB=+—H

2024 2023
—EoE ==

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Renminbi (“RMB") AR & 1,726,723 1,678,083
United States dollar (“US$") E7T 982,728 932,149
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") BT 138,012 58,204
European dollar ("EUR") 5/ 113,772 60,011
Indian Rupee (“INR") Ett 53,517 47,931
Japanese Yen (“JPY") Ht 36,171 75,652
Others H1th 32,675 11,567
3,083,598 2,863,597
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Significant Investment
The Group had no significant investment held as at 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).

Material Acquisition and Disposal of Subsidiaries, Associates
and Joint Ventures

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: same).

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no specific plan for
material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
same).

Exchange Rates Exposure

The Group derives its revenue, makes purchases and incurs expenses
denominated mainly in RMB, HK$, US$, EUR, INR and JPY. The majority
of assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, HK$, US$, EUR, INR
and JPY, and there are no significant assets and liabilities that are
denominated in other currencies. Currently, the Group has not entered
into agreements or purchased instruments to hedge the majority of the
Group's exchange rate risks. Any material fluctuation in the exchange
rates of HK$ or RMB may have an impact on the operating results of the
Group.

The management considers the foreign exchange risk with respect
to US$ is not significant as HK$ is pegged to US$ and transactions
denominated in US$ are mainly carried out by entities with the
functional currency of HK$ or US$.

The Group manages foreign exchange risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).
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Human Resources and Remuneration Policies

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 December 2024
was 1,509 (2023: 1,771). The following table shows a breakdown of
employees of the Group by functions as at 31 December 2024 and
2023:

ANE R R 5 BB SR
ATE_NE+B=+—H KAEEREE
EA1509AN (CEZ=ZF 11,771 A) o FERHF
N ZEZNER_E=F+"A=+—H
RIEBES PN ESHESHE

As at 31 December
®W+=ZB=+—H
2024 2023
“EIWME —T=F

Management SIEE 12 12
Sales and after-sales services and marketing HEREBRBURTIGER 292 334
Research and development et 881 968
Quality assurance Hig 89 85
Administration and human resources TERAINER 93 95
Accounting g5t 41 39
Production, procurement and inventory control Y E -REKBARFEES 101 238

1,509 1,771

The Group ensures that its remuneration packages are comprehensive
and competitive. Directors are entitled to a fixed director’s fee,
discretionary bonus and other benefits, which are determined with
reference to the performance of the individual and the Company,
market practice and conditions as well as the Group's corporate goals
and objectives in accordance with the remuneration policy of the
Company. Employees are remunerated with a fixed monthly income
plus discretionary annual performance related bonuses. Share options
are granted to certain Directors and employees of the Group as long-
term incentives to reward their contributions under the share option
scheme of the Company, details of which are set out in the Report of
the Directors. The Group also sponsors selected employees to attend
external training courses that suit the needs of the Group’s business.

Disclaimer:
Non-GAAP measures

Certain non-GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles) measures are
used for assessing the Group’s performance. These non-GAAP measures are
not expressly permitted measures under GAAP in Hong Kong and may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures for other companies. Accordingly, such
non-GAAP measures should not be considered as an alternative to operating
income as an indicator of the operating performance of the Group or as an
alternative to cash flows from operating activities as a measure of liquidity.
The use of non-GAAP measures is provided solely to enhance the overall
understanding of the Group current financial performance. Additionally because
the Group has historically reported certain non-GAAP results to investors, the
Group considers the inclusion of non-GAAP measures provides consistency in our
financial reporting.
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Corporate Governance Report
EEERRS

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company wishes to highlight the importance of the Board in
ensuring effective leadership and control of the Company, transparency
and accountability of all aspects of operations and that its business is
conducted in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Company also recognises the importance of good corporate
governance to the Group’'s healthy growth and has devoted
considerable efforts to identifying and formulating corporate
governance practices appropriate to the Group’s needs.

CORPORATE CULTURE

As a leading E-payment Terminals solutions provider and one of the
most active global players, the Group instils a culture that respects and
promotes innovation, sustainability, good corporate governance and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The Board sets the tone
and shapes the corporate culture of the Company, which is underpinned
by the Group's vision of sustainable growth, and the core values of
acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly across all levels of the Group.
The Board plays a leading role in defining the purpose, values and
strategic direction of the Group and in fostering a culture that is forward
looking, change embracing and competitiveness focused. The desired
culture is developed and reflected consistently in the operating practices
of the Group, workplace policies and practices as well as relations
with stakeholders. Board oversight of culture encompasses a range
of measures and tools over time, including workforce engagement,
employee retention and training, stringent financial reporting, effective
and accessible whistleblowing framework, legal and regulatory
compliance (including compliance with the employee’s code of conduct
and corporate governance policies of the Group), as well as staff safety,
wellbeing and support. Taking into account the corporate culture in a
range of contexts, the Board considers that the culture and the purpose,
value and strategy of the Group are aligned.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles (the “Principles”) and code provisions (the “Code Provisions”)
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

In formulating and implementing its corporate governance practices,
the Company has applied the Principles and complied with all applicable
Code Provisions for the year.

The Board periodically reviews and monitors the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance or compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements and employees’ compliance manual to ensure
that the Group’s operations are conducted in accordance with the
standards of the CG Code and applicable disclosure requirements.
Directors and senior management are provided with appropriate
ongoing training, continuing professional development for regular
updates of the legal and regulatory requirements relevant to their
duties.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted a written code regulating the securities
transactions of Directors and executive officers named in this annual
report (the “Securities Transaction Code”) on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry had been made to all Directors, whereas each of them
has confirmed compliance with the required standard set out in the
Model Code and the Securities Transaction Code throughout the year
and up to the date of this annual report.

The Company has also established written guidelines on terms no
less exacting than the Model Code regulating the Directors, senior
management and employees, who because of his/her office or
employment is likely to possess inside information in relation to the
Company or its securities, in respect of their transactions of securities of
the Company.
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The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company
are summarised as follows:

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board reserves its powers over decision of all major matters which
include, inter alia, the approval and monitoring of all policy matters,
overall strategies and budgeting, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those which may involve
conflict of interests of substantial shareholder(s) or Director(s)), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial
and operational matters.

All Directors are provided with full and timely access to Board papers
and relevant information, as well as the advice and services of the
Company Secretary(ies), with a view to ensuring that Board procedures
and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

Upon request to the Board, each Director may seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances to assist with the
discharge of his/her duties as a director at the Company’s expense.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior management. Clear directions as
to the powers, scope of delegation and relevant arrangements were
given to the senior management and subject to periodic review to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the Company’s needs.

Reporting to the Board and prior approval of the Board are necessary
before the senior management entering into any material transactions
and assuming significant commitments on behalf of the Company.

The Board has the full support of the senior management to discharge
its responsibilities.
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Composition
The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspective
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group.

The Board currently comprises eight members, consisting of four
executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors. The
balanced composition of executive and independent non-executive
members, as equal board members, upholds the effective exercise of
independent judgment of the Board.

The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors:

NIE Guoming (Chairman)

LU Jie (Chief Executive Officer)

LI Wenjin

CHEUNG Shi Yeung (Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary)
(appointed on 14 March 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
YIP Wai Ming

WU Min

MAN Kwok Kuen, Charles

FOK Wai Shun, Wilson

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time.

An updated list of Directors (by category) identifying their role and
function is maintained on the Company's and the Stock Exchange's
websites.

The biographical information of the Directors and the relationship, if
any, among members of the Board, in particular, between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive, are provided in the “Directors and Senior
Management” section of this annual report.

In relation to Mr. Cheung Shi Yeung's appointment as an executive
Director with effect from 14 March 2024, he obtained legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 7 March 2024 and
has confirmed that he understood his obligations as a director of the
Company.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
The Company has established formal and transparent procedures for the
appointment and succession planning of Directors.

All Directors are appointed for specific tenures, subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and re-election at annual general
meeting and the key terms and conditions of their appointment are set
out in formal letters of appointment.
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Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a specific term not exceeding three years, subject to,
among others, retirement by rotation, re-election and early termination
in accordance with the Listing Rules, the Bye-laws of the Company
(“Bye-laws") and/or the terms of the respective service contracts.

Training for Directors and Company Secretaries

Newly appointed Directors and Company Secretaries receive induction
on the occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she
has a proper understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and is fully aware of his/her responsibilities under applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the Group’s various governance and
internal control policies. The Company also, at its expense, arranges and
provides suitable training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has arranged and funded in-house trainings for Directors in
the form of seminar and provision of training materials, with emphasis
on directors’ duties and responsibilities. A summary of training received
by the Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 according to
the records as provided by the Directors is as follows:

Name of Directors
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ko
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BENSEZU LB BERE -

AN REE TR EELE R
BEREHHENANBREE AATEEBLE
T RERENIENAESTEHRED
AFI > TBNEELHTATDVEENAE
BERSE-REBEESRHEMNICE  EFNE
E_E_NE+_A=+—HLEEESH
EINBEWT

Training on regulatory updates,
corporate governance, inside
information or other

relevant topics

EREM-EEER -ARHEEN

BEEg H{hERA £ BRI
Executive Directors WITES

Nie Guoming £ E 75 v
Lu Jie E A 4
Li Wenijin ENE 4
Cheung Shi Yeung R 4

(appointed on 14 March 2024) (RZZE_NME=B+HNHZE

Independent Non-Executive Directors BIJERITES

Yip Wai Ming E=EH v
Wu Min 2 & v
Man Kwok Kuen, Charles X B v
Fok Wai Shun, Wilson ER v

During the year, each of the Company Secretaries received no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training to update their skills and
knowledge.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage
in respect of legal action against the Directors and officers of the
Group against losses or liabilities sustained or incurred arising from
or incidental to execution of their duties. The insurance coverage is
reviewed on an annual basis or any intervals as deemed appropriate by
the Board.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

During the year, four regular Board meetings were held at approximately
quarterly intervals for, among others, reviewing and approving the
financial and operating performance, the final results for the year ended
31 December 2023, results for the three months ended 31 March 2024,
interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2024 and results for
the nine months ended 30 September 2024, and considering, reviewing
and/or approving the overall strategies and policies of the Company.

The attendance of individual Directors at the Board meetings (not
including other ad hoc Board meetings held from time to time and any
other meeting(s) of members of the Board in compliance with the CG
Code), committee meetings and general meeting during the year ended
31 December 2024 is set out below:

EEREHRBENEE
ARBEREEREERERBEBTRE
AAENEENWETEENBANEEME
HEERTHZHBERRE -RRLEEF
HEFEIRBENTARBEETE

EFEgEEREFHEBR
FRNESTESERTHOAXNERESTT TS
D(EraiE BRAMEVEREERIE &
BE_Z_—F+_HA=+—HIEEENZ
FEE - BE_Z_MONFE=B=+—HIE=1E
BHEE - BE_E _MEXB=+HLEE
BNTHEEEREE 2 _NENA=1+H
IENEBERES  UKREE -BREKE S E
RN B EERERIE R BUER ©

EEENRBE_T_WNE+_"_B=+—H1E
FEHFREEZTEE FTEEEMARETH
TEHEFETZREREEEARTAINE
EEHNENEANEMEE) ZETTEAR
BAGHWHFELEEEHEIUWT :

Attendance/Number of meetings”

EE DA GRS S
Audit  Nomination Remuneration
Committee ~ Committee Committee Board General
meetings meetings meetings meetings* meeting
BREZEE RYZET HWZEEE A
Name of Directors EEN4 E-f- ] i i i BRAE
Nie Guoming ZEHR NATRER  NATBE  NAFRER 444 11
Lu Jie EA NATRER  NATBE  NAFRER 4/4 11
Li Wenjin EXE N/A REEF 3/3 212 4/4 11
Cheung Shi Yeung wt1E NARER  NARER  NATER 44 1/1
(appointed on 14 March 2024) MRZB-ME=/F+MAEMA)
Yip Wai Ming BB 0 33 0 44 1”1
Wu Min 5H 212 3/3 212 3/4 11
Man Kwok Kuen, Charles XEfE 22 NARBR  NATER 4/4 11
Fok Wai Shun, Wilson EE5R 22 NARBR  NATER 4/4 11
A Directors may attend meetings in person, by conference telephone or RIERAABWABIME (TASIME) P EH
electronic means in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company (“Bye- ORE - BEBEERNEFAANLESE -
laws™).
i Pursuant to the Bye-laws, not all Directors were required to attend the — * REABMA TIFTBESHEHETE

rest of the Board meetings which mainly dealt with the consideration and
approval of ordinary business transactions.

During the year, the Chairman also held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.
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Practices and Conduct of Board Meetings
Board meeting schedules and agendas are made available to the
Directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings have been served to all Directors at
least fourteen days in advance and relevant agenda and accompanying
board papers have been disseminated in full to the Directors within
reasonable time before the meeting. Reasonable notice, as permitted
by the Bye-laws under relevant circumstances or otherwise agreed, has
been given for other Board and committee meetings.

The Company Secretary(ies), as delegated by the Chairman, are
responsible for preparing the agendas of board meetings, taking into
account any matters the Directors may propose to include, ensuring that
all Directors are given opportunity to include matters in the agendas
and approving the agendas. In order to enable the Directors to make
informed decision, agendas and accompanying board papers, together
with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all
Directors or all committees members at least three days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors appraised
of the latest developments and/or financial position of the Company.
The Board and the individual Directors also have independent access to
the senior management to make further enquires or when they require
further information, in addition to those volunteered by the senior
management.

The Company Secretary(ies) attended all regular Board meetings and,
when necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on,
among others, statutory compliance, corporate governance matters and
to ensure that the Company’s policies and procedures were properly
followed.

The Company Secretary(ies) is responsible for preparing and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. The minutes
recorded sufficient details of matters considered, decisions reached,
concerns raised and dissenting views expressed, if any. Draft and final
versions of minutes are circulated to the Directors for comment and
records within a reasonable time after each meeting. The final version
is kept by the Company Secretary(ies) and open for the Directors’
inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction or matter
which involves conflicting interests of a substantial shareholder or a
Director, are dealt with by a duly convened physical Board meeting, at
which independent non-executive Directors having no material interest
in the transaction should be present. Any Directors or any of their close
associates having material interests in the transaction or matter shall
abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving such transactions.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

The roles and responsibilities of Mr. Nie Guoming and Mr. Lu Jie
respectively as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company (the “CEQ") have been clearly divided and defined. The
clear division of the management of the Board and the day-to-day
management of business ensures a balanced power and authority such
that no concentration of power should vest in any one individual.

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning of the Board in accordance with good corporate governance
practices and establishes corporate governance procedures. With the
assistance and support of the Company Secretary(ies) and the senior
management, the Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the
Directors receive in a timely manner adequate information, which must
be accurate, clear, complete and reliable, and appropriate briefing on
issues arising at Board meetings, and that all key and appropriate issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely manner.

The Chairman also encourages the Directors to fully and actively
participate in the Board’s affairs, taking the lead to assure that the Board
acts in the best interests of the Company. The Chairman also promotes
a culture to facilitate effective contribution and encourages the Directors
to express dissenting views and concerns and allow sufficient discussion
of issues before decisions are made.

The CEO focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies
approved and delegated by the Board. He is in charge of the Company’s
day-to-day management and operations and is also responsible for
developing strategic plans, formulating and reviewing the organisational
structure, control systems and internal procedures and processes for the
Board’s approval.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors possess a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experiences and, through participation
in board meetings, offer independent judgment on issues of strategy,
policy, performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and
standard of conducts. Through taking the lead where potential conflicts
of interests arise, serving on the Board committees, examining the
Company’'s performance in achieving corporate goals and objectives
and monitoring performance reporting, the independent non-executive
Directors has become an integral part of the healthy growth of the
Company.
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During the year, all independent non-executive Directors attended the
annual general meeting of the Company, enabling them to develop a
balanced understanding of the views of the shareholders.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed for
a contractual term of one year subject to renewal on a yearly basis
and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws. Such term shall
be terminated: (i) by either party giving the other not less than two
months’ written notice; (ii) forthwith without compensation, on ground
of disqualification, gross or willful misconduct or negligence of such
Director, or (iii) any failure of passing a resolution by the shareholders to
be re-elected as a Director, whichever is earlier.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all times met
the requirements of Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors, representing at least one-third of the Board and
with at least one of the independent non-executive Directors possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director concerning his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and all independent non-
executive Directors are considered independent having regard to the
independence criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, for overseeing specific aspects of the Company's affairs.
Each Board committee was established with defined written terms
of reference setting out its authorities and duties and requiring the
Board Committees to report back to the Board on their decisions
or recommendations (unless otherwise restricted by applicable legal
or regulatory requirements). To provide transparency, the terms of
reference of the Board committees are made available on the Company’s
and the Stock Exchange's websites and hard copies of the same are
available to the shareholders upon request.
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Each Board committee consists of a majority of independent non-
executive Directors and is respectively chaired by an independent non-
executive Director. Chairman and members of each Board committee as
at the date of this report are set out below:

Audit Committee

2YIP Wai Ming (Chairman)
AWU Min

SMAN Kwok Kuen, Charles
AFOK Wai Shun, Wilson

Nomination Committee
WU Min (Chairman)
AYIP Wai Ming

*LI Wenjin

Remuneration Committee
2YIP Wai Ming (Chairman)
AWU Min

*LI Wenjin

s Independent non-executive Director
* Executive Director

The Board committees have been provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established by the Board on 1 December
2010. The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-
executive Directors (including at least one member possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise). None of the members of the Audit Committee
is a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include, among others, the
followings:

(@)  toreview the financial statements, reports, accounting policies and
practices and consider any significant or unusual items raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting function, compliance officer (or person occupying the
same position) or external auditor before submission to the Board;

(b) to review the Company's relationship with the external auditor
with reference to its work performed, fees and terms of
engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and, if appropriate, removal of
external auditor;
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(©) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, audit process, the Group’s financial
control, internal control and risk management systems, including
but not limited to adequacy of resources available to its respective
functions, staff qualifications and experience and training
programmes; and

(d) to consider and identify risks of the Group and consider
effectiveness of the Group’s decision making processes in crisis
and emergency situations and approve major decisions affecting
the Group's risk profile or exposure.

The written terms of reference describing the authority and duties of
the Audit Committee was prepared and adopted in accordance with
the CG Code, the "Principles of Auditor Independence and the Role
of Corporate Governance in Monitoring an Auditor’s Independence”
issued by the Technical Committee of the International Organization of
Securities Commissions and “A Guide for The Formation of An Audit
Committee” and "A Guide for Effective Audit Committees” published
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
December 2024 to review the half-yearly and annual financial results
and reports, financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal
control and risk management systems, effectiveness of internal audit
function, the auditor’s independence and objectivity, as well as the
Company's environmental, social and governance (“ESG") performance
and reporting. Full minutes of the meetings are duly kept by the
Company Secretary(ies) and draft and final versions of the same have
been sent to all committee members for comment and records, within
reasonable time afterwards in accordance with the relevant Code
Provisions. The Audit Committee also met with the Company’s auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, twice during the year and recommended
its re-appointment as the Company’s external auditor to the Board,
which has taken no different view in respect of the Audit Committee’s
recommendation.

The Company has established anti-corruption and whistleblowing
policies and systems, which are conducive to setting a healthy corporate
culture and good corporate governance practices.

As at the end of 2024 and the date of this report, there are no material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2024
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established by the Board on 1
December 2010 and comprises two independent non-executive
Directors (one of whom being the chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and one executive Director. Its terms of reference was
prepared and adopted with reference to the CG Code and its principal
duties include, among others, the review of the structure, size and
composition of the Board, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of Directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of Directors, and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorships based on the balance of
expertise, skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity
and time commitments of such individuals, business requirements of
the Group and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations.
External recruitment agency may also be engaged to carry out the
recruitment and selection process when necessary. The Company has
always maintained diversified selection criteria in its hiring process
as measurable objectives, taking into account a wide range of
attributes including age, gender, educational background, professional
experience, industry skills, expertise and experience and such policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) was reduced to writing in 2014. To facilitate
sustainable and balanced development of the Company, the Nomination
Committee regularly reviews the Board Diversity Policy from nomination
to appointment, with an objective to achieve a diversified spectrum
of Directors with varying perspectives, educational background and
expertise, ranging from in-depth knowhow in the payment industry,
sales and marketing talents to professional qualifications in the legal
and accounting fields. Each Director has accumulated experience in
his respective field of expertise for at least 10 to 30 years. Regardless
of their background or experience, the Directors commonly share and
acquire the talent and competence to drive the development of the
industry, being the ultimate attributes that the Nomination Committee
will uphold and carry through in the talent selection process.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board consists of seven male members
and one female member, and the ratio of male to female in the
workforce (including senior management) was approximately
68%/32%. The Nomination Committee considered that the Board
and the workforce were sufficiently diverse in terms of gender. The
Board and the Nomination Committee continue to search for potential
candidates for the sake of developing a pipeline of potential successors
to the board to enhance gender diversity. The Board targets to maintain
the Board with female representation and is committed to further
enhancing gender diversity of the Board and the workforce as and
when suitable candidates are identified. The Company has also reviewed
the membership, structure and composition of the Board, and is of
the opinion that the structure of the Board is reasonable, and the
experiences and skills of the directors in various aspects and fields can
enable our Company to maintain a high standard of operation.
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Appointment of Directors is based on objective criteria, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity to the Board, and decisions of the
Nomination Committee are based on the merits and contribution of the
selected candidates.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and procedure
of nominating, appointing and re-appointing a Director. The selection
criteria used in assessing the suitability of a candidate include, inter
alia, his/her academic background and professional qualifications,
relevant industry experience, character and integrity and whether he/
she can contribute to the diversity of the Board underpinned in the
Board Diversity Policy. The procedure of appointing and re-appointing a
Director is summarised as follows:—

- nomination and invitation of suitable candidates by any member
of the Nomination Committee or the Board;

- evaluation of the candidate by the Board based on all selection
criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy;

- performing due diligence in respect of each candidate and making
recommendation for the Board's consideration and approval;

- in case of nomination of an independent non-executive Director,
assessing the candidate’s independence under the relevant Code
Provisions and the Listing Rules;

- where nominating an independent non-executive Director for
election at general meetings, having due consideration of matters
under applicable Code Provision(s);

- in the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors, reviewing
the candidate’s overall contribution and performance and making
recommendations to the Board and/or the shareholders for
consideration in connection with his/her re-election at general
meetings; and

- convening a meeting of the Board to consider the appointment or
re-appointment of the candidate as a Director.

The Nomination Committee has also adopted a board independence
evaluation mechanism (the “Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism”), which sets out the procedure and a list of factors to be
considered for assessment of the independence of the Directors, so as to
ensure independent views and input are available to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee held three meetings during the year ended
31 December 2024 to, amongst others, (i) review the structure, size,
diversity and composition of the Board; (ii) assess the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors; (iii) consider and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment of an additional
member of the Board, the re-appointment and re-election of the retiring
Directors; (iv) review the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy and the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism;
and (v) review and recommend the continuing adoption of the Board
Diversity Policy, Nomination Policy and the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, Mr. Nie Guoming, an executive Director Mr.
Yip Wai Ming and Mr. Fok Wai Shun, Wilson, the independent non-
executive Directors, shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company (“AGM"). According to Code Provision B.2.3, any further
appointment of independent non-executive director serving more than
9 years should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by
shareholders. As Mr. Yip Wai Ming has served the Company as the
independent non-executive Director for more than 9 years, a separate
resolution shall be proposed for his re-election at the AGM.

Upon the annual review of the Board’s composition taking into
account the Board Diversity Policy and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, the Nomination Committee
formed the view that the Board has maintained an appropriate mix
and balance of skills, knowledge, experience, expertise and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the business requirements of the Company
and the independent non-executive Directors remain independent.
Taking into account the aforesaid and each of the retiring Directors’
confirmation to give sufficient time and attention to the Company’s
affairs subsequent to the re-appointment, the Nomination Committee
made a recommendation to the Board for considering the standing
for re-election at the AGM of Mr. Nie Guoming, Mr. Yip Wai Ming
and Mr. Fok Wai Shun, Wilson. The Board, taking into account the
recommendation and other factors as considered relevant, has decided
to further recommend Mr. Nie Guoming, Mr. Yip Wai Ming and Mr. Fok
Wai Shun, Wilson to stand for re-election at the AGM.

The Company’s circular to be dispatched in April 2025 contains detailed
information of the retiring Directors standing for re-election.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established by the Board on 1
December 2010. Its terms of reference was prepared and adopted with
reference to the CG Code. Its primary objectives and duties include
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure, remuneration packages of the Directors and the senior
management and compensation arrangements relating to dismissal
or removal. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for
establishing formal and transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of
his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration,
which is determined with reference to the performance of the individual
and the Company, market practice and conditions as well as the Group’s
corporate goals and objectives.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets to review the
remuneration policy and structure and make recommendation to
the Board on the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management and other related matters, including without limitation
benefits in kind, pension rights and the compensation arrangements
relating to their termination and dismissal. The human resources
department is responsible for collection and administration of the
human resources data and proposing the remuneration structure and
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management to
the Remuneration Committee for consideration. The Remuneration
Committee shall consider and consult the Chairman and/or the Board
about these proposals.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year ended
31 December 2024 to, among others, (i) review and recommend the
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management, with
reference to including without limitation their individual performance,
corporate goals and market practices, (i) consider matters relating to
the share option scheme of the Company, including, among others,
review and recommendation of the amendments to the share option
scheme, extension of exercise periods of the share options granted
for the Board’s approval, reviewing the list of eligible participants and
tracking the share options movements, (iii) review and access the
Company's remuneration policy and remuneration practices.
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The remuneration payable to the member of senior management,
including the share-based payment expenses, by band for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

RBEE_Z_NF+__A=+—HLEFER
HRBDZREVSREEAEHN (BERN
SXAER) #IIF

Number of
individual
Remuneration band M 4B B ANE
HK$14,000,001 to HK$14,500,000 14,000,001 75 % 14,500,000/ 71 1

Further particulars relating to Directors’ emoluments and the five highest
paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2
to the Listing Rules are set out in Notes 10 and 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties which includes, among others, formulating and reviewing the
Group's policies and practices on corporate governance, reviewing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and senior management, the Group's policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, formulating
and reviewing the code of conduct, guidelines and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors, monitoring their compliance of
the same and reviewing the Group's compliance with the CG Code and
relevant disclosure obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board and the Directors

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment in annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and complying with other financial
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Auditor’s Statement

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 72 to 82.
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Senior Management

The senior management has provided the Board with sufficient
explanation and necessary information enabling the Board to make an
informed assessment of financial and other information put before the
Board for approval.

Monthly updates have also been provided by the senior management
to all members of the Board to enable proper discharge of duties by the
Board as a whole or each member individually by giving them balanced
and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position
and prospects in sufficient detail.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has developed the Group’s internal control, risk assessment
and management systems and acknowledges its overall responsibility for
reviewing and maintaining an adequate and effective risk management
and internal control systems on an ongoing basis to safeguard the
interests of shareholders and assets of the Group. The Board, through
the Audit Committee, evaluates the effectiveness of the systems at least
annually to ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes, budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions, as well as the
Company’s environmental, social and governance performance and
reporting, and is kept apprised of significant risks including but not
limited to ESG risks that may impact the performance of the Group.

Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The risk management and internal control systems of the Company
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against all risk issues. We have employed a bottom-
up approach for identification, assessment and mitigation of risk at all
business unit levels and across all functional areas.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks

During the process of risk assessment, the Audit Committee identifies
the risks of the Group including but not limited to ESG risks, and
decides on the respective risk levels and the Board shall assess and
determine the nature and extent of the risks that are acceptable
to the Group when achieving its strategic objectives. In particular,
material ESG risks are effectively identified and evaluated by the Audit
Committee through an independent third-party consultant. Taking
into consideration the risk response, i.e. the necessary risk mitigating
measures, the relevant departments and business units shall be assigned
to implement the risk management solutions in accordance with their
respective roles and responsibilities. The identified risk together with
the risk response will be recorded at the risk register and subject to the
Board’s oversight.

=REERRE
SHREEECMEFTGRHRTDNERRL
EHER BEFGAUMERGHEMENY
BREMER  FRARBHE-

SREEBTCERANESFEERNERM
BHER  HINBEREALTNNRE BRI
RAEIRHAERZRIBENTME AT EUE
EFgUERTHE

B T HR e PO BB B 4

EXCEREAER 2 REEE ARG
RERGE THFERS REFEHRAN
ZEREERRNBEEFIEEEEZEEE U
RERRI DA ERAEE-EZGEBEX
ZEgRIEBFIREFENERERRELRE
EEEst -ARBEZRMBERRBESTENE
BCBIEREKRER B IEXHENIR
EREFRBREAEN REARBDNIRIE -HE
REARBRRE UKRESHNOEREER
RENEXRAR BEEBFARNERE -HER

EIREE -

R EERAIEZERY
FATNEREERABEERASEEE
MIEEBRAREEMESBRNER > mMBAR8E
FEFERREEFESEEFEBHNERE -]
I HREXE T LBy 75 75 AR ~ 718 BR 1R
EFMEEBERAEINERE LOVER -

AR MR EEEXRBIRER

R HBRET  BEREE TR SERY
Rk BEEFARRIBERE -HERERRR
TWRERBBRERKE MEFERETER
BEAERNRBERARKERKAIZRIHNE
GHEENREE - LHR BEXEZEGEBEBIL
F=HEXERBEVHNNRE - HERERE
PRI ETH G SRIARNAREEE
1 (BN 2R $R BN B9 JEL B 47 4% 35 1) 72 > ABRA BRI
MEBEUSREBEEBERBEERFERAT
HENEREERBRSE BRI ARER
ERRRBEEMR SRS ARELH I

s N, i~ A
ARBFEEE-

HERKEHZARAR —ZTTNEFR 44



Corporate Governance Report
EEERRS

Main features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Company include the establishment and maintenance of a risk
register to keep track of and record identified risks including but not
limited to ESG risks, the assessment and evaluation of such risks, the
development and continuous update of responsive procedures, and
the ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness.

An ongoing risk assessment approach is adopted by the Company
for identifying and assessing the key inherent risks that affect the
achievement of its objectives. Risks are classified by (i) likelihood of
occurrence as Unlikely (1), Possible (2) and Likely (3) and (ii) resulting
impact as Minor (1), Moderate (2) and Significant (3). The risk degrees
determine the level of management'’s attention and risk treatment effort
required.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk
Management & Internal Control Systems and to resolve
material internal control defects

In view of the Company’s business and scale of operations, the Board
considers that the internal audit function would be executed most cost-
effectively through designated internal audit personnel (“IA Personnel”)
working with and as assisted by an independent consulting firm (the
“Internal Control Auditor”) to conduct semi-annual review of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

During the year, the Internal Control Auditor conducted semi-annual
reviews of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems in accordance with the scope of review agreed
and approved by the IA Personnel and requirements under CG Code.
The Internal Control Auditor reported to and made recommendations
to the IA Personnel for correction and mitigation of any internal
control defects revealed. The IA Personnel considered that the
recommendations would be effective and was satisfied that there had
been no major deficiency noted in the Group's risk management and
internal controls systems being reviewed. The Internal Control Auditor
and IA Personnel regularly report to the Audit Committee the results of
the activities pertaining to the adequacy and effectiveness of internal
controls, including but not limited to, any indications of failings or
material weaknesses in those controls, based on which, the Audit
Committee assists the Board to ensure that the financial reporting
system, internal control system, risk management system, regulatory
compliance and associated procedures are sufficient and effective,
and cooperates with the Internal Control Auditor and IA Personnel to
ensure their access to information necessary to fulfil their duties and
responsibilities with respect to risk assessment and risk management.
Accordingly, the Audit Committee and the Board considered during the
year, the risk management and internal control systems to be effective
and have been implemented with adequate resources during the year.
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Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

The Board has adopted a policy for handling and dissemination of inside
information (the “Inside Information Policy”). The Inside Information
Policy stipulates the obligations of the Group in relation to restriction
on sharing non-public information, handling of rumours, unintentional
selective disclosure, exemptions and statutory waiver to the disclosure of
inside information, external communication guidelines and compliance
and reporting procedures. Management takes all reasonable measures
from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent
breach of any disclosure obligations. Employees are required to promptly
bring any possible leakage or divulgence of inside information to the
attention of the Chief Financial Officer, or his delegates, who will notify
the Board timely and accordingly, in which case and in the event that
there is evidence of material violation of the Inside Information Policy,
the Board or designated appropriate persons will decide the course of
actions for rectifying the problem and avoiding recurrence.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company in
respect of the Group’s annual audit and other audit related services
as well as non-audit services (including general tax compliance
advisory services) for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$2,500,000 and HK$668,000 respectively.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

(a) Procedures for Requisitioning a Special General

Meeting

Shareholder(s) holding as at the date of deposit of the requisition
for a special general meeting not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at general
meetings of the Company may, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary(ies) signed and deposited in accordance
with the Bye-laws and the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, require
the Directors to call a special general meeting for the transaction
of business specified in the requisition.

(b) Procedures for Putting forward Proposals at General

Meetings

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-twentieth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at general
meetings of the Company or not less than 100 shareholders
may together, at their expense, provide a written request to the
attention of the Company Secretary(ies) signed and deposited
in accordance with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 to put
forward proposals at general meetings.
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(c)

47

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

General Meetings

General meetings of the Company provide a direct forum of
communication between shareholders and the Board. The
Company held one general meeting in 2024 being the annual
general meeting held on 22 May 2024 (the “2024 AGM").
Notice of the 2024 AGM was duly sent in accordance with
the requirements under the Listing Rules, applicable laws and
the Bye-laws. All members of the Board attended the 2024
AGM and adequate measures were taken to provide effective
communication with shareholders and to enable effectively
communication of their views to the Board. At the 2024 AGM,
the Directors were made available to answer questions and
poll procedures were explained to the shareholders in detail
in accordance with the requirements under the CG Code. The
Company's external auditor also attended the 2024 AGM to
answer any questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditor's report, the accounting
policies applied and its independence.

Other Communications
Shareholders may also contact the Company Secretary(ies) to
direct their written enquires to the Board.

The Company is committed to enhancing communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintains an open dialogue with institutional investors and
analysts to keep them abreast of the Company’s developments.

The Board annually reviews the Company's shareholders
communication policy (which has been made available at the
Company’s website) to ensure that the shareholders and potential
investors at large are provided with ready, equal and timely access
to balanced and understandable information about the Company,
including its financial performance, strategic goals and plans,
material developments, corporate governance and risk profile,
in order to enable shareholders to exercise their rights in an
informed manner, and to allow active shareholders’ engagement
with the Company. During the year, the Board has reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy. Having considered the various existing
channels of communication and participation, including but not
limited to:

- publishing key corporate governance policies, the terms of
reference of Board committees, the Group's financial reports,
press releases and announcements on the Company’s
website;
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publishing annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports and
announcements in a timely manner on the Stock Exchange's
and the Company's websites;

presenting the annual and interim results through online
and face-to-face meetings (as the case may be) in order to
communicate with shareholders, investors and analysts;

encouraging shareholders to raise questions at our AGMs
and SGMs (if any); and

providing contact information (telephone, fax number and
email address) on the Company's website for effective
communication between shareholders and the Company,

the Board considers that the shareholders’ communication policy
has been properly implemented and effective during the year.

The Company also maintains a website at www.paxglobal.com.hk,
where updates on the Company's business developments and
operations, financial information and news can always be found.

Constitutional Documents
There has been no change in the Company's constitutional documents
during the year and up to the date of this annual report.

On behalf of the Board

NIE Guoming

Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2025
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
Group is principally engaged in the development and sales of electronic
funds transfer point-of-sale (”E-payment Terminals”) products, provision
of maintenance and installation and payment solution services.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by geographical
segments is set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the development and sales of
E-payment Terminals products, provision of maintenance and installation
and payment solution services. The Company’s shares were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 20 December 2010.

Further details of the business review of the Group, details of proposed
dividends and discussion on the Group's future business development
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement section on pages 10 to 13
and Management Discussion and Analysis section on pages 14 to 27.
Particulars of any important event affecting the Group can be found in
the Management Discussion and Analysis section on pages 14 to 27 and
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The aforementioned references under this sub-section to other parts of
this annual report form part of this report of the Directors.

POSSIBLE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

In addition to disclosure in the section headed "Exchange Rates
Exposure” in Management Discussion and Analysis section, the Group
also faces with other risks and uncertainties which might affect the
Group’s business, financial condition, operating results or growth
prospects leading to a divergence from expected or historical results.
The principal key risk factors and their potential impact are summarised
below. While the risk factors below are not exhaustive, there may be
other risks currently inapparent or immaterial to the Group which could
be revealed or become material in the future.
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The payment solutions are rapidly evolving in pace with the continuous
technological developments and changing customer demands, where
lagging behind the dynamics may drive customers to our competitors,
and in turn affect our business and prospects. Building on our strongly
established R&D fundamentals, the Group will continue to invest
resources in R&D to develop a spectrum of industry leading products
and offer cutting-edge payment solutions to customers in order to
remain competitive.

In terms of compliance risks, the Group is subject to complex and
changing laws and regulations in different countries, which expose the
Group to increased costs and potential liabilities. In particular, due to our
substantial presence in the PRC, our business and prospects are affected
by changes in industry-specific Chinese government policies. To ensure
full compliance, the Group closely monitor regulatory requirements,
engage professional advisers when necessary and make timely responses
to policy and regulatory changes.

The ongoing international trade disputes and relevant policy changes
may result in tariffs and other measures that could adversely affect
the Group’s business. For example, trade tensions may lead to a
comprehensive series of tariffs imposed on our exports by the importing
countries. Tariffs increase our product costs, resulting in possible
reduction of profit margin or reduced product competitiveness for
customers due to elevated selling prices. The Group will closely monitor
any changes in connection with the trade tension and adjust its
strategies accordingly.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group values the importance of protecting the environment in the
process of operation. The Group’s major wastes comprise of terminal
machines and tools used and disposed by the customers. To mitigate
the adverse impact on the environment, waste machines and tools
are transferred to government-recognised recycling companies for
undergoing electronic waste recycling and decomposition. In recent
years, we have also strengthened the green office concept by promoting
paperless office, use of energy-saving electrical appliances such as LED
light pipes and inductive faucets, wastes classification and recycling, and
encouraging video conferencing in place of physical business trips to
reduce energy consumption and carbon footprint.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group seeks to uphold high standard of integrity in all aspects of
business and is committed to ensure that its affairs are conducted in
accordance with applicable laws and regulatory requirements and has
formulated and adopted various internal control measures, approval
procedures and training within all business units at all levels of the
Group.

The relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact on
the Group’s business and the compliance measures adopted and
implemented during the year are outlined below:-

“Provisions on the Administration of Compulsory Product”
Certification

Key scope

The Group’s E-payment Terminals products are required to pass the
national compulsory product certification (i.e. China Compulsory
Certification) and be marked with the certification mark before they can
be delivered, sold, imported or used in other business activities.

Compliance measures

The Group conducts quality assurance capability inspections on
factories, including but not limited to production process controls and
inspections, internal quality audits, etc., and conducts type tests on
end products to ensure that products are in strict compliance with the
Compulsory Product Certification requirements in terms of structure,
safety-critical components and key components that have impact on
electromagnetic compatibility.

The Group has also established product certification management
procedures, which clarify the application process of our certification
products, their routine maintenance and the use and management
method of our product certification marks, in order, to ensure that the
Group meets the requirements of the Compulsory Product Certification
requirements for product certification.
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"Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China; Product
Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China”

Key scope

Agreements among natural persons, legal persons and other
organisations for the establishment, modification or termination of
a relationship involving civil rights and obligations are subject to the
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China.

The Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China is applicable
to all activities of production and sales in the PRC. The Group shall fulfill
all relevant product quality responsibilities and obligations in the PRC.

Compliance measures

The Group has adopted internal monitoring and control measures to
record the entire process concerning the entering into, performance and
amendment, etc., of contracts to control contract risks.

In addition to implementing policies to require suppliers to sign quality
assurance agreements and related documents, the Group has also set up
strict material warehousing inspection procedures and product delivery
inspection procedures to ensure that product quality complies with legal
requirements.

“Sales of Goods Ordinance” (Chapter 26 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (“SOGO"); “Supply of Services (Implied Terms)
Ordinance” (Chapter 457 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(“S0S0")

Key scope

SOGO regulates the sales of goods by the Group in Hong Kong.
SOGO provides that, in a contract for the sale of goods by description,
there is an implied condition that the goods shall correspond with the
description. It also provides that where a seller sells goods in the course
of a business, there is an implied condition that the goods supplied
under the contract are of merchantable quality, except where an
exception condition is met.

SOSO regulates the supply of services by the Group in Hong Kong.
SOSO provides that in a contract for the supply of service where the
supplier is acting in the course of a business, there is an implied term
that the supplier will carry out the service with reasonable care and
skill. It also provides that under a contract for the supply of a service
where the supplier is acting in the course of a business, if the time
for carrying out the service is not fixed by the contract or is not left
to be determined by the course of dealing between the parties, there
is an implied term that the supplier will carry out the service within a
reasonable time.
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Compliance measures

The Group has adopted appropriate internal control, quality control
measures, customer feedback system and implemented standardised
product return policies to ensure compliance with SOGO and SOSO in
relation to the supply of goods and services in Hong Kong.

During the year, there has been no violation or breach of relevant laws
and regulations that had a significant impact on the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group emphasises on maintaining good relationship with its
stakeholders and considers it a key element to sustainable business
growth.

Employees

The Group has always been people-oriented and has attached great
importance to human resource management. We attract excellent
talents through fair recruitment policy and provide employees with
training opportunities, good career development prospect and growth
opportunities. From time to time, we offer our employees remuneration
packages that are comprehensive and attractive. Some employees
are granted options under the Company’s share option scheme in
recognition of their contribution. We also value our employee’s physical
and mental development. Diverse events and activities are organised for
the employees for fostering work-life balance and personal growth.

Customers

The Group is committed to offering our customers products and services
to the best of our ability. We highly value comments and suggestions of
our customers and have always maintained effective communications
with the customers. We will continue to reach out for current and
prospective customers through, inter-alia, on-site visits and major
customers satisfaction surveys. We believe that customers’ feedback
would help us to identify areas of improvement and advance us to
achieve excellence.

Suppliers

Maintaining good relationship with suppliers is essential to the Group’s
business performance and growth because suppliers can have direct
influence over the quality of the products and services and customer
satisfaction. We adopt a “Management Measures for Suppliers” in
respect of the supplier selection procedures, quality testing methods and
comprehensive appraisal and evaluation system on potential and existing
suppliers and their products and performance. We are committed
to establishing a close and long-term cooperation relationship with
business partners.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 83.

DIVIDEND

The Board's goal is to bring sustainable returns to shareholders whilst
retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future development.
Pursuant to the Company's dividend policy, dividends may be
recommended, declared and paid to shareholders from time to time,
determined at the sole and absolute discretion of the Board, taking into
account the following factors:

. Group’s financial results and general financial condition;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio and return on equity;
o liquidity position and capital requirement of the Group;

. the Group's current and future operations;

° the Group's business development strategies and future expansion
plans;

° the general market conditions;

° any relevant requirements of the Listing Rules and applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company; and

o any other factors that the Board considers relevant.
During the year,

- a final dividend of HK$0.23 per ordinary share for the year ended
31 December 2023, amounting to approximately HK$246.1
million, was declared and paid to the shareholders of the
Company; and

- an interim dividend of HK$0.24 per ordinary share for the six
months ended 30 June 2024 (2023: HK$0.21 per ordinary share),
amounting to approximately HK$254.8 million (2023: HK$225.5
million), was declared and paid to the shareholders of the
Company.
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The Board has recommended a payment of final dividend of HK$0.25
per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$0.23 per ordinary share) to shareholders of the Company whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company at the
close of business on Friday, 6 June 2025, subject to the approval of
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company which will be held on Wednesday, 21 May
2025 (the "AGM"), and if passed, the final dividend will be paid
on Thursday, 26 June 2025. For determining the entitlement to the
proposed final dividend, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Wednesday, 4 June 2025 to Friday, 6 June 2025,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will
be registered. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (the “Share Registrar”) not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 3 June 2025. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the total dividend per ordinary share amounted to
HK$0.49 (2023: HK$0.44), subject to the shareholders’ approval of the
proposed final dividend at the AGM.

RECORD DATE FOR DETERMINING ELIGIBILITY TO
ATTEND AND VOTE AT THE AGM

Record date (being the last date for registration of any share transfer
given there will be no book closure) for determining the entitlement of
the shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM will
be Thursday, 15 May 2025. All transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Share Registrar, for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 15 May 2025.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity and in Notes 26 and 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations of approximately HK$200,000 were made by the
Group during the year (2023: HK$220,000).

55 PAX GLOBAL TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

EEgEZAN_E_HAFEAH (BEH8H)
M¥B#Feﬁm %E%%?IJEAZK’ATHxﬁ%FH}E’JEy
REkNEEZZ-_NOF+ZB=+—HLHF
ENRBRESREER 25T (ZTE =
S =TS LHXO 2387T)  HERAARRKE
AR _E-AFHEBE-+—HEH D&
THALABEREBFAY REBFAE) £
HERAEE WaRB BRZZE A% A
:+/‘\E| (2N SHRPRE -AETES

BERIARENER AABRNR IS ZRF
/\HEE (BB=Z)E-ZE_RHE,AHE
A L (BEEaEmA) GERERMERLTF
B BRI IHERMDBREFE AREH
BRIRENER FIERNEBRXHERB
MREEN_ZE_AFEB=HEHI) F
ME=Z+2ERXEARBNEBERHBRE
HOBREERSERNAERAR MILAFTEBE
BEICREESMAO171E) (RMNDBELER
FEJ) BN ERFE-RBEE_ZT NF
+B=+—HIEFE SRIERRKREIEEE
Z049BTT (CTE =4 1 0.44787T) » HEEH
REPRKREBEFEFAE LM ERERARKRERS
__[ﬂEEO

EEAREUERRBERGIER
REYECER B HA

REEARDRREERRBFEFASTLN G

gtk

ERENEANNCH B (ERRAEY S
BERMmBRES MEETEARMDBRER

NELIEBE) A2 _AFa B +1H (EH
M) e KRABREMSENR_E_HAFHA+TEA
(B0 THFOEE=+271 #MAERHDE
FXHERERREZEXRMNDBRELRE
T—J—E_DEIJO

=

FRFEBRAABDNEFEES FBHINE
GRDEFHRNIGEEMBHRRME26/K34-

BN

FEBREREHEZER
(ZEBEZ=4:220,000%7T) °

#9200,0003 7T



Report of the Directors
EFXTHRS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND
EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the movements in the Company's share capital and share
options are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no
equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group, or subsisted
during and at the end of the year ended 31 December 2024.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme™)
to recognise the contribution or future contribution of the eligible
participants for their contribution to the Group by granting options
to them as incentives or rewards and to attract, retain and motivate
high-calibre eligible participants for the benefits of the growth of the
Group. The Share Option Scheme shall strengthen the many long-term
relationships that the eligible participants have or may have with the
Group. The Share Option Scheme shall remain in force for 10 years from
the date of adoption on 2 May 2019 until 1 May 2029, subject to early
termination in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme was initially adopted on 2 May 2019,
with amendments effective from 22 May 2024 as approved by
the Shareholders at the Company’s annual general meeting. The
amendments, among others, brought the terms of the Share Option
Scheme in line with the amendments to the Listing Rules which took
effect on 1 January 2023 and aligned the Share Option Scheme with
common market practice.

Eligible participant of the Share Option Scheme means any director,
officer or employee of any member of the Group or any person who
has accepted an employment offer (whether full time or part time)
from, or has been granted share options as an inducement to enter into
employment contract with any member of the Group.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be 82,514,550 shares,
being 7.5% of the total number of shares in issue on 2 May 2019, the

date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise
of share options granted to each eligible participant (including share
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding but excluding share
options lapsed) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
total number of the shares of the Company in issue or 0.1% if granted
to each substantial shareholder, independent non-executive Director or
any of their respective associates.

The exercise price for the share options shall be determined by the
Board and must be not lower than the highest of:

(1) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(2) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(3) the nominal value of the shares.

Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme (i) shall have a
minimum vesting period of no less than 12 months, save that the Board
shall have the authority to allow a shorter vesting period under limited
and exhaustive circumstances; and (ii) may be subject to performance
targets which must be satisfied before the share options may be
exercised either in whole or in part in the Board’s absolute discretion.
Subject to the vesting period and performance targets, share options
may be exercised from the date of acceptance of grant for such period
the Board so determine, provided always that such period shall not be
longer than 10 years from the date upon which any share option is
granted.

The grantees of share options shall each pay the Company HK$1 in
acceptance of the Company’s offer to the grant within 30 days inclusive
of, and from, the date of grant.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share option (nor share
award as the Company does not operate any share award scheme) was
granted, cancelled or lapsed and 4,550 share options were available
for grant as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024. A total of
2,282,000 share options (which were part of the share options granted
to the employees on 2 October 2019) were exercised, and the weighted
average closing price immediately before the dates on which the share
options were exercised was HK$6.30 per share. The particulars of the
share options granted under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

FERGHESTE @

Number of Number of

outstanding outstanding

Closing price share share
immediately options options
before held as at Reclassified Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled held as at

the date of Exercise 1 January during the during during during during 31 December

Name Date of grant grant price 2024 year the year the year the year the year 2024

RZE_MmE RZE_mE
-A-H +ZB=+-H
SRR Fifs2 2
AEAIH HRTE FR HERTHE
#a BHALH U%T‘E% ?"{ﬁ% fEREE Edipi] FREL ERTE FREY FREH fERERE
H HK
(&7 (B7)

Directors and chief executive*

ERRTHEE

Nie Guoming 2 October 2019* 353 357 1,000,000 = e e s e 1,000,000

88 Z2-nEtAzEr

Lu e 2 October 2019* 353 357 11,000,000 = s & = - 11,000000

& “E-—pE+AZA:

Li Wenjin 2 October 2019* 353 357 11,000,000 = = = = - 11,000000

3 “E-pE+AZE:

Cheung Shi Yeung © 2 October 2019* 3.53 3.57 - 920,000 - - - - 920,000

RitAE “B-NE+AZR*

Total for Directors 23,000,000 920,000 - - - - 23,920,000

EETE

Employees®

e

(In aggregate) 2 October 2019* 353 357 31,528,000 (920,000) - (228000 = - 28326000

(ﬁ@%‘r? “B-NE+AZR*

Total for Employees 31,528,000 (920,000) - (228000 = - 28326000

EBEME

Total 54,528,000 = - (2282000 = - 5246000

oy

E Mr. Nie Guoming and Mr. Li Wenjin are Directors of the Company. Mr. Lu BEBREERFENELAERAETIABDEER K
Jie is a Director and also the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. REERERDEF RITHRE - REBE
Cheung Shi Yeung is a Director, the chief financial officer and one of the EREARBDEF - BEEVMBERBMELINW
joint company secretaries of the Company. g2—-o

A Share options held by Mr. Cheung Shi Yeung were reclassified under the R _ME=F+HHEZEREHLESR
category of “Directors and chief executive” from “Employees” upon his BB O EFEBREAMEE I HENEHRD
appointment as a Director on 14 March 2024. HMEIEERITBAES

& 30% of the share options were vested on the date of grant, a further 30% B30% R EENIBEHEEE > 3530%
were vested on the first anniversary of the date of grant and the remaining BRECRELABR—BTFREBARAH
40% were vested on the second anniversary of the date of grant. All share BR40% 88 I 1 B 1S % B B HA Wi B T 57 B K
options are immediately exercisable upon vesting. On 21 August 2024, BA-FEBEESBEIVZTHE K-
the Board resolved to extend the exercise period of all the 52,246,000 E_MENRB_F+-H EBEEEBALAME
outstanding options by 5 years from the original expiry date, being 2 52,246,000 M AR THEHERENITEHAR
October 2024, to 2 October 2029, such that the outstanding options may ENEHAEH BMZE_WF+AZH)EER
be exercised within 10 years from the date of grant. FE_Z_NFTRA_A EHEHKRTEER

RO BBt T FERITEE

All of the above share options were granted prior to the amendments to FrE LMBEREHR _ZE _=F—HF—HB4%
Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock BB RS EmARA (TEMRA) &5
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) coming into effect on 1 January 2023 and TEERRE_WNERB _+_HEGTH
the amendments to the Share Option Scheme approved at the Company's AN BB R K BB RG E 5t B BB 5T Al
general meeting held on 22 May 2024. Any further share options shall HHo-ERE—TBERIERIBHRERESS
be granted pursuant to the provisions of the Share Option Scheme (as B2 (81E8:]) ~ EHRAIRBEREREEL
amended), the Listing Rules and applicable law.

' As at the date of this report, a total of 52,246,000 shares (representing HEARSHE BREBRES ST FET
approximately 4.92% of the shares in issue as at the date of this report, 52,246,000 (HHENARS HHBSETR A
excluding treasury shares (if any)) are available for issue under the Share #4.92%  FEEAEEETRS GAH)) °
Option Scheme.

» This category includes employee participants only. No share option LB R BEEE2HE - HEBEERE
has been “granted to any related entity participants or service provider st MARR R AS 2 RE YRR E S
participants (as defined under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules) under the HE(ERE LMRUE-tE) BEERE-

Share Option Scheme.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had reserves available for
distribution as calculated under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended) amounting to HK$246,351,000 (2023: HK$146,827,000).
However, the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
HK$1,010,081,000 (2023: HK$1,058,277,000) may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws and no
restriction against such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and financial position of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 193.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

During the year, the Company repurchased an aggregate of
10,388,000 ordinary shares at an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$56,870,960 on the Stock Exchange as follows:

AR Ikf# R

REERE—AN—FQEZE &E:]) 5t8 >
ARBR_E_NEF+__B=+—HEAH
246,351,000 8 oHEBRIHK (2 =4
146,827,000 1) © AT > ANA B B] LB B 4L

B D IR AR 1D /ﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁqﬂi%%m 010,081 ooo%
T (ZTE =4 :1,058,277,0005 7T) B9
BIORRE

’D\TZHJ A0 A BB S sl IR VIR SURTE »
ZEB T EARAZSEMBRE -

HFMBHE

AEBRBEREMBREENESE KT HER
A EEHNE1938

RBE - WESEME S

RER XRBREAZPTER&$£10,388,000
BB RS 485t B4 456,870,960 7T 0 %15
L[ N

Number of
shares Total
repurchased consideration
ERBERR Consideration per share paid
Date of repurchase EAIS] G #H SKRAE B ERE
Highest HK$ Lowest HK$ HK$
REAT RIEHETT BT
20 March 2024 “2IWF=AZ+H 378,000 6.00 5.96 2,265,730
6 June 2024 “EEERANH 260,000 5.96 5.93 1,547,860
2 July 2024 “ZZMFEEBZH 9,750,000 5.63 4.50 53,057,370
Total weEt 10,388,000 56,870,960
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The Board considers that the share repurchases were in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders and would lead to an
enhancement of the net assets value per share and/or earnings per
share of the Company. As at the date of this report, all of the above
repurchased shares were cancelled and the issued share capital of the
Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares accordingly
and the balance of consideration was charged against the share
premium account.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares or other
listed securities (including sale of treasury shares) during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

NIE Guoming

LU Jie

LI Wenjin

CHEUNG Shi Yeung (appointed on 14 March 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
YIP Wai Ming

WU Min

MAN Kwok Kuen, Charles

FOK Wai Shun, Wilson

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, one-third of the Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every three years at
the annual general meeting of the Company.

Mr. Nie Guoming, Mr. Yip Wai Ming and Mr. Fok Wai Shun, Wilson will
retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
AGM.

A separate resolution shall also be proposed for the re-election of Mr.
Yip Wai Ming, who has served the Company as an independent non-
executive Director for more than 9 years, at the AGM pursuant to Code
Provision B.2.3.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this report, each of the executive Directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a specific term not
exceeding three years, subject to, among others, retirement by rotation,
re-election and early termination in accordance with the Listing Rules,
the Bye-laws and/or the terms of their respective service contracts.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
are set out on pages 6 to 9.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors
and officers of the Group is currently in force and remained in force
throughout the financial year.

Throughout the year, the Company has maintained appropriate directors
and officers liability insurance cover providing indemnity against liability,
including but not limited to liability in respect of legal action against
the Directors and officers thereby sustained or incurred arising from or
incidental to execution of duties of his/her offices.
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of each
Director and the chief executive of the Company (the “Chief Executive”)
in the Company’s shares (the “Shares”), underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")),
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(“Model Code"”) in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules are as follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company

%$&'_Eﬂl @*ﬁﬁ’:‘ﬂ&ﬁ**ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ&%
SFHEmR

RAZE_NFE+ZR=+t—H'{REFERERQ
BT AR S (T1TEAB &) 742 B) K H AR B
ZH (EEREBSRAERS (BERAERK
1) EXVED AR BRMD (TRH 1) ~EARAHF
BERN REST EAEBLALTRBDRIERE
SREHRMEIS2FRFENECMARIEL
TR ERCIFAE EHEITAEFETE
R 7R E TE'JE%DT;ZK’AjEzéﬁé%ZA*
ZARAMRRAT (THAPR)) AR RREWT

T AE)EREE.10BTHIE ER

Approximate

Personal Other Total percentage of

Name of Director Capacity interests interests interests’  shareholding
Rigz

ERgth BREMH EPN: 4 Hitfgem"  #azlE)  Boasts
Nie Guoming (Chairman) Beneficial owner 4,200,000 1,000,000 5,200,000(L) 0.49%
ZER (TR ETEEA
Lu Jie (Chief Executive Officer) Beneficial owner 8,870,000 11,000,000 19,870,000(L) 1.87%
B (THaE) BEaEBA
Li Wenjin Beneficial owner 2,890,000 11,000,000 13,890,000(L) 1.31%
ENE BEnEAA
Cheung Shi Yeung” Beneficial owner - 920,000 920,000(L) 0.09%
wAHES BaEBA
Notes: M 5E

(i) The letter “L" denotes a long position in Shares.

(i) These represented the underlying interests in Shares in respect of share
options granted to the respective Director subject to certain vesting
conditions, the details of which are provided in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” in this report of the Directors.

& Mr. Cheung Shi Yeung was appointed as an Executive Director on 14
March 2024.
* The percentage is calculated based on the total number of Shares in issue

as at 31 December 2024 which was 1,061,704,000 ordinary shares.

(i) TLUERTRONEE-

iy WREROPVEMBMEDZ ARRTIRESRT
ZREBBRANBERE FHEHENETES
BRETERESTE)—He

>

RABEER - E_NE=ZRB+MNAEEE
BYPTES-

* BAOLDBRBARBR T -_NE+ A

—+—HBEZTRM4% (E11,061,704,000
G ZEAR) 5 E o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of substantial
shareholders (other than a Director or the chief executive) in the Shares
and underlying Shares as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

ERRREMA LI IRG KRG
Y Bk

BANBREBEESRBEGRAEICKEFEEN
BN R E_WE+_B=+—
H>TERE (MIFESFHITHLER) PIRHG K&
MEREROTFESNIEERXENT !

Approximate

Class of Total number percentage of
Name of shareholder Capacity securities of Shares® shareholding®
BRR % TE 515 Bk bl fefn a8 g ™ BaLE®
Hi Sun Technology (China) Limited Beneficial owner Ordinary 364,000,000 (L) 34.28%
("Hi Sun”) BamEA A EREL
SEA (FE) BRAR (&%)
Brandes Investment Partners, L.P. Investment manager Ordinary 140,319,359 (L) 13.22%
KEKE EREL
FMR LLC Interest of controlled Ordinary 96,547,900 (L)® 9.09%
corporations Ziahg
R LEER
Notes: M 5F
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in Shares. 1. FEIRTREBRONEE -
2. The percentage is calculated based on the total number of Shares inissue 2. BAWBREBERAQABNR_-_Z-_MNE+AH

as at 31 December 2024 which was 1,061,704,000 ordinary shares.

3. These shares are held by FMR LLC through various corporations 100%
directly or indirectly controlled by it.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed below and in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not enter into any other connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which is subject to
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Diversification Shareholding Plan of a Subsidiary

Shenzhen Zolon Technology Co., Ltd GRIITEIKERIFZARAT)
(“"Zolon Shenzhen”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, adopts the diversification shareholding plan (“Plan”) to, inter
alia, diversify its shareholding structure, broaden the sources of funding
to further develop its business, and to ultimately promote its goals and
maximise the interests of Zolon Shenzhen and its shareholders as a
whole.

The Plan allows participants (including connected participants and
other participants) (the “Participants”) to indirectly acquire and become
entitled to the corresponding benefits of the equity interests of Zolon
Shenzhen, through the subscription of shares or making capital
contribution to the relevant shareholding platforms (which hold direct
equity interest in Zolon Shenzhen) at predetermined prices (the “Capital
Increase”).

Upon the completion of the Capital Increase in January 2024, the
registered capital of Zolon Shenzhen increased from RMB54.0 million to
approximately RMB79.4 million, and Zolon Shenzhen became indirectly
owned as to 68.0% by the Company and 32.0% in aggregate by the
Participants (comprising a total of approximately 7.7% by Mr. Lu lJie,
Mr. Li Wenjin and Mr. Cheung Shi Yeung, each an executive Director)
through the aforesaid shareholding platform.

Further details of the Plan can be referred to in the Company's
announcement dated 23 June 2023.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Framework agreements with Hi Sun and Megahunt

Technologies Inc.

Hi Sun (together with its subsidiaries the “Hi Sun Group”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company, is a connected person (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company. Accordingly, the transactions between
the Group and Hi Sun Group and/or its associates including Megahunt
Group (as defined below) constitute connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

The Group, from time to time, may enter into individual agreements
with (i) Hi Sun Group relating to the Group’s supply of E-payment
Terminals products (the “E-payment Terminals Transactions”) under the
2022 Framework Agreement (as defined below); and (ii) Megahunt
Group relating to the Group’s purchase of Chips (as defined below) (the
“Chips Transactions”) under the 2023 Chips Framework Agreement (as
defined below) respectively. These transactions constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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Supply of E-payment Terminals Products to Hi Sun Group

On 23 December 2021, the Company entered into a framework
agreement (the “2022 Framework Agreement”) with Hi Sun,
pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell and Hi Sun Group
agreed to purchase E-payment Terminals products for a term
of 3 years commencing on 1 January 2022 and expiring on 31
December 2024.

The annual caps of the total contract value of the E-payment
Terminals Transactions under the 2022 Framework Agreement for
each of the three years ending 31 December 2022, 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2024 were HK$20,000,000. The actual
aggregate contract value for the E-payment Terminals Transactions
for each of the three years ended 31 December 2022, 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2024 were approximately
HK$153,000, HK$0 and HK$15,000, respectively.

In view of Hi Sun Group’s track record as a payment processing
solutions provider and the long-term business relationship
between the Group and Hi Sun Group, the Board considers the
continuous supply of E-payment Terminals products to Hi Sun
Group contemplated under the 2022 Framework Agreement is in
line with the business model of the Group and would potentially
allow the Group to generate sales in the China market.

The E-payment Terminals Transactions under the 2022 Framework
Agreement are on a non-exclusive basis, which means that the
Group will maintain its discretionary rights to sell the E-payment
Terminals products to any third parties.

To ensure sufficient protection of the Shareholders’ interest, the
Company has adopted internal control measures in connection
with the continuing connected transactions. These include a
pricing policy which applies to both members of the Hi Sun Group
and other customers. The pricing policy is based on a standardised
pricing structure for different products, allowing for variations
due to differences in, among others, product specifications, size
of orders and delivery requirements. Any deviations beyond a
permitted range will require senior management approval in
addition to normal centralised approvals.
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The 2022 Framework Agreement expired on 31 December 2024.
In order to facilitate the Group's sales of E-payment Terminals
products to Hi Sun Group in its ordinary and usual course of
business for the three coming financial years ending on 31
December 2027 and ensure compliance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules, on 31 December 2024, the Company and Hi
Sun entered into a new framework agreement in relation to the
supply of the E-payment Terminals products by the Group to Hi
Sun Group for a term of three years commencing on 1 January
2025 and ending on 31 December 2027 (the “2025 Framework
Agreement”). The annual caps of the total contract value (before
value added tax) of the E-Payment Terminals Transactions under
the 2025 Framework Agreement for each of the year ending
on 31 December 2025, 2026 and 2027 is HK$20,000,000,
HK$20,000,000 and HK$20,000,000, respectively. Further details
of the 2025 Framework Agreement can be referred to in the
Company’s announcements dated 31 December 2024 and 16
January 2025.

Purchase of Chips from Megahunt Group

On 15 November 2022, the Company entered into a framework
agreement (the “2023 Chips Framework Agreement”) with
Megahunt Technologies Inc. (“Megahunt”), a joint stock limited
liability company indirectly owned as to approximately 45.73%
by Hi Sun, pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase
and Megahunt and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Megahunt
Group”) agreed to sell the mag-stripe card security decoder chips,
the security micro controller unit chips and the contactless reader
chips (collectively the “Chips”) for a term of 3 years commencing
on 1 January 2023 and expiring on 31 December 2025.

The annual caps of the total contract value for the Chips
Transactions under the 2023 Chips Framework Agreement for the
three years ended/ending 31 December 2023, 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2025 were HK$210,000,000, HK$230,000,000
and HK$250,000,000 respectively. The actual aggregate contract
value for the Chips Transactions for each of the two years ended
31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 were approximately
HK$104,891,000 and HK$38,836,000, respectively.
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The Board considers that the entering into of the 2023 Chips
Framework Agreement would ensure continuous and stable
supply of the Chips for production of the Group’s E-Payment
Terminals products and reduce the operational risks and costs and
time required for sourcing new suppliers and extra supervision
and quality check of the Chips to be supplied by other market
suppliers, given the specifications and quality of the Chips
supplied by Hi Sun Group and Megahunt Group are well suited to
the needs of the Group.

The Chips Transactions under the 2023 Chips Framework
Agreement is on a non-exclusive basis, and the Group maintains
its discretionary right to source the Chips from other suppliers and
Megahunt Group may market the Chips to any third parties.

During the year, the purchase price of the Chips under the 2023
Chips Framework Agreement was determined with reference
to the prices of the same or similar products sold by Megahunt
Group and third party suppliers in the industry. The Group has
also adopted internal control measures in respect of, inter alia,
evaluating the individual agreements governing the prices and
terms for the Chips Transactions and sourcing for comparable
suppliers. The Chips Transactions were conducted on terms no less
favourable to the Group than those available from independent
third parties.

The Board including the independent non-executive Directors has
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirms
that these transactions were entered into by the Company in
accordance with relevant pricing policies, and that these transactions
were conducted:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) according to the agreements governing them on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 December
2024 in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagement Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Board
confirms that the auditor has issued to the Board an unqualified letter
confirming the matters in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed
above for the year ended 31 December 2024 as being in order.
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The Company has complied with the applicable requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the connected
transaction and continuing connected transactions during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Details of the continuing connected transactions which also constituted
related party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 under the relevant accounting standards are set out in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of significant related party transactions made during
the year is disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed in the section above headed “Connected
Transactions”, all related party transactions that constituted continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules are exempt from
reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
Company confirms that it has complied with the requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION AND CONFLICTS OF
INTERESTS

A deed of non-competition was entered into between the Company and
Hi Sun on 1 December 2010 ("Deed of Non-Competition”), pursuant
to which Hi Sun shall not compete either directly or indirectly with the
Group’s principal business activities in such geographic territories in
which the Group operates.

Hi Sun has signed an annual declaration (“Declaration”) of compliance
with the Deed of Non-competition confirming its compliance with the
non-competition undertakings in the Deed of Non-Competition during
the year. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
abovementioned undertakings and consider that Hi Sun has complied
with the Deed of Non-Competition during the financial year ended 31
December 2024.
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DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Mr. Li Wenjin (“Mr. Li”), an executive Director of the Company who is
concurrently serving as an executive director of Hi Sun and a director of
certain of its subsidiaries, is interested in 13,800,000 shares of Hi Sun,
representing 0.50% of its issued shares as at 31 December 2024, and
hence is required to abstain from voting on any resolution of the Board
in respect of any particular transaction or business involving any actual
or potential conflict of interest between the Group and Hi Sun Group.

Notwithstanding Mr. Li's aforesaid interests in Hi Sun Group, the Board
considers that Mr. Li is not interested in a business competing or is
likely to compete either directly or indirectly with the Group’s business,
taking into account the Deed of Non-Competition, the Declaration, any
implications thereunder and the independent non-executive Directors’
subsequent review thereof.

Apart from the above, none of the Directors or any of their respective
associates is interested in any business competing or is likely to compete
either directly or indirectly with the Group's business that is discloseable
under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for the Share Option Scheme and the Plan, at no time during
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or the Chief Executive (including
their spouses and children under the age of 18) to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisitions of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such right during the
year.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed above, no other transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance in which any Director or any entity connected with a
Director is or was materially interested directly or indirectly subsisted at
any time during or at the end of the year, nor was there any contract
of significance between the Group and a controlling shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries, or any contract of significance for the provision
of services to the Group by a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended 31
December 2024 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and
customers are respectively as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 16.7%
— five largest suppliers combined 34.7%
Sales

— the largest customer 10.7%
— five largest customers combined 26.7%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the number
of issued shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares)) has any
interests in any of the suppliers or customers disclosed above.

PENSION SCHEMES

The subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong are required to participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme (“MPF Scheme”) set up in
accordance with the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, under which employers and employees are each required
to make regular mandatory contributions calculated at 5% of the
employee’s relevant income (“Mandatory Contributions”) to the MPF
Scheme, subject to the minimum and maximum relevant income levels
as prescribed by law. Employees may also make voluntary contributions
additional to Mandatory Contributions.

Any Mandatory Contributions paid for and in respect of an employee
are fully and immediately vested in the employee once paid to the
trustee of the MPF Scheme and any investment return derived from the
investment of the Mandatory Contributions is also fully and immediately
vested in the employee. The employees are entitled to all of the accrued
benefits derived from the employer’s Mandatory Contributions upon
retirement at the age of 65 years old, death or total incapacity, subject
to other applicable provisions of law.

In addition, pursuant to the government regulations in the PRC, the
Group is required to contribute in favour of the employees in the PRC
an amount of approximately 7% to 22% of their basic wages to certain
retirement benefit schemes. The local municipal government undertakes
to assume the retirement benefits obligations of those workers of the
Group.
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There is no arrangement where contributions may be forfeited under
the defined contribution schemes of the Group.

The Group also operates a defined benefit pension plan for employees
working in Korea. The plan is administrated by an independent trustee
with its assets held separately from those of the Group. The plan is
wholly funded by contributions from the Group. The actuarial valuation
of the plan was prepared by certified insurance actuaries of Dlog
Actuarial Consulting, who are registered with the Financial Services
Commission of Korea, using the projected unit credit method. In
calculating the surplus in the plan of approximately WON35,172,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$186,000) as at 31 December 2024,
the key actuarial assumptions adopted by Dlog Actuarial Consulting
are annual discount rate and salary growth rate of 4.52% and 4.30%
respectively. The actuarial valuation indicates the Group’s obligations
under the defined benefit pension plan are 105% covered by the plan
assets held by the trustee as at 31 December 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report,
the Directors confirm that the Company has maintained at all times
sufficient public float as prescribed by the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who has remained as the Company’s auditor for each of the preceding
three years and will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Nie Guoming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2025
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Independent Auditor's Report
VR ES T

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of PAX Global Technology Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of PAX Global Technology Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 83 to 192, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;
and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Impairment of trade receivables

. Provision for inventories
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Key Audit Matter
FRREEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EANAERERARESEE

Impairment of trade receivables

FEN R LR 1

Refer to Note 3.1(b)(ii) (financial risk factors), Note
4(a) (critical accounting estimates and judgments) and
Note 21 (trade and bills receivables and other financial
assets at amortised cost) to the consolidated financial
statements.

FREHEIRAEN 3. 10)(i) (B EREZE) ~Kta(a)
(BEEZE5E51TRAE) BRIE21 (BIKERA R EWE 5%
e 17 i 2K 51 AR 2 B % i B )

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross trade
receivables of HK$2,625,573,000 and provision for
impairment of trade receivables of HK$81,959,000.
Provision is made for lifetime expected credit losses on
trade receivables.

R_ZE_MNME+"A=+—H> EEEMNEKE
RUBEE£2,625,573,0008 0 EWIRARERES
81,959,000 w EEEMEWERNEZBEREE
1R IRE G o

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on provision for impairment losses of trade
receivables included:
BMEERAEEET LRI ERIAERERE ZE1EF
BE

- Understood, evaluated and validated the key control
procedures over the management’s estimation of
expected credit losses and periodic review of aged
trade receivables and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors associated with estimating the expected credit
losses;

- BER -TEKBRBREEEMGHEREEREARTHE
2B R IR R RA R R 112 /7 > WB AR & 8 B (i 5t
BHEEEEERANGTNTREREEREMESR
JRBR R ZR KT > S E RS R R AV E A R

- Obtained management’s assessment on the expected
credit losses of trade receivables. We corroborated
and validated management’s assessment based on the
historical settlement pattern from the past periods,
correspondence with the customers, evidence from
external sources including the relevant market research
regarding the relevant forward-looking information
such as macroeconomic factors used in management’s
assessment;

-  IGEEEHRURIRFAREEBENTE - HME
RIBEHABNERERER B2 R AEM KRB IR
RHER (BEEEEEEN AP EANARMTE
ke MRBEBERRNTISMR) S EBLREEERE
AYETAE ;
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Key Audit Matter
FRREEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EANAERERARESEE

Management applied judgment in assessing the
expected credit losses. Trade receivables relating to
customers with known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of trade receivables are assessed
individually for provision for impairment losses. Expected
credit losses are also estimated by grouping the
remaining trade receivables based on shared credit risk
characteristics and collectively assessed for likelihood of
recovery, taking into account the nature of the customer
and its geographical location, and applying the expected
credit loss rates to the respective gross carrying amounts
of the trade receivables. The expected credit loss
rates are determined based on historical credit losses
experienced from the past periods and are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information such
as macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the trade receivables.
EEEERHEHTERBEERR - HNENEFEEMF
AENEFRFILCWRMEEFETEERRBNBBIRRE MR
MERGSELER TG -Gt TRBEERERTTE
HeRWRBREXAMERMEBEUEZBHLRGEER
BRRBETOE WHFAEELCURI BTSN - I i TAER
FEEBEBXERANERBRURNREFEUETEHTER
FEEGEAB RHREEBERXNREBATHBEMER
NELSEEEERET TABAEUARMRRFRAIBEE
kol EMr e R EMNRKRRRENNEZEKSER
o

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
trade receivables and the estimation and judgment
involved in determining the expected credit losses of the
trade receivables.
EMEAILEREENRBRANERHE URTE
TE FEUS BR R TR HR 15 B R 1R B5 0 I (il 51 A0 1) i o
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- Tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing profile
of trade receivables by checking to the underlying sales
invoices; and

-  PEnTHEREEER KA N BEERRER
b~ ZEREME

- Tested on a sample basis, the subsequent settlement of
trade receivables against bank receipts.

- MEsAERBTWEA BRI BRNE
HER 5 &

- Tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculation
of expected credit loss rates and the calculation of the
provision for impairment losses.

- AEEBEEREEXNFAERAEBERBEENGE
RS AR 1 o

Based upon the above, we found that the estimation and
judgment made by management in respect of the expected
credit losses and the collectability of trade receivables were
supportable by the available evidence.

BN PEIE BMEREEENEBERRBHEERSE
Fe AT URBIME PR PER i 51 R I i B BT 1S B98I 2 85 o
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Key Audit Matter
FRREEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EANAERERARESEE

Provision for inventories

FRAERE

Refer to Note 4(b) (critical accounting estimates
and judgments) and Note 20 (inventories) to the
consolidated financial statements

E B RN TA0b) (BE S 5L 51 R E) RITEE20
(&)

The Group held inventories of HK$1,587,039,000 as at
31 December 2024. Inventories are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value (“NRV"”). The cost of
inventories may not be recoverable if those inventories
are aged and damaged, if they have become obsolete, or
if their selling prices have declined. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group has made provision for
inventories of HK$20,115,000.

EEER _Z_NE+__B=+—HBFEFEHN
1,587,039,0008 w7 & E&EXKE—%T“EE@@ (ra]
‘*S*IE@@J) ZBREEIR - HEESEMRE BIE BE
HEB T H‘J—J“t’_/ﬂ&(lil@ SRR - BE_ZT M
F+ZA=+—HLFE> EEEAREFEEEY
20,115,000 75 °

Management determines the lower of cost and NRV of
inventories by considering the ageing profile, inventory
obsolescence and estimated selling price of individual
inventory items.

EEEEEFEMAKRIERFEZREER @8
BREFENER - FERSBRNENFENRAES-

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on NRV and obsolescence of inventories
included:

KM EREEENGEES
THESREFEE !

S 2RSS ERE R T BRR

- Understood, evaluated and validated the key control
procedures over the management’s estimation of the
NRV of the inventories and conducting periodic review
on inventory obsolescence, and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk associated with estimating NRV of the inventories;

- ER T EBRBEEEGHEFENERFERTH
ERGEANNEREZERER LBBEREGHEF
B2 RFERRNMGEFNIREREEREMER
R TE  sST B AR E SRR ;

- Evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment of
provision for inventories to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process;

- FEBTHBNLEERENERUGIEE
STRRFRIARL ;

1R JE 1

- Observed client’s inventory counts to identify whether
there is any damaged or obsolete inventory;

- HEEETESR USNEASEEMIREIBRT
=,

- Tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing
profile of individual inventory items by checking to the
underlying procurement correspondence and invoices;

- PENEHERRBERKRER DUhESNREER
FEEBE B ZERY
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Key Audit Matter
FRREEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EANAERERARESEE

Management calculates the NRV at each period end
based on the estimated selling price less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale, which requires
significant judgments and assumptions to be made
to determine the estimated selling price of individual
product, including historical experience of selling
products of similar nature and expectation of future
sales based on current market conditions.
EEENHBAEBHNRMGLLENHEREARGSGESR
HAMERFE TECEANERZRUEBREAE
PEXRAEREBR BFEEUTEERALUMEERN
REBURBREAHRHERREEFLH ZFRA -

Management consistently applies a provisioning
methodology for slow moving inventories based on
marketability of aged products and makes specific
provision for long aged inventories. Management also
conducted periodic review on inventory obsolescence,
including performance of periodic inventory counts and
review of holding period for individual inventory items.
EEERMEFEN TS RBLHFHFEERER
BER L INRPREFSFERERE -EEETE
MEEREERETENEE OEECHETFERE
RERENEEEENFT AR

We focused on this area due to the estimation of
provision for inventories involves significant judgment
and various uncertainties as a result of changing
technology, customer demand and competitors actions.
EMEAILEREENEFENREMLST I REKRH
B URRMEHMAR - ERBRKGEFEZTAERS
BREARARZE -
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Tested on a sample basis, the marketability of individual
inventory items by checking to the estimated future
utilisation rate and ageing profile. We discussed
with management its assessment on marketability of
inventory, corroborating explanations with the ageing
profile and sales orders of the relevant finished goods
by using our industry knowledge and external market
analysis, as appropriate;

BEBERRMEHEARREFEEER LRSIV
HEREFSEE ZHHRBME - %WEAAE%Jm
HE st EEmHREE R 2 BARMET
ENHBASNEBHIZ O QER) »EREMEFEERE
e RS E ST BB RV FRRE

Tested on a sample basis, the subsequent usage
of inventory items, obtained through the usage
report subsequent to the year end as a basis to
identify inventory obsolescence. Where there are no
subsequent usage of the respective items after the year
end, we discussed with management its assessment on
estimated future utilisation, corroborating explanations
with the sales orders and marketability of the relevant
finished goods by using our industry knowledge and
external market analysis, as appropriate;

DA NAEREERFERBZERBR  BBRES
FRENERRSE  HAHBKEFE - HEREFEERN
FRETIEAE AMEEEEEN ARG EES
RAREAERIEL 2514 BB IPIHEITERHA I
*“BFEi%ﬁﬁﬁ (NBR) EERE RG] B RAEMEM
g TE R RRE ;
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Key Audit Matter
FRREEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EANAERERARESEE

- Tested on a sample basis, the NRV of selected inventory
items, by comparing the selling price subsequent to the
year end, against the carrying values of these individual
finished goods. Where there are no subsequent sales
of the respective finished goods after the year end, we
discussed with management as to the realisable value
of the products, corroborating explanations with the
sales orders, historical margins, and current market
conditions by using our industry knowledge and
external market analysis, as appropriate; and

- MRS XAEEEFEREZERFE FAE

o WNERRTEHENBRRK M RMPUERE
EENmZEMNAIEFE TEBRMETENN
HAMSNEBHIZ DM QER) - EERARHETE B
FEEMRRRBITHRABRE ; &

- Tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculation of
provision for inventories.

- AEFERFENFENEMEREE-

Based on the procedures described, we found the
estimations of management in relation to the provision for
inventories were supportable by available evidence.
REBFEERF BB REEEFBEERBEZEEY
(CENECE SRS
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Hin Gay, Gabriel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 March 2025
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Consolidated Income Statement

EERER

Year ended 31 December

BE+"_BA=+—HLEFE

2024 2023
—EImE —ET”°-=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
s 5 FET FET
Revenue A 5 6,044,878 6,709,324
Cost of sales tHE R A 7 (3,191,489) (3,715,323)
Gross profit EF 2,853,389 2,994,001
Other income HAh A 5 85,372 95,126
Other gains, net Hfh 2375 %8 5 861 12,620
Selling expenses HERMS 7 (772,428)  (674,479)
Administrative expenses THER 7,8 (1,317,994) (1,171,459)
Net reversal of impairment losses/ TREEZRERIBERLEIFRE
(impairment losses) on financial assets CREFEE) 7 6,963 (1,443)
Operating profit T 856,163 1,254,366
Finance costs MBER 9 (5,556) (5,376)
Share of results of investments accounted for  FE{LIZHET A AR IR B 248
using the equity method 19 10,638 4,974
Profit before income tax BRFER 1S FiiE F 861,245 1,253,964
Income tax expense FriEEs 11 (140,323) (88,861)
Profit for the year FEEHF 720,922 1,165,103
Profit attributable to: FE(EEF :
Owners of the Company FN/NETEZ =N 713,427 1,155,164
Non-controlling interests JEITERE R 7,495 9,939
720,922 1,165,103
HK$ HK$
per share per share
BRAET BRET
Earnings per share for profit EATEEA
attributable to the owners of e ER 2 SRER .
the Company:
— Basic —H®K 12(a) 0.669 1.075
— Diluted —#E 12(b) 0.658 1.051

The notes on pages 90 to 192 are an integral part of these consolidated ~ 590FE 192 B MM sk h 4R & M MR B H b 56

financial statements. vAN
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FEEEWRER

Year ended 31 December

BE+"_BA=+—HLEFE

2024 2023
-1 - S
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ihEz3 FHET FHET
Profit for the year FEEHF 720,922 1,165,103
Other comprehensive (loss)/income, Hihzm (F518) K&
net of tax NpRRIE
Items that are or may be subsequently B R E O SEEN S EE B m
reclassified to profit or loss ZEHH
Exchange differences arising on translation of B ESINHTE A BB 7R =
the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries ~ E4ERIE R Z%E (121,931)  (122,635)
Reclassification of exchange reserve upon BB E QT R
the liquidation of a subsidiary SNEREEN DR 5 S (7,986)
Items that will not be reclassified to TEENSEEEm 2B
profit or loss
Exchange differences arising on translation of A ESINHTE A BB 7R =
the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries ~ ZE4ERIE R Z%E (1,192) 2,826
Remeasurement of post-employment BB RNEBENE
benefit obligation (433) (245)
Fair value loss on an investment —IERBENATEEE - (2)
Total comprehensive income for the year, FEZ2EUNELEEE > NRHRIE
net of tax 597,366 1,037,061
Total comprehensive income FEE 2 U 4R%E :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRBHB A 591,063 1,024,327
Non-controlling interests JEEER = 6,303 12,734
597,366 1,037,061

The notes on pages 90 to 192 are an integral part of these consolidated 590F192B MM sEThér & M R T E B I
financial statements. e
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
HAEEREAER

As at 31 December

W+=ZB=+—H
2024 2023
—EImE =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
MisE FAET FAET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BERRE 14 939,396 950,811
Right-of-use assets FRAREE 15 207,281 239,374
Intangible assets EBEEE 16 117,832 24,788
Financial assets measured at fair value BANFEFAEZEREE 17 88,242 97,329
Investments accounted for using the BREDEARZIKEE
equity method 19 44,838 34,944
Other non-current assets HMIERs & E 22 3,940 6,314
Deferred income tax assets RILFTISMEE 28 121,857 168,548
Total non-current assets JERENE EARER 1,523,386 1,522,108
Current assets MENEE
Inventories 75 20 1,587,039 1,826,091
Other current assets HMmgh&E 22 90,273 65,192
Other financial assets at amortised cost R AY R EtEMEE 21 58,581 55,855
Trade and bills receivables FE S BR R e FE U R 4 21 2,543,884 2,679,525
Current tax assets EIRBEEE 96,042 45,876
Restricted cash ZIREIRE 23 24,212 17,085
Short-term bank deposits DHAERITE K 23 162,490 =
Cash and cash equivalents RERIBSEEY 24 3,083,598 2,863,597
Total current assets TRENE EAEEE 7,646,119 7,553,221
Total assets BERSE 9,169,505 9,075,329
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to the owners of TATERE AEGEE
the Company
Share capital Rg 7~ 25 106,170 107,021
Reserves #E 26 7,423,883 7,351,046
7,530,053 7,458,067
Non-controlling interests JEERR RS 34,534 28,107
Total equity i 7,564,587 7,486,174

The notes on pages 90 to 192 are an integral part of these consolidated  $90FE 12BN E & M BMERWE P
financial statements. o
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
HAEEREAER

As at 31 December

®w+=ZB=+—H
2024 2023
—EImE —ET”°-=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mzt FHET FET
LIABILITIES &8
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 15 69,606 84,325
Deferred income tax liabilities REPFIEREE 28 15,462 5,501
Other non-current liabilities HMIEmenas 4,691 10,514
Total non-current liabilities ERENEELEE 89,759 100,340
Current liabilities mENaE
Trade payables NN 27 937,211 888,621
Other payables and accruals H AN FE (T AR AR K FE 51 R 1B 27 540,768 563,338
Current tax liabilities 2HRREEE 18,961 12,966
Lease liabilities HEad 15 18,219 23,890
Total current liabilities BB EEE 1,515,159 1,488,815
Total liabilities BE4EEE 1,604,918 1,589,155
Total equity and liabilities EEkhaFEiEsE 9,169,505 9,075,329

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of HiGEHBEHREN _ S _AF=-HF_+H%E

Directors on 20 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf. EEEME THMINEEAREE-
NIE GUOMING LI WENJIN
EEHA EXE
Director Director
E-Eo EE

The notes on pages 90 to 192 are an integral part of these consolidated ~F90E 1N BRI ir &M HEHRTRPE R I
financial statements. 7o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mAEmEHR

Attributable to the owners of the Company

KRFEE AR
Share  Employee Non-
Share Share Treasury Capital option benefit Other  Exchange  Retained Total  controlling Total
capital  premium shares reserve reserve reserve  reserves reserve  eamings  feserves interests equity
kE  RiEE ERl  ENHE  BREGE BEENEE  HbEE  SNEEE  RERY  HELE HIREE  EREE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TEn FEr F#n F#n FEn FEn TEn T#n T#n TEr TEn F#n
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z-pE
Balance at 1 January 2024 107,021 1,058,277 (40) (414,978) 172,332 266 (22,535) (#13502) 6,971,226 7,351,046 28107 7,486,174
Comprehensive income 2ERE
Profit for the year EERF - - - - - - - - 113427 113,421 7495 720,922
Other comprehensive loss Hth2EHE
Exchange differences arsing on tranglation of the ~ BEEMNIBARDHHRE
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries EEMEREER - - - - - - - (1193) - (19 (119 (1312)
Remeasurement of post-employment ERGENIBRENHE
benefit obligation - - - - - (433) - - - (@33) - (433)
Total comprehensive {lossYincome for the year FERE (Bl /hElE - - - - - (433) - (931) 7341 591,083 6303 597,366
Transactions with owners HEEAZRS
Repurchase of the Company's shares (Note 25(2)  EIERAZINRA (Ht25() (1079)  (56,114) 40 - - - - - - (56,074) - (57,153)
Dividends to the shareholders of the Company BAEATREZRS - - - - - - - - (501303) (501,303 - (501,303
Share option scheme Bt
- value of services provided (Note 10) -BREFHHEE (10) - - - - 31,668 - - - - 31,668 - 31,668
- share options exercised (Note 25(b)) -BATERRE (H2250) 28 7,919 - - - - - - - 7,919 - 8,147
Acquisition of non-controling interests WA RS
in a subsidiary (Note 18) (H3018) - - - - - - (436) - - (436) 12 312
Totaltransactions with owners AEEAIRAEE (851)  (#8,19) 40 - 31,668 - (436) - (501303)  (518,226) 1 (5189%3)
Balance at 31 December 2024 g1
+ZB=1+-HZ48 106,170 1,010,082 - (414,978) 204,000 (167) (22971)  (535433) 7183350 7423883 34534 7,564,587
The notes on pages 90 to 192 are an integral part of these consolidated ~ 590FE 192 B MM sk h 4R & M KR B EH 56

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FEEDEER

Attributable to the owners of the Company

FATHANELE
Share  Employee Non-
Share Share Treasury option benefit Other Exchange Retained Total  controlling Total
aptal  premium shares resenve resenve reserves reseve - eamings resenes  interests equity
fE  KREE Rk BRERE BSRAEE  AMEE  SERE  RERY  REEE FERES  BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn Thn TEn TR Thn Thn Fhn Thn Thn ThEn
For the year ended 31 December 2023 =
TIAZ+-HLEE
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F-P-HZEH 107,970 1,128,184 - 172,332 480 (22,533) (282,881) 6,246,252 6,826,856 (28976) 6,905,850
Comprehensive income 2EkE
Profit for the year FERH - - - - - - - 1,155,164 1,155,164 9939 1,165,103
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hh2E (i) /i
Exchange differences arsing on tranglation of the S ENBADHHRE
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries EENERZR - - - - - - (128%) - (122639 286 (119,809
Reclassifcation of exchange reserve upon the EE-ENBATRNNERE
liquidation of a subsidiary (Note 5) N8 (W) - - - - - - (7,986) - (7,986) - (7,986)
Remeasurement of post-employment EBGENERENE
benefit obligation - - - - (214) - - - (214) 31) (245)
Fair value loss on an investment -BERENATESE - - - - - @ - - @ - 2
Total comprehensive (loss)income for the year EELE (BB /WELE - - - - (214) @ (130621 1155164 1024327 12,73 1,037,061
Transactions with owners HEEAZRS
Repurchase of the Company's shares (Note 25(3)  EIBEARAZINRA (H25() (1,336) (83,350) (40) - - - - - (83,390) - (84,726)
Dividends to the shareholders of the Company BRENFREZRE - - - - - - - (430190)  (430,190) - (830190
Share option scheme Bt
— share options exercised (Note 25(b)) ~BFERRE [E250) 387 13443 - - - - - - 13443 - 13830
Liquidation of a subsidiary (Note 5) EE-BMBAT (W) - - - - - - - - - 44349 44349
Total transactions with owners (949) (69,907) (40) - - - - (430,190)  (500,137) 44349 (456,737)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RIBZZE
+ZR=+-HzER 107,021 1,058,277 (40) 172332 266 (22,535) (413502 6971,226 7,351,046 28107 7,486,174

The notes on pages 90 to 192 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
HEBHERER

Year ended 31 December

BE+-B=+—RHILEE

2024 2023
—EINE 2=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M5k FHET FAET
Cash flows from operating activities REEBNIRERE
Cash generated from operations KEFRIRE 29(a) 1,316,925 743,063
Hong Kong profits tax paid BAEBHIE (48,480)  (134,996)
China corporate income tax paid SRR ZEFER (76,510) (82,960)
Overseas income tax paid BEEIINTIER (23,688) (29,714)
Interest paid BAFE (5,556) (5,376)
Net cash generated from operating activities REXBEBIRE T 1,162,691 490,017
Cash flows from investing activities REZHNRER=E
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE BERKE (126,876)  (213,001)
Payment for acquisition of a subsidiary, Wi — R B AR 2 A 70 kR
net of cash acquired BUIRE 32 (25,464) =
Payment for contingent consideration AR BZAIR 27 (44,022) =
Distributions from an investment at fair value ~ KB —IEZAFEt ABHEZ
through profit or loss BN DK 17 2,027 7,558
Proceed from disposal of an investment HE—BLENPMEMEE 411 S
Capital injection into an investment accounted ¥ —REER IARZRETE
for using the equity method 19 - (3,503)
Increase in short-term bank deposits G ERSRTT RGN (162,490) -
Interest received BUWH 8 20,661 36,733
Net cash used in investing activities KREZEFTRIRE 35 (335,753)  (172,213)
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHNIRERE
Dividends paid to the shareholders of ENHEEARERENRE
the Company (501,303) (430,190)
Payments for repurchase of the Company’s [EIFE A A BB AD Z IR
shares 25(a) (57,153) (84,726)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRNEEIHD 29(c) (19,830) (24,836)
Proceeds from issuance of shares in connection  Ft1TE B X 1T ID RIS TNEE
with the exercise of share options 8,147 13,830
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W HE— M B A B FFER R
in a subsidiary 18 (312) -
Net cash used in financing activities B BT RIRE /P (570,451)  (525,922)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash HERRESLEYREM,
equivalents GR2) 7#%8 256,487 (208,118)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FVRERIREEEY
of the year 2,863,597 3,160,238
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents  IREKRIBEEEYNEREIR (36,486) (88,523)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRAEKRINEEEY
of the year 24 3,083,598 2,863,597

The notes on pages 90 to 192 are an integral part of these consolidated ~ 590FE 192 B MM sk h 4R & M KR B EH 56
financial statements. 7o
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GENERAL INFORMATION

PAX Global Technology Limited (the “Company”) is an investment
holding company and together with its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "“Group”) are principally engaged in the
development and sales of electronic funds transfer point-of-sale
("E-payment Terminals”) products, provision of maintenance and
installation and payment solution services (collectively, referred to
as the "E-payment Terminals solutions business”).

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 20
December 2010.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000), unless
otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for financial assets measured at
fair value, contingent consideration payable and post-
employment benefit obligation, which are measured at fair
values.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R E M BRI
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

(a)

Amended standards and interpretation

adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amended
standards and interpretation for its annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2024:

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current — Amendments to HKAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants —
Amendments to HKAS 1

Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments
to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback -
Amendments to HKFRS 16

Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
— Amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Revised)

The amended standards and interpretation listed above
did not have any impact on the amounts recognised
in prior periods and are not expected to significantly
affect the current or future periods.

PAX GLOBAL TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

2

RAEERETBERES @

2.2

R

(@

KE BRI NE TR o
AEBER _ZE_MNE—HF—
HEEENEERESHBERT
TSR] AR K 5 He

s EBRMARTEIFERSE
D—BREGFEFIR
Z1E5]

e MBERZRORMGHIERD
BE-FEGERE
Sk 1E5]

s MEBMMEZHF-FTE
St EABIRRERY
BIREERETRZAEE]

e ERMAERXSMNEES
E-EF BB IRSER
F165R 2 1E5]

e MBRERZEI-—MEM
ABBZARBREE
FRZEHERZD
B-EBRESEST (&
HESPACT

EXFRAEEST R RER
HETHECHEINERT
BERXE BRBAEGHAE
N RRIBEREATE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R E M BRI

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(b) New and amended standards and

interpretation not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and amendments
to accounting standards and interpretation have been
published that are not mandatory for this reporting
period and have not been early adopted by the Group.

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 "Presentation of
Financial Statements”, introducing new requirements
that will help to achieve comparability of the financial
performance of similar entities and provide more
relevant information and transparency to users. Even
though HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or
measurement of items in the consolidated financial
statements, its impacts on presentation and disclosure
are expected to be pervasive, in particular those related
to the consolidated income statement and providing
management-defined performance measures within
the consolidated financial statements.

Management is currently assessing the detailed
implications of applying the new standard on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements. The Group
expects to apply the new standard from its mandatory
effective date of 1 January 2027. Retrospective
application is required, and so the comparative
information for the financial year ending 31 December
2026 will be restated in accordance with HKFRS 18.

In addition to the abovementioned changes in
presentation and disclosures, the Group is in the
process of assessing the impact of adopting other
new accounting standards and amendments to
accounting standards and interpretation on its current
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3

93

gkt e

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, price risk, cash
flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Market risk

(@)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group's foreign currency transactions are
mainly denominated in Renminbi (“RMB"),
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), United States dollar
("US$"), European dollar (“EUR"), Indian Rupee
(“INR") and Japanese Yen (“JPY"). The majority
of assets and liabilities are denominated in
RMB, HK$, US$, EUR, INR and JPY, and there
are no significant assets and liabilities that are
denominated in other currencies. The Group is
subject to foreign exchange risk arising from
future commercial transactions and recognised
assets and liabilities denominating in a currency
other than HK$, RMB, US$, EUR, INR and JPY,
which are the functional currencies of the major
operating companies within the Group. The
Group currently does not hedge the majority of
its foreign currency exposure.

The management considers the foreign exchange
risk with respect to US$ is not significant as HK$
is pegged to US$ and transactions denominated
in US$ are mainly carried out by entities with the
functional currency of HK$ or US$.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RS MW R M

currency
As at 31 December 2024, if RMB had weakened/

strengthened by 5% against HK$ with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the
year and equity of the Group would have been
approximately HK$48,000 lower/higher (2023:
HK$1,209,000 higher/lower), respectively, mainly
as a result of the foreign exchange difference
on translation of the RMB denominated current
accounts with related parties.

As at 31 December 2024, if EUR had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against HK$ with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for
the year and equity of the Group would have
been approximately HK$1,339,000 (2023:
HK$1,015,000) lower/higher, respectively, mainly
as a result of the foreign exchange difference on
translation of the EUR denominated cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables and current
account with a related party.

For the companies with RMB as their functional
currency

As at 31 December 2024, if HK$ and US$ had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against RMB
with all other variables held constant, post-
tax profit for the year and equity of the Group
would have been approximately HK$14,948,000
(2023: HK$13,679,000) higher/lower,
respectively, mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange difference on translation of the HK$
and US$ denominated current accounts with
related parties.

BRERARAE —TNEFH

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMBRREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BEEEREE @&
(a) Market risk (continued) (@) FHHERE @
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For the companies with HK$ as their functional METRENEEENA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R E M BRI

3

95

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

For the companies with EUR as their functional
currency

As at 31 December 2024, if US$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against EUR with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for
the year and equity of the Group would have
been approximately HK$8,883,000 (2023:
HK$6,900,000) higher/lower, respectively, mainly
as a result of the foreign exchange difference
on translation of the US$ denominated current
account with a related party.

For the company with INR as its functional
currency

As at 31 December 2024, if US$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against INR with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for
the year and equity of the Group would have
been approximately HK$6,900,000 (2023:
HK$6,178,000) higher/lower, respectively, mainly
as a result of the foreign exchange difference
on translation of the US$ denominated current
account with a related party.

For the company with JPY as its functional
currency

As at 31 December 2024, if US$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against JPY with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for
the year and equity of the Group would have
been approximately HK$3,263,000 (2023:
HK$4,634,000) higher/lower, respectively, mainly
as a result of the foreign exchange difference on
translation of the US$ denominated cash and cash
equivalents and current account with a related

party.

Price risk

The Group’s exposure to security price risk arises
from the fund investment. This investment is
classified in the consolidated balance sheet as
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL") (Note
17).

To manage the price risk associated with the
fund investment, the Group closely monitors the
performance and fundamentals of the portfolio
companies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R E M BRI

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The income and operating cash flows of the
Group and the Company are both substantially
independent of changes in market interest
rates. Both the Group and the Company have
no significant interest-bearing assets, except for
deposits placed with banks.

As at 31 December 2024, if interest rates on
all interest-bearing bank and cash deposits
had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for
the year and equity of the Group would have
been approximately HK$11,950,000 (2023:
HK$10,549,000) higher/lower, respectively, due
to higher/lower interest income earned on the
deposits.

As at 31 December 2024, there was no
outstanding interest-bearing borrowing in the
Group's consolidated balance sheet (2023:
same).

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from fund investment at FVPL, other
financial assets at amortised cost, trade and bills
receivables, restricted cash, short-term bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents.

The carrying amounts of fund investment at FVPL
(Note 17), other financial assets at amortised cost
(Note 21), trade and bills receivables (Note 21),
restricted cash (Note 23), short-term bank deposits
(Note 23) and cash and cash equivalents (Note 24)
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
in relation to financial assets.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(@)

(i)

Risk management

To manage this risk, deposits of the Group
are mainly placed with state-owned financial
institutions and reputable banks. The Group has
policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
reputable and creditworthy customers with an
appropriate financial strength, credit history and
an appropriate percentage of down payments.
The Group also has other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up actions are taken to
recover overdue debts.

In addition, the Group reviews regularly the
authorisation of credit limits to individual
customers and recoverable amounts of trade
receivables to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group has concentration of credit risk. Sales
of goods and services to the top five customers
constituted 26.7% (2023: 31.0%) of the Group’s
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024.
They accounted for approximately 35.3%
(2023: 34.1%) of the gross trade receivable
balances as at 31 December 2024. Collections
of outstanding receivable balances are closely
monitored on an ongoing basis to minimise such
credit risk.

Impairment of financial assets

Trade receivables for sales of goods and provision
of services of the Group are subject to the
expected credit loss model. While other financial
assets at amortised cost, bills receivables,
restricted cash, short-term bank deposits and
cash and cash equivalents are also subject to
the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment losses were immaterial.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. The Group measures the
expected credit losses on a combination of both
individual and collective basis.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
individual basis

The receivables relating to customers with known
financial difficulties or significant doubt on
collection of receivables are assessed individually
for provision for impairment losses. As at 31
December 2024, the balance of loss allowance in
respect of these individually assessed receivables
was HK$46,314,000 (2023: HK$46,474,000).

The following table presents the balances of
gross carrying amount and loss allowance in
respect of the individually assessed receivables as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023:
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis

Expected credit losses are also estimated by
grouping the remaining receivables based on
shared credit risk characteristics and collectively
assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking into
account the nature of the customer and its
geographical location, and applying the expected
credit loss rates to the respective gross carrying
amounts of the receivables.

The expected credit loss rates are determined
based on historical credit losses experienced
from the past periods and are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information such as
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables.

As at 31 December 2024, the balance of
loss allowance in respect of these collectively
assessed receivables was HK$35,645,000 (2023:
HK$43,303,000) based on the weighted average
expected credit loss rate of 1.38% (2023:
1.59%).

Receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Impairment
losses on receivables are presented as net
reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses)
on financial assets in the consolidated income
statement. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the
same line item.

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-
term bank deposits, bills receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost

There is no material loss allowance for cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term bank
deposits, bills receivables and other financial
assets at amortised cost as at 31 December 2024
(2023: same).
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEEKEE @
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BEIFERMEREZE @&
(c) Liquidity risk © ;m@ﬁﬁﬁ'/—lﬂ""

With prudent liquidity risk management, the Group
aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents
and ensure the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of available financing, including
short-term bank borrowings. Due to the dynamic
nature of the underlying businesses, the Group’s
finance department maintains flexibility in funding
by maintaining adequate amount of cash and cash
equivalents and flexibility in funding through having
available sources of financing.

Surplus cash held by the operating entities over
and above the balance required for working capital
management are transferred to interest-bearing bank
deposits with appropriate maturities to manage its
overall liquidity position. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group maintained cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$3,083,598,000 (2023:
HK$2,863,597,000) that are expected to be readily
available and sufficient to meet the cash outflows of its
financial liabilities, hence, management considers that
the Group's exposure to liquidity risk is not significant.

As at 31 December 2024, no banking facilities were
available to the Group (2023: same).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HHRKRERE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BEEMBEZ ®
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) © FTEETREE @
The table below analyses the Group's non-derivative TRIBBERSHARESHNIEH
financial liabilities into relevant maturity grouping BN THES T $4AEE
based on the remaining period at the end of the HIETTESMBENEI G
reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The ZEAHABR] c FERAEEN S
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual EAGHRMIRRERE-H
undiscounted cash flows. Certain balances due within REBRNEERR BN+
12 months equal their carrying values as the impact of BARNEENE TEREER
discounting is not significant. HiREBE-
Between
Less than 1and Over
1 year 5 years 5 years Total
MR- —ELfF AEUE met
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FET

At 31 December 2024 RIZE_mE+”-A=+—H
Trade payables FE(TERR 937,211 - - 937,211
Other payables and accruals H (TR FE 5t 30 TE 191,123 4,691 - 195,814
Lease liabilities HEAE 21,145 48,378 40,428 109,951
Total 4t 1,149,479 53,069 40,428 1,242,976
At 31 December 2023 RZB_=%+"A=+—H
Trade payables FE(TERR 888,621 - - 888,621
Other payables and accruals HAnE AR R B st 7IE 176,207 10,514 - 186,721
Lease liabilities HEaE 25,593 56,966 51,207 133,766
Total Wt 1,090,421 67,480 51,207 1,209,108
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEEKEE @
3.2 Capital management 32 BAXEE

The Group regards its shareholders’ equity as capital. The
Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares, repurchase the Company’s shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as total debt divided by total capital.
Total debt includes borrowings of the Group. Total capital is
calculated as equity as shown in the consolidated balance
sheet plus total debt.

The Group did not have any borrowings as at 31 December
2024 and the gearing ratio is not applicable (2023: same).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HHRKRERE®
3.3 Fair value estimation 33 RFEME
(i)  Fair value hierarchy () 2RFEER
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TRAMAERER S ZIOF
instruments carried at fair values as at 31 December kRZEZ=4+"A=+—H
2024 and 2023 by level of valuation techniques used st 2R FEFT RN G ER
to measure fair values. Such inputs are categorised into EBHREDHNEAFEARNE
three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows: MTRE ZERABIKERES
NFEEBHAN=ZEE RN
T
Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for . HEEEXEERN TR
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). MIHHRE CREHAR) (8
—#R) o
Inputs other than quoted prices included . BFREENE—HNRE
within level 1 that are observable for the asset S BEREBENAER
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or ZEE (BER) B
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2). (BPREEBHKEE) I A
B EIHR o
Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based - WFRBEABRRWHEH
on observable market data (that is, unobservable EMETHNEERAR
inputs) (level 3). A BE BT HRE
N ABE) (E=4)
The following table presents the Group's financial asset TREINAEER S ZMHF
and liability that are measured at fair values as at 31 +ZE=+—HERFESE
December 2024. ZEMEERBR
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B—k B B4R ek

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FERT FERT FERT

Financial asset EREE
Fund investment at fair value BATESABGRZ
through profit or loss HeKE - - 88,242 88,242
Financial liability ERIARE
Contingent consideration payable at AT EF ABZEZ
fair value through profit or loss T EARE - - (29,393) (29,393)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

()

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
The following table presents the Group's financial
assets that are measured at fair values as at 31

MR EIE @

3.3 AT EMME @
() X FEER@
TREJNAEEBRZZZ=F
+A=+—BRATEHE

December 2023. ZERBE-
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— ot F=M ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Fund investment at fair value BAFESABRRZ
through profit or loss HeE - - 96,918 96,918
Investment at fair value through BRATEsFAEMEZARZZ
other comprehensive income ®E - - 411 411

There were no transfers of financial assets
and liabilities between the fair value hierarchy
classifications during the year (2023: same).

(a)

Financial instruments in Level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and trading and equity securities) is
based on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price used
for financial assets is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

()

(0

Financial instruments in Level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by
using valuation techniques which maximise
the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

Financial instruments in Level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument
is included in level 3.

For details of the fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs, please refer
to Note 17 (financial assets measured at fair
value) and Note 27(c) (contingent consideration
payable) to the consolidated financial
statements.

(ii) Valuation processes

A team within the Group's finance department
performs the valuations of financial assets and
liabilities required for financial reporting purposes,
including level 3 fair values. As part of the valuation
process, this team reports directly to the Chief
Financial Officer (CFO) and external valuers will be
engaged, if necessary.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEEKEE @

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
measured at amortised cost
The fair value of the following financial assets and liabilities
approximate their carrying values:

. Other financial assets at amortised cost

o Trade and bills receivables

° Restricted cash

° Short-term bank deposits

° Cash and cash equivalents
o Trade payables

° Other payables and accruals

. Lease liabilities

3.5 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
No financial assets and financial liabilities were subject to
offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and
similar arrangements as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(@) Impairment of receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of receivables
based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
credit loss rates (Note 3.1(b)(ii)). The Group uses judgment
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group's past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking
estimates at the end of the reporting period.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

(b) Provision for inventories

(c)

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. The cost of inventories is written down to net
realisable value when there is an objective evidence that
the cost of inventories may not be recoverable. The cost of
inventories may not be recoverable if those inventories are
aged and damaged, if they have become wholly or partially
obsolete, or if their selling prices have declined. The cost
of inventories may also not be recoverable if the estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sales
have increased.

The amount written down in the consolidated income
statement is the difference between the carrying value
and net realisable value of the inventories. In determining
whether the inventories can be recoverable, significant
judgment is required. In making this judgment, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent by
all means to which the amount will be recovered.

Income taxes and deferred taxation

Significant judgment is required in determining the Group's
provision for income tax. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate determination is
uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
difference will impact the current income tax and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised by the Group
when management considers it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. The outcome of
their actual utilisation may be different.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS,

NET

()

(i)

(iii)

Material accounting policy

Revenue from sales of E-payment Terminals

products

Revenue from sales of E-payment Terminals products are
recognised when control of the products has transferred,
being when the products are delivered to the customers,
the customer has accepted the products and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required
before the payment is due.

Revenue from provision of services

Revenue from provision of services are recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered.
Revenue from maintenance and installation and payment
solution services is recognised overtime based on the
actual service provided as at the end of the reporting
period as a proportion of the total services to be provided
because the customer receives and consumes the benefits
simultaneously.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a customer
pays consideration, or is contractually required to pay
consideration and the amount is already due, before
the Group recognises the related revenue. The Group
recognised its contract liabilities under other payables and
accruals as receipt in advance from customers (Note 27) in
the consolidated balance sheet.

5

WA ~ ELfthU A R ELfth ik a5 79 88

EXREHEER
() HETFZ(TRIEERFFHRA

HEBFZTRIKEDRAEHA
G0 E BV R AR By AR R RT
MEERXNTFER BEREE
MERREZETEREMNERLN
RNETEE-

EEMRXE > BRI B MFE S
B DU AR A (B HR {3 7R AT BY B FE R
RSN W BB R - (E Rl ST
WRRIA o

(i) FERIRFESFTIFMA
REBRFBASBASHEHRRSE
WEHBEARR EERZE
REZBRTERBRFWAT
RIERREMARBRERHE RS
(FREMMBERBZ—&9D)
PR T LARESY AR TR EER
Ry RS R fE A Fm o

(i) ZAIEE
BNERERAEEREDARK
AR RERIARBRENTE
SMREESRERAKRRES &
EERGEEERBERTESRHE
BNEEAEMEMRRRES
AT FEWE A RIAE (M5E27) °
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, 5

NET (continued)

The Group is principally engaged in the development and sales
of E-payment Terminals products, provision of maintenance and
installation and payment solution services. Revenue, other income

Uy BE @R

WA ~ EfthUg A R Efth i a5 78 88 i)

FEBTIENFHERFEEF AR

REEERZERINBERS

R - N ERSHERBIUA ~ N

and other gains, net recognised during the year are as follows: REMWmFEROT
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—HLEE
2024 2023
k- 11 - S-S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue WA
Sales of E-payment Terminals products THE BT TR IHE @ 5,706,490 6,424,798
Provision of services RIHAR TS 338,388 284,526
6,044,878 6,709,324
Other income Hk A
Interest income FEUA 20,661 36,733
Government subsidies (note (7)) B AL (YEEG)) 5,800 11,051
Value-added tax refunds (note (i) IBEMRIRI (L) 21,951 22,364
Others Hih 36,960 24,978
85,372 95,126
Other gains, net Hithh #7388
Fair value gain on a contingent consideration payable —IEfE{S B ARMEZ A FEUW 4,562 =
Fair value loss on an investment —IBR A TES AETR
at fair value through profit or loss wEZ N FERBE (3,701) (2,973)
Net gain on liquidation of a subsidiary (note (iii)) BE—RENEB AR Z R (BEkii) - 15,593
861 12,620
Notes: B 5
()  The amounts mainly represent the Group's entitlement to () ZEHIBEAEENREARLNE
government subsidies in relation to sales and research and (MhE)) SHERMETHEREER
development of self-developed software products in the People’s M= A BB 8 b o 52 BT /i AL I8 B ok
Republic of China (the “PRC"). There are no unfulfilled conditions or R AR A S M AS R R E AR o o

other contingencies attaching to these government subsidies.

(i) The amounts mainly represent the Group’s entitlement to value- (i == %EInJEEZ!K%IJEQEPﬁﬁ%%E'J
added tax refunds from the tax bureaus of the PRC. There are no BERRIR - ZIBERBRRIBZERME
unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these 18 {4 S TR (R E AR o
value-added tax refunds.

(i) In July 2023, the liquidation process of Shanghai New Kashuo iy LEEWEREEEMERAR (TLEF
Information Technology Limited (“Shanghai Kashuo”) was R MEEEFER S -_=FtA
completed. Upon the completion of the liquidation process, the ERo-EEHEREFREMRE > AEERFS
Group recorded a net gain of approximately HK$15,593,000, BN 4915,593,0008 700 &R B # 0
resulting from the reversal of its net liabilities amounting to HFa @5 5451,956,0008 7T & R
approximately HK$51,956,000 and the derecognition of non- HRFZERERRIEREARIDG
controlling interest and exchange reserve amounting to 44,349,000 7T 527,986,000/ 7T ©

approximately HK$44,349,000 and HK$7,986,000, respectively.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Material accounting policy

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing the performance of
the operating segments, has been identified as the Executive
Directors that make strategic decisions.

The chief operating decision maker reviews the Group’s internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources.
The Group has determined the operating segments based on the
internal reports reviewed by the chief operating decision maker
to make strategic decisions. The Group is principally engaged in
the E-payment Terminals solutions business and considers that it
operates in one single business segment.

The chief operating decision maker assesses the performance of
the Group from a geographic perspective based on the locations
of the subsidiaries in which revenues are generated and the
performance of the operating segments is assessed based on the
measurement of segmental operating profit/(loss).

The Group primarily operates in Hong Kong, the PRC (excluding
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan), the United States of America (the
“US") and Italy.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R E M BRI

SEER

EREHER
RENPBURZTEEERREMRER
NAMKE RN HLAEKR - BEF N
ERAFLEENERBEHNEIELER
RECHRESFHRBRRNVAITE
%0

FTERKERREBRTLERRIFRSEU
HERBAESEER - AEBREHE
BEERREMERUFHRBERER
NBREMEEEFT DR - LB R
REBFXIREBRDBEEZ AR
HICEB—%XHB DR\

FTELERRENMEAERELERA
ZHBLAIMNUENGEERNERERER
REDERLEET, (BB Nt ETE
KEDEHRIR -

ZEBRITENEB PR (FE BRMAR
BRI  ZBERBEANEE -
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6 HDEEM®
An analysis of the Group's revenue and results for the year by REAZDBRE DN AERRARES
segment is as follows: DRWE

Year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-ME+ZA=+—ALEE

PRC,
excluding Elimination
Hong Kong, and
Macauand  Hong Kong corporate
Taiwan and others us Italy expenses Total
HE (FE
RPIR i =)
Bk  FEREM £ BEAR TRER g

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TER TEx TER TER TER

Revenue from external customers RESMEE R HWA 509,096 4,024,073 883,514 628,195 - 6,044,878
Inter-segment revenue DEEWA 3,624,997 546,075 - - (417,072 -
Total revenue BRI 4,134,093 4,570,148 883,514 628,195 (4,171,072) 6,044,878
Segmental earnings/(losses) before interest ~ DEERFIEER KRB ER

expense, taxes, depreciation and amortisation  #35E1Z R,/ (5518)

("EBITDA"/"(LBITDA)") (TEBITDAJ,/T(LBITDA) 1) 596,351 401,093 (230,868) 47,525 140,101 954,202
Depreciation (Note 7) e (WEt7) (49,534) (16,740) (17,909) (8,602) - (92,785)
Amortisation (Note 7) B (H5E7) - (3,792) - (1,462) - (5,254)
Segmental operating profit/(loss) HEICE R/ (5518 546,817 380,561 (248,777) 37,461 140,101 856,163
Finance costs HHER (5,556)
Share of results of investments accounted R EARZ R EEE

for using the equity method 10,638
Profit before income tax FaPrGM AT 861,245
Income tax expense FIRiEY (140,323)
Profit for the year FE&ER 720,922
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6

gkt e

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6 SEEN®
Year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z=F+"A=1+—-HLEE
PRC,
excluding Elimination
Hong Kong, and
Macau and Hong Kong corporate
Taiwan and others us Italy expenses Total
FE (B
P i)l
372 BROY ERREM E35] ol rEER ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHER TR TR TET TERT
Revenue from external customers RENDERBBA 818,621 4,346,905 1,062,515 481,283 - 6,709,324
Inter-segment revenue DERKRA 4,424,329 1,059,716 = = (5,484,045) =
Total revenue EALON 5,242,950 5,406,621 1,062,515 481,283 (5,484,045) 6,709,324
Segmental earnings/(losses) before interest  HERFISER RIB MER
expense, taxes, depreciation and amortisation ~ #S5I A,/ (551
("EBITDA"/"(LBITDA)") (TEBITDA 1,/ T (LBITDA) 1) 840,774 581,452 (121,169) 49,780 (30,826) 1,320,011
Depreciation (Note 7) e (ME7) (39,199) (9,397) (9,063) (4,726) = (62,385)
Amortisation (Note 7) B (sE7) = (1,786) - (1,474) - (3,260)
Segmental operating profit/(loss) DELEEN/ (58) 801,575 570,269 (130,232) 43,580 (30,826) 1,254,366
Finance costs HHER (5,376)
Share of results of investments accounted EGZRRERENRZREEE
for using the equity method 4,974
Profit before income tax RS AT R 1,253,964
Income tax expense PrgiREx (88,861)
Profit for the year FERR 1,165,103
The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and N ZEZNF+ZA=+—HHNREE
additions to non-current assets for the year ended 31 December ErBEURBEEZZ_MNOE+ZAH
2024 are as follows: —t+—HIEFEFERHEENHTENT
As at 31 December 2024
RZB_ME+-A=+-A
PRC,
excluding
Hong Kong,
Macauand  Hong Kong
Taiwan and others us Italy  Elimination Total
HE (B
el
aERN) FERHEM %H BEX# i &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FERT FER FER FHER THET
Segment assets NEBEE 7,625,984 5,608,909 1,191,934 447,990 (5,705,312) 9,169,505
Segment liabilities NEaE 1,420,252 3,489,007 1,904,796 336,890 (5,546,027) 1,604,918
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6 SEEN®
Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-T-ME+ZA=+—HLEFE
PRC,
excluding
Hong Kong,
Macauand  Hong Kong
Taiwan and others us Italy  Elimination Total
HE (B
MR
aER) EFERHEM E3E] BEAR gl B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHER FHET TET TET TER
Additions to non-current assets FRBHEE (FEESHIAR
(excluding financial instruments and EILFEREE) WAE
deferred income tax assets) 51,224 115,215 11,600 20,404 - 198,443

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and

A—F— =
N — < — —

F+ZB=+—HHNOEE

additions to non-current assets for the year ended 31 December
2023 are as follows:

ERGEURBE_SE_=ZF+"A
= t+—HLEFEEFRBHEENABENT
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As at 31 December 2023
RZE2_=F+_"F=+-H

PRC,
excluding
Hong Kong,
Macau and Hong Kong
Taiwan and others us Italy Elimination Total
FE (B
i)
BERSY  BAREM £S5 XA i B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET FiER FiER FER THET
Segment assets NEEE 6,872,921 5,254,775 1,553,660 381,888 (4,987,915) 9,075,329
Segment liabilities NEEE 1,283,425 2,611,584 2,016,231 289,307 (4,611,392) 1,589,155
Year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ=F+"A=1+-HLEE
PRC,
excluding
Hong Kong,
Macau and Hong Kong
Taiwan and others us Italy Elimination Total
FE (-
PR
BB EEREM E3E] BARF g Rk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TR FTERT TR TET
Additions to non-current assets FRBEE (FEESHMIAR
(excluding financial instruments and BIEFEREE) RE
deferred income tax assets) 198,962 29,697 22,345 30,057 - 281,061
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

In 2024, additions to non-current assets mainly comprise additions
to property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets including additions resulting from acquisitions
through a business combination (2023: additions to property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets).

In 2024, revenue of approximately HK$647,610,000 (2023:
HK$870,796,000) is derived from the largest customer,
representing 10.7% (2023: 13.0%) of the total revenue, which
is attributable to the Hong Kong operating segment (2023:
same); revenue of approximately HK$287,152,000 (2023:
HK$479,259,000) is derived from the second largest customer,
representing 4.8% (2023: 7.1%) of the total revenue, which is
attributable to the US operating segment (2023: same).

Information provided to the Executive Directors is measured
in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group is mainly domiciled in Hong Kong, the PRC, the US and
Italy.

The Group’s non-current assets by geographical location, which is
determined by the geographical location in which the assets are
located, are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RS MW R M

DEER @

R _E_NECFRBEENRTEETE
BREVE - BERLE CAREERE
FREEBRBREHAHKBNAE
T_-F  YPE - -BERRBEREREE
ENRE) -

\_V_EE AE4I647,610,000% 7T

—E =4 870,796,000 7T) YUK
ATBKRERRZR 7%!4517\15,%514&7\
B10.7% (ZE_=4% :13.0%) L 5FE
REBEBSE (ZTZEZ=ZF @ L) -
AE#287,152,0008 T (ZE - =& !
479,259,000/ 7T) WA T ZRBE AR
P ZERAMGEBIRARNLIE% (ZE =
Fi71%) IHBREEEBSE (TS
Z=ZEIEL) -

MATEFRHNENOSEL AER
BMBRERANERB G E -

FERBETEUEBR FE - ZEREARF
7yt it o

RZBEEMEME ONEERFERHE
EHINWMT :

As at 31 December
®W+=ZB=+—H
2024 2023
—EINE T "=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT

FEREBEE

Non-current assets
PRC, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

Hong Kong and others AR REAM
us ESEl
Italy BAF

hE (FEBEFREE

~~~~~ BERIN) 1,177,473 1,229,787
245,116 192,943

41,837 47,260

58,960 52,118

1,523,386 1,522,108

BERKEKARAR —TNEFHR 114



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R E M BRI

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 EMEHESHNEX

SPAHENT HERZ - THERKSE
MEEZ (REHBRERIFE IREFES

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling expenses, administrative
expenses and net (reversal of impairment losses)/impairment losses

115

on financial assets are analysed as follows: BRWWT :
Year ended 31 December
HE+-_HA=+—HILEE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Costs of inventories sold (Note 20) EXRFEMA (F5E20) 3,022,572 3,538,104
Provision for obsolete inventories (Note 20) REFERME (Mi5E20) 20,115 40,108
Employee benefit expenses EBEEMAX (BEESEWHD)

(including directors’ emoluments) (Note 10) (fFz%10) 922,989 975,903
Research and development costs RN 683,513 644,075
Sales commission HERE 157,330 112,646
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M BERZEITE (EE14)

(Note 14) 63,673 28,235
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15) ERAREERE (fisE15) 29,112 34,150
Short-term lease expenses (Note 15) SRHRFREE A (MfsE15) 11,391 18,513
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) mTEEEHE (PsE16) 5,254 3,260
Remuneration to the Company’s auditor KA BIZBENEN &

— Group's annual audit and —AEEFEZHM R EMEA

other audit related services Z SRR BY AR TS 2,500 2,500
- non-audit services —IEZBUBRTS 668 533
Remuneration to other auditors Hhz M & 1,190 855
Losses on disposals of property, HEYZE -BEREREN

plant and equipment, net (Note 29(b)) 518 J$ 88 (FEE29(b)) 258 725
Net (reversal of impairment losses)/impairment SREEY CRERRBRRFEE

losses on financial assets (Note 21(b)) REFEE (EE21(0) (6,963) 1,443
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e MBmRMsE

8 NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE LOSSES

The net foreign exchange losses recognised in administrative
expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
HK$36,556,000 (2023: HK$38,882,000).

SMER SR

HE S NMFE+_BA=1+—HIEFERT
BE ARSI INE S 518 436,556,00078
FT (& =%:38,882,000387T) ©

9 FINANCE COSTS MBER

Year ended 31 December
HE+-_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023

“EINME T =

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 15) HEasMEER (MEE15) 5,556 5,376

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)

10 EEEMFEX (BEEFEME)

Year ended 31 December
BE+-B=t+—HILEE
2024 2023
—EINE 2=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT

Wages and salaries TEKH®

Social security and pension costs

Employee benefit obligation — defined
benefit plans

Share-based payment expenses (Note 25(b))

836,608 920,916

HERERERERAE 54,099 54,423
BEEHNEH - A TEEFHtE

614 564

17 2B R (M¥5E25(b) 31,668 -

922,989 975,903
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 included two
Directors (2023: three) whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis shown in Note 35. The emoluments payable to the
remaining three (2023: two) individuals during the year are as

10 EEEMEX (BREEZNE) @

hmREHAL
rERBEE_S_NME+_A=+—H
tEELIREaHFALTBERmE (°ZF
TZE I ZH)ESE, HSERMESS
oMK XFEELRT =% (=
T_ZE WA ATHEBEENOT

117

follows:

Year ended 31 December

HE+-B=+—RAILEE

2024 2023
—EIMgE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e ENAEYRETR 8,699 4,473
Discretionary bonus FIETEAL 15,681 11,802
Social security and pension cost HERERRAKERA 311 80
Share-based payment expenses BB HER 6,743 =
31,434 16,355

The emoluments fell within the following bands: BN T AR
Number of individuals

A¥
2024 2023
—BomE —T=
Emolument bands Bl <& 48 B

HK$7,000,001 — HK$7,500,000 7,000,001 75—7,500,000%8 75 - 1
HK$8,000,001 — HK$8,500,000 8,000,0017&75—8,500,0007 71 1 -
HK$8,500,001 — HK$9,000,000 8,500,001775—9,000,000/ 75 1 -
HK$9,000,001 — HK$9,500,000 9,000,001775—9,500,0007 75 - 1
HK$14,000,001 — HK$14,500,000 14,000,001 75— 14,500,000 7T 1 -
3 2
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FriSHM%

Year ended 31 December

BE+_-_A=+—HILEE
2024 2023

TEINE 2=

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET THET

Current income tax on profit for the year FE @A BHPISR

— China corporate income tax — R ZEPTER 107,400 145,702

- Hong Kong profits tax —&BFER 38,486 71,495

— Overseas profits tax —BINFIRIR 25,258 31,425
Tax incentives for research and development 7 AR B 5 AR S BV B /B A B L

expenses available for the subsidiaries MEEANRFESR

incorporated in the PRC (note (a)) (ffz¥(a)) (67,907)  (131,301)
Over provision in prior years, net BEFEBREEE B (159) (181)
Total current income tax EHAFT 1SR AREE 103,078 117,140
Deferred income tax (Note 28) IRIEFTISR (M93E28) 37,245 (28,279)
Income tax expense Frigfip 140,323 88,861
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% BE_Z_NF+-A=+—HIFE>
(2023: same) on the estimated assessable profit for the year ended ERNERNBHEGTERRERRRE
31 December 2024. 165% (ZFZ=F 1 [@L) fFH#&HE-
Taxes on overseas profits have been calculated at the rates of tax BINEANHNRIBERBENAEBRKLEE
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates, based BENBEREBNIRITER 2B KR8
on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect FBAIMEENIRITRESE -
thereof.
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1
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The Group obtained an incentive from the PRC tax authority relating
to the research and development expenses of the subsidiaries in
the PRC. Under such tax incentive rule, the Group may claim an
additional tax deduction up to 100% of the relevant research and
development expenses incurred (“R&D Tax Incentive”).

On 21 June 2023, the State Taxation Administration and the
Ministry of Finance of the PRC jointly issued Public Notice No. 11
of 2023 ("PN 11") to enhance the claiming process of the R&D
Tax Incentive. Pursuant to the PN 11, the Group considered the tax
incentive rule was substantially enacted when the relevant research
and development expenses incurred; as such, an additional R&D Tax
Incentive amounting to HK$72,786,000 was recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC effective from
1 January 2008 (the “CIT Law"), companies in the PRC are subject
to income tax of 25% unless preferential rate is applicable.

Pursuant to Caishui Circular 49 of 2016 jointly released by the
Ministry of Finance, the State Taxation Administration, the National
Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology of the PRC and the amendments
of the relevant tax rules and requirements of the eligibility for
the tax incentives, management performed self-assessment for
Pax Computer Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Pax Computer
Shenzhen”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group located in
the Shenzhen Special Economic Zone, on the eligibility for the
tax incentives. Pax Computer Shenzhen was accredited as High
and New Technology Enterprises (“HNTE”) and is entitled to a
preferential tax rate of 15%. As such, the applicable corporate
income tax rate of Pax Computer Shenzhen was 15% for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: same).
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11 FRiEBEX @
The taxation on the Group's profit before income tax differs from REBRPTERBNGEF IR IESR R A E B
the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted REEENEHENSHER GM B INEF
average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities in HMEMMABENIERERNERDT !

the respective jurisdictions as follows:

Year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=1+—HLEE
2024 2023
—EomE —E”=
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT

Profit before income tax BRFTISIR AT R A 861,245 1,253,964
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to 2% & B B SR P & 4 p9E I P9 E B

profits in the respective countries BEMREGENRIE 146,467 182,007
Income not subject to taxation BEMRAIUA (6,972) (3,448)
Tax incentives for research and development 74 A B0 5 17 AR 3L BV Y /B A Bl BL A B2

expenses available for the subsidiaries BERNRBKER

incorporated in the PRC (67,907) (131,301)
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes FMIRFBE M S A A RS 4,876 4,413
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax was ~ SREERIELEFTIS R BIFRIEES 18

recognised 64,338 40,347
Withholding tax AR IE S 1,043
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses — BjFRB{E KRR 2 RIEEGE (320) (4,019)
Over provision in prior years, net BEFEBRERE PR (159) (181)

140,323 88,861

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 17.0% for the year BE_Z_NF+-A=+—HIFE"
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 14.5%). The change is caused TNEFEHBRREAE17.0% (CE_=4F:
by the change in the profitability mix of the Group’s subsidiaries in 14.5%) - REB T HRAEB R ZEH BRI
the respective countries. BABIBMENAE HIREET R -
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12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12

(a) Basic (a)
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
for the year attributable to the owners of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year.

sREA

Bk
BREXBMHREARBEE AR
LEREEmMFRUERNBEITESN
EERMEFHIEEE -

Year ended 31 December

B#E+_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EomE —=-=
Profit attributable to the owners of KABHEB ARELEF (FET
the Company (HK$'000) 713,427 1,155,164
Weighted average number of ordinary BRITEIMEBRMETHH
shares outstanding (thousand shares) (Fh2) 1,066,117 1,074,746
Basic earnings per share attributable to RABIHEBE ANELERERET
the owners of the Company (HK$ per share) (& 8% 7T) 0.669 1.075
(b) Diluted (b) #HE

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all potentially dilutive ordinary
shares. The Company has one category of potentially dilutive
ordinary shares: share options. For the share options, a
calculation is done to determine the number of shares that
could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average market share price of the Company’s shares for the
period) based on the monetary value of the subscription
rights attached to outstanding share options. The number of
shares calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of
the share options.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RS MW R M

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 12 BREN @
(b) Diluted (continued) (b) #E @

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the HE_Z_NMERZZEZ=_F+Z
calculation of diluted earnings per share was based on B=+—HBLLEE > SREERFT
the profit attributable to the owners of the Company and RIBANTER ABEG R RERER
the adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares BRMEBTHEZTERMEAE
outstanding assuming the conversion of all potentially BTN BRI HEEE &t
dilutive ordinary shares, which was calculated as follows: BHEWNT

Year ended 31 December

BE+_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023

Profit attributable to the owners of RABVEA ANELRERN (FET)

the Company (HK$'000) 713,427 1,155,164
Weighted average number of ordinary B 2177 9MNZ 18 IR NN 19

shares outstanding (thousand shares)  (F &) 1,066,117 1,074,746
Adjustments for share options TEBRIEELNARE (TR

(thousand shares) 18,390 24,590
Weighted average number of SR ERT S IBRINE

ordinary shares for diluted FHE (TR

earnings per share (thousand shares) 1,084,507 1,099,336
Diluted earnings per share KABEE ANELEREERT

attributable to the owners of (SR ET)

the Company (HK$ per share) 0.658 1.051
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13 DIVIDENDS

In 2024, an interim dividend of HK$0.24 per ordinary share
(2023: HK$0.21 per ordinary share) was declared, amounting to
approximately HK$254,809,000 (2023: HK$225,464,000). A final
dividend of HK$0.25 per ordinary share for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$0.23 per ordinary share), amounting
to approximately HK$265,426,000 (2023: HK$246,056,000)
(assuming there will be no change in the number of shares in
issue on or before the record date for determining the entitlement
of final dividend), is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. These financial statements do not reflect the
proposed final dividend payable.

13

HQ I%\

RIE_NE AR EERTHRES
fREEAR024B T (CE_=ZF . EREE
f20.217870) » & #49254,809,00078 7T (—
T T = 4F 1 225,464,000 7T) o B FEE G
RBEFEATESZEEREE_S_NE+—

B=+—RHIEFEZRER ,%H ZiENR
025BT (ZE-_=F: 8K %Eﬂyoza

BT 0 AB£9265,426,00058 T (B =

4 1 246,056,000 7T) (BR% E?’*TTHR@%&
BENABTEREREZEAMMWEEB T

Z R ERE "@J) 2B B $R AR AL S PR FE A
BEARRE

Year ended 31 December

HE+_"_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EomE —T-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Interim dividend declared of HK$0.24 BEIREREERKR0. 248
(2023: HK$0.21) per ordinary share B (CTE =4 021871 254,809 225,464
Proposed final dividend of HK$0.25 FRE@IK0.25BTiEE R
(2023: HK$0.23) per ordinary share RE (T2 T=4:0.23%87T) 265,426 246,056
520,235 471,520
14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE- -BEKRKE
Material accounting policy BBk
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using %% BMEREZENITELEHZ LA 1GH
the straight-line method to allocate cost to their residual values MEXDREMRAEFEREME - FTERA
at their estimated depreciation rates, as follows: FEXRMT
Buildings 2% - 10% BT 2% - 10%
Leasehold improvements 20% or over lease terms, HEMFELE 20% 5% EFHA
whichever is shorter UBREEARE)

123

Office furniture and equipment 18% - 25%

Plant and equipment 9% - 33%

Motor vehicles 18% - 25%

No provision for depreciation is made on construction in progress
until such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready
for intended use.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT(continued)

14 YE -BEKRSRE@®

Construction Office
Land and in progress Leasehold  furniture and Plant and Motor
buildings (note) improvements equipment equipment vehicles Total
Tk ERIR HE WAE
&F (Mt 5%) MEEE  FERRE BERRE HE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR TER FHET TR TER TR TR
At 1 January 2024 RZE-ZME-B—H
Cost A 868,924 - 56,041 86,150 55,974 12,897 1,079,986
Accumulated depreciation RitirE (15,175) - (14,504) (47,281) (41,855) (10,360) (129,175)
Net book amount REIE 853,749 - 41,537 38,869 14,119 2,537 950,811
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_E-_ME+-A=+-ALEE
Opening net book amount HBESE 853,749 = 0,537 38,869 14,119 2537 950,811
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) KE—-BHBAR (H532) - - - 238 - - 238
Additions RE 507 - 41,014 33,481 7,673 1,087 83,762
Disposals HE - - - (238) = (20) (258)
Depreciation (Note 7) & (H37) (24,282) e (11,581) (20,601) (6,326) (883) (63,673)
Exchange realignment ERBEE (26,647) - (2.433) (1,544) (768) (92) (31,484)
Closing net book amount HREEEE 803,327 - 68,537 50,205 14,698 2,629 939,396
At 31 December 2024 RZB_ME+-A=+-B
Cost A 841,807 - 93,961 114,258 57,767 13,384 1121177
Accumulated depreciation RitinE (38,480) - (25,424) (64,053) (43,069) (10,755) (181,781)
Net book amount RESE 803,327 - 68,537 50,205 14,698 2,629 939,396
At 1 January 2023 RZBZ=F-A-H
Cost A 7,909 724,015 15,779 62,451 53,946 11,826 875,926
Accumulated depreciation RitinE (6,865) - (12,421) (41,116) (36,528) (9,624) (106,554)
Net book amount REZFE 1,044 724,015 3,358 21335 17,418 2,202 769,372
Year ended 31 December 2023 BECB-_=F+_A=+-HLEE
Opening net book amount BIRESE 1,044 724,015 3,358 21,335 17,418 2,202 769,372
Additions RE - 158,680 4171 27,563 3,604 1,334 232,358
Transfer (note) A () 866,880 (866,380) = = = = =
Disposals HE = = (249) (476) = = (725)
Depreciation (Note 7) i (H37) (8,626) 2 (2,629 (9,606) (6,421) (953) (28,235)
Exchange realignment ERHAE (5,549) (15,815) (120) 53 (482) (46) (21,959)
Closing net book amount BRREFE 853,749 = 41,537 38,869 14,119 2,537 950,811
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+ZA=+-H
Cost i 868,924 - 56,041 86,150 55,974 12,897 1,079,986
Accumulated depreciation RiHnE (15,175) - (14,504) (47,281) (41,855) (10,360) (129,175)
Net book amount REFE 853,749 - 41,537 38,869 14,119 2,537 950,811
Note: B 5

In 2023, the construction in progress represents two PRC property
development projects of the PAX Smart Terminals Industrial Park in
Huizhou City and the PRC headquarters in Shenzhen City. These projects
have been completed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Depreciation expense of HK$3,676,000 (2023: HK$3,110,000)
has been charged to cost of sales and HK$59,997,000 (2023:
HK$25,125,000) has been charged to administrative expenses.

R =F AEENTERIRIEMER

N

HYEEEBEESNAMUNENTNEES
BERMEZXERMUNFI B R E AR %
ZBEEERBE_SE_=F+-_B=+—H
IEEEREM e

FERE3,676,0008 0 (ZE - =
13,110,000 7m) Bt AEER KK
59,997,0007 7T (& — =4 : 25,125,000
BIT) BEFATTEER -
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R E M BRI

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

125

Material accounting policy

()

(i)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
fixed lease payments. Lease payments to be made under
reasonably certain extension options are also included in
the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group,
where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received and makes adjustments specific to
the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security.

PAX GLOBAL TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

15 FRAEEEREERR
EAGEHK

(0

(i)

REEESE
EREEE-—RNREENABFH
HEEH (UREERE) NEE
BMOATLUNE -MASEEGEMRE
EETEEEEEE AERAESR
ERHHEEENDIERFEHRRNT
LU E -

HERR
HEEREREBEEHEE R F
RE-REGEMEESITHELE
EEENEAENEECRI S5
AHBRFEZR-

HMEMREBEERMRES X
T LARGER o fi SRR B 5 i B TE = A
X (HAERAEN—RER -8
ERABANEEEEHF K RE
B AR AR LUSEIRIE R iR 8E
LURFR B IR R AR B AR R
PREEEABLEENEERR
FEHNES MY AR R

REEREERANER  AEEEA
FEER T ERMERNABARIE
BHNE=ZTHMESHEIRL L
B LURBEERE=ZTHEN
RHMEFRENES RETHRE
RIBERRRMAFE PR E
ENN LR




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBmRMsE

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(continued)

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet
The consolidated balance sheet shows the following
amounts relating to the leases in respect of land use rights,
office premises, factory and warehouses:

15 FRAEEEREEEE®

() MEREEERBRERZNE

MEBERARIITUTELMIE
RARE-MAEME-IHKREEZ
HEARIIRIR

As at 31 December

®+=ZB=+—H
2024 2023
—EomE —E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz T

Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Land use rights (note) TR (fsh) 100,089 108,545
Office premises MAZEYE 29,755 42,072
Factory and warehouses IHEKREE 77,437 88,757
207,281 239,374
Lease liabilities HEAaRF
Non-current IEmED 69,606 84,325
Current FE 18,219 23,890
87,825 108,215
Note: M5k -

The Group's land use rights are located in the PRC and are held on
leases of between 20 and 50 years.

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year
ended 31 December 2024 were HK$3,070,000 (2023:
HK$48,703,000).

REBUNPENIMEREEERS
20E50%F

Bz EZE-_@OmONE+ZB=Z+—
BEFERTERAREENAE
3,070,000 T (ZE =4
48,703,000 7T) ©
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15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 15 FHAREEREEGE®
(continued)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income (b) RAERSUWERIER ZFIA
statement

127

gkt e

The consolidated income statement shows the following
amounts relating to the leases in respect of land use rights,
office premises, factory and warehouses:

frE W m R YR 2 i E A
- #ﬂ#”*#%% ImkreEZM
BEARBRIE

Year ended 31 December

H#E+"-_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EmE Tz
HK$'000  HK$'000
FHET FET
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (MisE7)
(Note 7)
Land use rights TR 5,129 5,223
Office premises MAZEYE 14,163 20,870
Factory and warehouses IHEKREE 9,820 8,057
29,112 34,150
Expense relating to short-term leases BUAZHATA BRI E R (5E7)
(Note 7) 11,391 18,513
Interest expense (Note 9) AMEER MsE9) 5,556 5,376

Depreciation expense of HK$3,702,000 (2023:
HK$3,041,000) has been charged to cost of sales,
HK$12,938,000 (2023: HK$8,114,000) has been
charged to selling expenses and HK$12,472,000 (2023:
HK$22,995,000) has been charged to administrative
expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The total cash outflow for leases during the year
ended 31 December 2024 was HK$36,777,000 (2023:
HK$48,725,000), including the payment of principal
elements and interest elements of lease liabilities amounting
to HK$19,830,000 (2023: HK$24,836,000) (Note 29(c)) and
HK$5,556,000 (2023: HK$5,376,000) (Note 9) respectively
and the payment of short-term leases of HK$11,391,000
(2023: HK$18,513,000) (Note 7).
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15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(continued)

(9]

(d)

The Group’s leasing activities

The cost of the land use rights represents the upfront
prepayments made for the rights to use the land for periods
varying from 20 to 50 years.

In addition to the land use rights, the Group leases various
office premises, factory and warehouses. Rental contracts
of office premises, factory and warehouses are typically
made for fixed periods of 1 year to 10 years, but may have
extension options as described in (d) below. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the security interests
in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Extension options

Extension options are included in the leases of office
premises, factory and warehouses across the Group. These
are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations.

15 FRAEEEREEEE®

(]

(d)
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16

129

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Material accounting policy

()

(ii)

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGUs")
for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
business combination in which the goodwill arose. The
units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level
at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes.

Brand names, contractual customer relationships

and others

Brand names, contractual customer relationships and
others acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a finite
useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method
over their expected lives from 5 to 10 years to allocate the
cost of them.
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16 BEEE®
Contractual
customer
Brand relationships
Goodwill names and others Total
BNER
mE miE BRREM BF

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAET TET TAT TET

At 1 January 2024 RZIE-ZNE—/F—H
Cost % 43,907 10,584 26,263 80,754
Accumulated amortisation and impairment R 5t 85 KR (E (29,666) (6,626) (19,674) (55,966)
Net book amount REFE 14,241 3,958 6,589 24,788
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE_E_-_ME

+ZA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount HRYREFE 14,241 3,958 6,589 24,788
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) WE—EHB AT (HFE32) 58,646 = 52,727 111,373
Amortisation (Note 7) #®iy (isE7) - (1,011) (4,243) (5,254)
Exchange realignment E R (6,928) (361) (5,786) (13,075)
Closing net book amount HARARERE 65,959 2,586 49,287 117,832
At 31 December 2024 RZE-mE

+-B=+—H
Cost D% 92,803 9,455 67,630 169,888
Accumulated amortisation and impairment R 5t 85 KR (E (26,844) (6,869) (18,343) (52,056)
Net book amount REFE 65,959 2,586 49,287 117,832
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—H—H
Cost B A 101,159 10,810 47,217 159,186
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt 85 KR (E (87,356) (5,681) (38,388)  (131,425)
Net book amount IREEE 13,803 5,129 8,829 27,761
Year ended 31 December 2023 BEZE-=

+ZA=t+—HLEE
Opening net book amount HYRERE 13,803 5,129 8,829 27,761
Amortisation (Note 7) By (H7) = (1,055) (2,205) (3,260)
Exchange realignment FE R A 438 (116) (35) 287
Closing net book amount R AR R E 14,241 3,958 6,589 24,788
At 31 December 2023 .

+ZB=+—H
Cost [N 43,907 10,584 26,263 80,754
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 2 5t# 85 &R E (29,666) (6,626) (19,674) (55,966)
Net book amount REFE 14,241 3,958 6,589 24,788
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16

131

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16 BEEE®
Amortisation expense of HK$5,254,000 (2023: HK$3,260,000) iR 5,254,000 T (ZE - =
has been charged to administrative expenses. 3,260,000 70) B 3 AfTE B o
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the Group's N ZEZMF+ZA=+—H &xEEN
goodwill of HK$52,620,000 (2023: Nil) and HK$13,339,000 FEENEREE 2 5#52,620,0008 7T (Z
(2023: HK$14,241,000) are attributable to the acquisitions of PAX T =4 . ) £13,339,0008 0 (=&
Technology Australia Pty Ltd. (“PAX Australia”) and the operation T =& 114,241,000 70) 5 B E U8B
in Italy, respectively. PAX Technology Australia Pty Ltd. (FPAX
Australial) REAHMZER
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on ZEREcELEBUNTKREIEEBEN RS
value-in-use calculations. These calculations are performed by )EETETE STEMEE St HRREE
an external valuer using pre-tax cash flow projections based on BFFHLEN T FHRMBAE I R MG
financial budgets approved by management, covering a five-year TE BT % A AR Al E%ﬁ%ﬁ AT -
period. Thereafter, the cash flows are extrapolated using terminal I B RS AEMRMBOIKARE
growth rates that do not exceed the long-term average growth $7Fﬁ;ﬂ‘ﬁi@fﬁﬁig$$f\_ KSR
rates of the countries in which the CGUs operate. HNEAFEHEREX.
Impairment tests for goodwill B aRE R R
PAX Australia PAX Australia
The key assumptions are as follows: FERBRFUWT :
As at
31 December
2024
RIZE_E
+=A
=+—H
Pre-tax discount rate DL GETES 21.8%
Compound annual growth rate BEFEREX 9.3%
Terminal growth rate KAERE 3.0%

The recoverable amount of PAX Australia exceeded its carrying
value as at 31 December 2024 by HK$9,616,000. An increase
in pre-tax discount rate by 1.0% would remove the remaining
headroom for PAX Australia.

BHE_Z_ME+_"_F=+—H>PAX
AustraliafyJ el 2B BB HEEmEE
9,616,000 75 o # Al AR IR X1 IN1.0% 4
EIKEHPAX Australiaf9 F ff Z 48 o

The operation in Italy SAFIERS
The key assumptions are as follows: TEEBME
As at 31 December
w+=-B=+—H
2024 2023
—EomE —E-=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Pre-tax discount rate OIEIE S 20.9% 21.4%
Compound annual growth rate BEaFEEXR 1.6% 3.5%
Terminal growth rate KABER 2.0% 2.0%
The recoverable amount of the operation in ltaly exceeded its HEZZ-_WE+ZA=+—H'EBEX
carrying value as at 31 December 2024 (2023: same). Up to the FMEFEN T WESBEBBEETRER (Z
date of this report, there were no reasonably possible changes in T_=F:FL) °ﬁjﬁ:¢‘$ﬁ% B> b+
any of the key assumptions mentioned above that would have ERFZEESETENENTERZIR
caused the recoverable amount of this CGU to be less than its STELEMNTWOEEENREERAE
carrying value. Bo
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17 FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE 17 BATESIEZEREE

Material accounting policy

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in the consolidated income statement.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in other gains, net in the consolidated income
statement as applicable.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present
fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to the profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group's right to receive payments is
established. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses)
on equity investments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.

EREHER

PRAVIAHE SRR > IR A FEFF AED
ZEMEE FAEERREREEZAN
FENEERRBRZTMEENBEZR
PHRASE - BAFEFABERZTH
BEZRZAARRES W5 FH
§0

BATESFABOZEMEENATE
BHENGES N RER S H MR D F
B (@A) -

rEBRERATESEMARDR
E-MAaEEEEREERNAMEEN
myRERKREZ A FERD REE
RERLEBRIRER I SREEND
BATERGRBEREERD -E4X5EE
BEREEKREMIER  ZFREZRE
TUEBNREDAESSEMEA A
FEFAREMEZERD 2 EmREZ R
BEFEE (RBEEBEER) FTEEEAF
BE2FIRII®R-

As at 31 December

R+ZHA=+—H
2024 2023
—E-mE S
HKS$'000 HK$’000
F#ET FAET
Investment at fair value through BAFEFABRZEE
profit or loss 88,242 96,918
Investment at fair value through other 2 AFEFAEMEENRGE ZKE
comprehensive income - 411
88,242 97,329
EEERHEARAT ECNEEHR 132
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17 FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE
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(continued)

Investment at fair value through profit or loss

The following table presents the changes in the unlisted fund
investment outside Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023:

17 BAFEAEZEHEE ®

RATESIABREZIRE
TRENBE_T_MER_T-_=F
+TZB=+T—HLEFEREBRINOIE
tHEERENED !

Year ended 31 December

BE+-B=+—HAILEE

2024 2023
—EE “BT=HF
HK’'000 HK'000
FHET FHET
At 1 January n—A—H 96,918 110,527
Fair value loss on revaluation RIEmNERNEG AT BRI
recognised in profit or loss (3,701) (2,973)
Distribution ik (2,027) (7,558)
Exchange realignment BE 2 FH %L (2,948) (3,078)
At 31 December W+-B=+—H 88,242 96,918
Unrealised loss recognised in the RIERENERA R R SRR RR
profit or loss attributable to ZREREIE
balance held at the end of the
reporting period (3,701) (2,973)

The carrying amount of the investment is denominated in RMB.

The fair value measurement of the fund investment uses
significant unobservable inputs (level 3) with the application of
net asset value model. The Group did not change any valuation
technique in determining the fair value (2023: same).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has determined that the
audited net asset value approximates fair value of the fund
investment after applying a portfolio discount of 10% (2023:
same).

As at 31 December 2024, if the fair value of the fund investment
had increased/decreased by 5% with all other variables
held constant, post-tax profit for the year and equity of the
Group would have been approximately HK$3,309,000 (2023:
HK$3,634,000) higher/lower, respectively.
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ZRENKREEUAREBE

EERENERBERTTEHRH AHIE

F-MUERAEEFEREFEAR
FE-AEBURAENEEEAFER
PREMAMMGEERT (CE=F AL -

AR _ME+ZA=+—H ' F&EH
HMETERAREESINERI0%E &
EREEFEHEENESRENATE
(ZEZ=ZF @b

ATE_NE+_B=+—H HES
CENAFELA TH5%  MAA
HMt@#REERIE AEREER
MEZMNEEZZDBEMRHLL
3,309,000/ 7 (ZE =4 : 3,634,000
BT) °
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18 SUBSIDIARIES 18 MEBAE

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December \_Z_EE&_’EZ_E‘T— B=+—
2024 and 2023: EEMBATRENT !

Place of incorporation/

establishment and Principal activities and Particulars of issued and

Name pe of legal entit place of operation aid up/registered capltal Interest held
%mm;/ Tale ,ﬁ% T )
kY EE B R TREBREEMY mExHE Pt
As at 31 December
204 2023
—E-mE ;3
Pax Technolo%y Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Sales of E-payment Terminals products HK$113,125,000 100% 100%
BeEREAN company and prowswon of related services 113,125,000 7T
Bl BE’AT in Ho £
§%ﬁ S RBERR
RAERRE
Pax Computer Technology The PRC, limited liability Development and sales of HK$380,000,000 100% 100%
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (*) company* E-payment Terminals products and 380,000,000 7T
BE S EBEM (R e provision of related services in the PRC
BRAF TRERERHEETINRBERK
et
Wonder Pax Technology (Shenzhen) The PRC, limited liability Development of software and hardware of HK$20,000,000 100% 100%
Co,, Ltd. (*) comgany" E-payment Terminals products and 20,000,0007%
BEBENE (R FE BRAT provision of related services in the PRC
BRAT TREMEEF = HRBERNRAK
B LR EHTRS
Pax Technology, Inc. The US, limited liability Sa\es of E- payment Terminals products Us$1,000 100% 100%
comgany 1,000%7¢
268 5RAF f%l%ﬁ E%iﬁn\;uméuu
Pax Italia S.rl. Italy, limited ||ab||\ty company Development and customising software EUR100,000 70% 70%
}(%‘J VBRA systems and sales of E- paymem 100,000887¢
Terminals groducts in Ital
T"Iﬂ' Fﬁé BMBERER
FARIBE R
(CSC ltalia S.r.l. Ita\y limited Ilablhty company Provision of software systems and EUR100,000 95% 95%
EXF BIR E-payment Terminals maintenance and 100,0008%7¢
installation servwces m \taly
TEEAR Miﬁx
BF%A %ﬁﬁ']”& £R%
Kwang Woo Information & Korea, I|m\ted hab|l|ty company Development, manufacturmg and sales of Korean Won (“"WON") 4,238,000,000 100% 87%
Communication Co., Ltd. B BRAH E-payment Terminals products 4,238,000,0008 8
(note (@) (Fi(a)) in Korea y
TREME LERHET T
RIBER
Pax Pos Solutions India India, I|m|ted I|ab\hty company Sales of E- pément Terminals groduds inIndia  INR32,500,000 100% 100%
Private Limited HE BRAF EHEHEET L TRIEER 32,500,000
Pax Japan Kabushiki Kaisha Japan, limited liability company Sales of E- paément Terminals groducts inJapan  JPY50,000,000 100% 100%
Pax Japantk L &1t HA BRAT EREHEETIIREER 50,000,0008 7
Pax Singapore Technology Pte. Ltd.  Singapore, I|m|ted liability company  Sales of E-payment Terminals products in Singapore Dollar ("SGD") 600,000 100% 100%
Wig, R i 600,000%7114% 7T

Singapore
ERAAERTEERER

The PRC, hmned liability company”  Provision of Business \ntemet of Things ("BloT")  RMB79,411,765 100% 100%
el AR solutions in the PR . 79411765 AR 1
AR ﬂ'ﬁ%%ﬁwﬂfﬁ (TBIoT ) AR

Shenzhen Zolon Technology
Co., Ltd (note (b))(*)
HH RN EERAT
(b))

PAX Technology Australia Pty Ltd.  Australia, limited liability company ~ Sales of E-payment Terminals products in Australian Dollar ("AUD") 10,000 100% -
Bl BIRAE Australia and New Zealand 10,00087T
TRNEMEREEE TR ARRER

E The English names of Pax Computer Shenzhen, Wonder Pax ci HREEER R -BETENRK
Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., and Shenzhen Zolon Technology CRIN BRAB RARINTIKER B
Co., Ltd (“Zolon Shenzhen”) represent the best effort by the BRAE (MkERYI)) ME|IEXHNEH
management of the Group in translating their Chinese names as B RNEEANABEORAEEAEEES
they do not have official English names. NHEFP L EEE-

# Registered as wholly foreign-owned enterprises. E HMAIEEERE-

Registered as limited liability company (domestic and foreign joint . HEMABREALAE (BRSMEEDR
venture). ¥)o
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135

Notes:

(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group increased its
shareholding in Kwang Woo Information & Communication Co.,
Ltd. from 87.0% to 100.0% with a consideration of US$40,000
(equivalent to HK$312,000). The Group derecognised the non-
controlling interests amounting to HK$124,000 and recognised the
decrease in other reserves of HK$436,000.

On 23 June 2023, Zolon Shenzhen adopted the diversification
shareholding plan (the “Plan”). Pursuant to the Plan, agreements
entered into between the participants, the relevant shareholding
platforms (the “Shareholding Platforms”) and/or Zolon Shenzhen.
Participants would, through (a) the subscription of shares of or
making capital contribution to relevant Shareholding Platforms
and (b) the subsequent capital contribution by the Shareholding
Platforms to Zolon Shenzhen (collectively, the “Transactions”),
hold indirect equity interests of Zolon Shenzhen and be entitled
to the corresponding economic benefits. The completion of the
Transactions took place in January 2024, subsequent to which
Zolon Shenzhen has been owned as to 32.0% by the Shareholding
Platforms in aggregate and 68.0% by the Group. The Transactions
were connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with all applicable
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in respect of the Transactions. For details of the Plan and the
Transactions contemplated thereunder, please refer to the section
headed “Connected Transactions” in the Report of the Directors and
the Company’s announcement dated 23 June 2023.

Pursuant to the Plan, the participants may not assign, transfer,
pledge or otherwise dispose of any equity interest in the
Shareholding Platforms during the lock-up periods stipulated
under the Plan, and hence Zolon Shenzhen continues to be 100%
consolidated in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The non-controlling interests in respect of Pax Italia S.r.l. and CSC
Italia S.r.I. are not material.
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M ST

(a)

RBEE_Z-_NEF+ZBE=+—H81
FE> AEELL40,000E7T (HER
312,000 7T) BIACE B MNP ¥ B Kwang
Woo Information & Communication
Co., Ltd. B9 H87.0%E100.0% ° K
%@ﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁ?iﬁ“ﬁﬂ&‘“%%{n&ooo
BT REREMEER 436,000

A

RZZZ=F,"BZ+=08" B FII
RMZ TR EI (T518))) - RSt
2 20E - HEAFKRTE (FRFE)
&/YJEPE, YT HE 2 EE RS

()RBHEHEFRTFENRMIAEE
ﬁﬁ&( WERFEHEZAIKBERIIHE
(mRE TR 51)  BEFE BRI
oW EEEEKEMNE RZERT
TTNE—BSEM REIKBRIIAR
BITEEHEERN32.0% KB EERE
B#H68.0% AR F A EMHRAIE14A
EFMATHNEAERZ AABEMAR
SET EHBBE4AEERMBTE
BRI REBEBTHNXRZHE 28
EEEREPEERR I —HREARQT
HEA-_ZS-_ =% "B-_+=HHA

A
= °

RESHE NGt EIFTANEEMSNR
SEEAGHZ FE EARAUHAM
FREEERARERFENED  ®
I AEBBGREMBREMTH IR
FEYNBI100% & o

A BEPax Italia S.r.l. & CSC ltalia S.r.l.A9IEIZERG
T AE Ko



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R E M BRI

19

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

19 BEZEARZIRE

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's investments
accounted for using the equity method represent the investments
in CPayond GmbH (“CPayond”) and Shanghai Coshine Software
Company Ltd. (“Shanghai Coshine”). They have share capital
consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the
Group. The country of incorporation, establishment or registration
is also their principal place of business, and the proportion of
ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights

ACE_ME_EZE+ A=+
B AEEZEREIARZRER Y
CPayond GmbH (I'CPayond ) & LRI
BHEFRAR (TLERL)) ZH/E -t
HEAEREERANR THAEBREER
R QAWML RIXFAMHBERTS
HF EEEMEL - P A R a9 LE ) 82 PRy
BN ERNLEAIER -

held.
Particulars of
Place of incorporation/ issued and
establishment and type of paid up/ Nature of Measurement
Name legal entity registered capital  relationship Interest held method
EMARIL R R BETRBERE/
&g EEBRER AMERFE MiEME st FERE
As at 31 December
R+ZB=+—-H
2024 2023
ZEIME  CZEI=F
CPayond Germany, limited liability EUR25,000  Joint venture 50% 50%  Equity method
company
CPayond ZE ERAT 25,000B% 7T BERE Tt %
Shanghai Coshine The PRC, limited liability RMB15,685,155 Associated 20% 20%  Equity method
(note) company company
LiER% (5D FE BRAT 15,685,155 AR 1 HENT ‘A
Note: B 5E :

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group injected capital of
RMB3,175,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,503,000) into Shanghai

Coshine.

HE_Z _Z—F+_-_B=+—BHBLEE &
EFEEEBEEEES 175,000 AR (BE
M #93,503,000% 7T) ©
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137

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 19 BEZZARZESE ®

EQUITY METHOD (continued)

As at 31 December
W+ZB=+—H
2024 2023
ZEIMFE —ZT=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAET

Carrying amount of an individually immaterial —BEENTERNEGE QBN
joint venture REE 29,781 19,528
Carrying amount of an individually immaterial —BEENFTERNEGE QBN
associated company REE 15,057 15,416
44,838 34,944
Year ended 31 December
HEE+_-_A=+—HILtEE
2024 2023
—EmgE —T”=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
The Group’s share of results recognised in the REBRFEERRARERZ
consolidated income statement: FEML2EAR -
— an individually immaterial joint venture ——BENFTEANGE AT 10,507 5,846
— an individually immaterial associated company ~ ——{ER] N E AR H = A F 131 (872)
10,638 4,974

There are no contingent liabilities and commitments to provide
funding relating to the Group's interests in CPayond and Shanghai
Coshine. The Group’s interests in CPayond and Shanghai Coshine
are not material.

CPayond and Shanghai Coshine are private companies and there is
no quoted market price available for their shares.
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20 INVENTORIES 20 F8

Material accounting policy

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour cost and related production overheads
(based on normal operating capacity). Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

EREHER
FEDUHEMAER ISR FERNE SR
BURE TR - AN T EETE ©
HEmcARGHRESERME B
BAIREAREREECSERAX (%
EREERENE) - AERFE/LE
EEBBREDHOGESEEHRMGS T
P A e 6 5 BY 85 & RS o

As at 31 December
®+ZHA=+—H
2024 2023
TEINE —ZE-=4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAET

Raw materials B
Work in progress EES
Finished goods A

367,385 382,264
128,614 166,894
1,091,040 1,276,933

1,587,039 1,826,091

The cost of inventories sold amounted to HK$3,022,572,000
(2023: HK$3,538,104,000) and the provision for obsolete
inventories amounted to HK$20,115,000 (2023: HK$40,108,000)
were included in cost of sales during the year ended 31 December
2024.

BE_ZT_NE+-_B=+—HLHE
EEHESRA3,022,572,0008 T (Z
T =4 :3,538,104,000%87T) RMEE
FEE#20,115,0008 T (CE-=4F
40,108,000 70) BB IEEHE R A o
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21 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

139

F

INANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

Material accounting policy

Trade and bills receivables including retention money receivables
are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and bills receivables is expected in one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, in which case they are recognised at fair
value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective
of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less provision for impairment.

Receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against net reversal of
impairment losses/(impairment losses) on financial assets in the
consolidated income statement.

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with the relevant debt instruments. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see
Note 3.1(b)(ii) for further details.
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21 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 21 FEURBRFR R FEUN Z 45 B 3G S B 2
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (continued) FERZHMEMEZE @
As at 31 December
w+=-B=+—-H
2024 2023

“EIME —ZT=F
HK$"000 HK$'000
FTHET THET

Trade receivables (note (a)) FEUERFR (FT5E(a)) 2,625,573 2,766,111
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables & : FEURBRFBE R & (BI5E(b))

(note (b)) (81,959) (89,777)
Trade receivables, net FEUS BR TS 2B 2,543,614 2,676,334
Bills receivables (note (c)) FEURZ I (FT5E(0) 270 3,191
Trade and bills receivables FES R U R FEWR E 3% 2,543,884 2,679,525
Other financial assets at amortised cost HEIHR AR Hth R E E 58,581 55,855

2,602,465 2,735,380
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141

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills receivables
and other financial assets at amortised cost are denominated in
the following currencies:

FEUR BRTR T FE MR SR 4 B $ i S P A
SRz HfthEMEE @

2458 [ 1 S MR 0 R O U S A 9
A5 BE 2 HLft 2 B E ORI (E L T 85
MEEHE -

As at 31 December

®W+ZB=+—H
2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=

HK$"000 HK$'000
FTHET THET

us$ E7T
RMB AR
INR ELt
EUR BrT
JPY Bt
AUD JEIT
HK$ BT
Others Hth

1,511,611 1,584,307
663,153 776,848
175,864 154,361
152,586 138,205

38,747 59,540
33,446 -
11,214 12,084
15,844 10,035

2,602,465 2,735,380

The fair values of trade and bills receivables and other financial
assets at amortised cost approximate their carrying values as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the
carrying values of each class of receivables mentioned above. The
Group did not hold any collateral as security for these receivables
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: same).
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21 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (continued)

(a)

(b)

21

FE U R TR Bz FE UL SR 8 T 4% SH A A
SRRz HtERMEE @

Trade receivables (a) FEURERTR
The Group's credit terms to trade debtors range generally KEBRBETEZBEBANEERN
from 0 to 180 days. However, credit terms of more than 180 FOE180H I 5F o AT > KEEB & ]
days may be granted to customers on a case-by-case basis REJEREEFELBIE180HN
upon negotiation. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the EER RIEINER-ZT=F
ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice +ZRA=+—8 BWERHZERH
date is as follows: HARARE AT -
As at 31 December
w+=B=+—H
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Up to 90 days 90 UA 1,242,756 1,499,626
91 to 180 days 91&180H 430,039 617,282
181 to 365 days 181E365H 714,843 519,276
Over 365 days 365HM & 237,935 129,927
2,625,573 2,766,111
As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables included ATE_NE+_B=+—H ' EW
retention money receivables of HK$16,989,000 (2023: IR EIEEINTEIN £ %816,989,0007%
HK$30,112,000), which represents approximately 2% to 5% T (T2 =4 30,112,000 7T) »
(2023: same) of the relevant contract sum granted to certain HETHRETELANEBESE B
number of the customers in the PRC that has a retention BBH2%ZES% (CE_=ZF :[@L)
period of three to seven years (2023: same). As at 31 ENEA=ZEtE (ZE_=
December 2024, retention money receivables aged over 365 BL) RIEZOWEF+ZB=4+—
days amounted to HK$16,426,000 (2023: HK$29,483,000). EI FERFEIN = RERR e H84E365H Y
WREE#316,426,0008 T (CE =4
29,483,000/%75) 0
Provision for impairment of trade receivables (b) FEUWERFURERE

Based on the assessment of the expected credit losses
(refer to Note 3.1(b)(ii)), the movement on the provision for
impairment of trade receivables is as follows:

R TR E B RTE (RIEE3.1(0)
(i)  FEUGRRERBEESHWMT

Year ended 31 December

HE+-—B=+—RAILEE

2024 2023
—BomE —T-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FAT

At beginning of the year REA) 89,777 127,930
Net (reversal of impairment losses)/ EE CRERERRFE

impairment losses for the year BB FEE (6,963) 1,443

Write off (note) WsE (M=% - (38,399)

Exchange realignment E R EE (855) (1,197)

At end of the year REX 81,959 89,777
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21 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (continued)

(b) Provision for impairment of trade receivables

(continued)
Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2023, trade receivables of
HK$38,399,000, which had been fully provided for previously, were
written off against the provision for impairment of trade receivables
as a result of the completion of the liquidation process of Shanghai

Kashuo.

(c) Bills receivables

The balance represents bank acceptance notes with the

maturity profile as follows:

FE U R TR B2 FE UL SR 8 T 4% SH A A
JIfRZ HthEREE @

(b) FEUWBRTRRERE @

Py 5E -

HE_ S _=—F£+"_HA=+—HL=E
B LEFRNWBEEREFERM  BEF
E2EHEEENEWERR38,399,000
78 70 B 18 FE UK BR 200 1B B A R a o

(0 BUERE
ZASERIEIRIT AR RS HEIHE R
mr

As at 31 December
W+ZB=+—H
2024 2023
TEINE —E-=4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAET

Up to 90 days 90H R 270 1,439
91 to 180 days 91&180H - 1,752
270 3,191
22 OTHER ASSETS 22 HtEE
As at 31 December
®+ZHR=+—H
2024 2023
TEBEINE T =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FET
Non-current portion JERENER
Others Hh 3,940 6,314
Current portion RENER
Other tax recoverable Hh Aol 18 55,217 52,666
Prepayments and others TE R IE R HA 35,056 12,526
90,273 65,192
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e MBmRMsE

23 RESTRICTED CASH AND SHORT-TERM BANK
DEPOSITS

23 ZREIREKRIEHRIRITEFEMR

As at 31 December

®W+-ZBA=+—H

2024 2023
—EomE —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Restricted bank deposits (note) ZIRAIRTTER (MF5E) 24,212 17,085
Short-term bank deposits with maturities of B8 =18 8 ZIEA VA HAERIT TN

more than 3 months 162,490 -
Restricted cash and short-term bank deposits ZIRHIIR & MG IRITIF R 186,702 17,085

Note:

Restricted cash represents bank deposits of the Group which were mainly
placed as securities for sales of goods to customers (2023: same).

The carrying amounts of restricted cash and short-term bank

fIEE -

SRR EAERFEFEABETFTEANR
BEMEHRWRITER CEZ=F AL -

RRFIREREMIRITEFRNERE TR

deposits were denominated in the following currencies: UTHEHEsHE :
As at 31 December
W+ZH=+—H
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
usb ETT 162,490 -
INR ELt 21,970 14,582
RMB ARH 2,136 2,383
Others Hth 106 120
186,702 17,085

As at 31 December 2024, the effective interest rate on restricted
bank deposits and short-term bank deposits was 4.82% (2023:
4.84%) per annum.

AZE_NE+_A=+—H > ZREIER
TEFRREHRTERNSEBINERASE
4.82% (CE =4 1 4.84%) o
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24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RS MW R M

24 REKRREEFEY

As at 31 December
®W+=ZB=+—H
2024 2023
ZEINME ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FAT

Cash and cash equivalents

RERREEEY

3,083,598 2,863,597

As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents of the Group
amounting to HK$1,728,760,000 and HK$53,517,000 (2023:
HK$1,678,228,000 and HK$47,931,000) were kept in the PRC
and India, respectively, where the remittance of funds is subject to
foreign exchange controls.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents were
denominated in the following currencies:

A ZENFEF+ZA=Z+—H &&E
ENREMBREEEBYHEGTDIA
%01,728,760,00078 7t 253,517,000/ 7T
—E =4 :1,678,228,0008 T K
47,931,000 7T) HERRAPEREERE
N BRAESIIES T INESH

ReRFSEEMOREHED B TS
ek -

As at 31 December
®W+ZB=+—H
2024 2023
ZEINME ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT

RMB AR
us$ E7T
HK$ BIT
EUR BNt
INR Ett
JPY Bt
Others H1h

1,726,723 1,678,083
982,728 932,149

138,012 58,204
113,772 60,011
53,517 47,931
36,171 75,652
32,675 11,567

3,083,598 2,863,597

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the Group as
at 31 December 2024 were HK$3,083,393,000 (2023:
HK$2,863,471,000).
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R E M BRI

25 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION 25 RRATEBARHE
(a) Issued and fully paid share capital of the Company (@) FTAFRBBITREERZE
Ordinary
Number of  shares of
ordinary HK$0.1
shares each
SREE
0.1 THY
EiERHE BBk
Thousand
shares HK$'000
Issued and fully paid BRTRER T FHET
At 1 January 2023 A _E_—F—F—H 1,079,695 107,970
Repurchased shares cancelled REREHEEIERGS (D)
during the year (note) (13,355) (1,336)
Employee share option scheme: EERERESTE
— share options exercised —BEfTEERE 3,874 387
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 WRZZE-=-F+"B=+—HkK
—EFE—HB—H 1,070,214 107,021
Repurchased shares cancelled REANFHEBIBERM G
during the year (note) (10,792) (1,079)
Employee share option scheme: EERERESTE
— share options exercised —BITEERE 2,282 228
At 31 December 2024 KRIE-ME+"A=+—H 1,061,704 106,170
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(a)

25 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION (continued) 25 BRAREBIGHE @
Issued and fully paid share capital of the Company (@) ATATEBRBITRHBERKT @
(continued)
Note: P EE
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company repurchased REEZ_Z_NONFE+ZA=+—H
a total of 10,388,000 (2023: 13,759,000) ordinary shares on the Stock g = i* 2L< B LL#957,153,000% 7T
Exchange at approximately HK$57,153,000 (2023: HK$84,726,000), (ZZ = :84,726,000) fEH# X
including the aggregate purchase consideration of approximately Frielf%&4£10,388,000R (Z T ==
HK$56,871,000 (2023: HK$84,390,000) and the related expenses of £ 1 13,759,0008%) Ei@EM > SR EIE
approximately HK$282,000 (2023: HK$336,000). 10,792,000 of the WA EH56,871,000B T (ZE - =
repurchased shares (2023: 13,355,000 of the repurchased shares) have £ 184,390,000 t) REMBRBEERLY
been cancelled during the current year; 404,000 shares repurchased 282,000 70 (ZZ Z =4 : 336,000/
during the year ended 31 December 2023 have been cancelled in 78) ©10,792,000EIER KB (Z2 2=
January 2024. £ 113,355,000 EIEKRHD) ERE
EEAWEHE, RZE-_=F+_8
=+—HLEFERNFEIERN404,0008
BRI MFE—AETiEe
Details of the ordinary shares repurchased on the Stock Exchange FREBIFOENSBRFEBFOT
during the year are as follows:
Number of shares
repurchased
EREER % Consideration per share
Date of Repurchase BB B B SRAE
Thousand shares Highest HK$ Lowest HK$
A& BREATT REET
20 March 2024 —E2INFE=8="+H 378,000 6.00 5.96
6 June 2024 “ETmMEFEARARH 260,000 5.96 5.93
2 July 2024 “EZWFELEZH 9,750,000 5.63 4.50
Total 4Est 10,388,000
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25 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION (continued) 25 EAKEERRE @

(b) Share option of the Company (b) ZEAEEERRHE
(i)  Share option scheme () FERIEAE

The Company operates a share option scheme adopted
on 2 May 2019 as amended by the shareholders of
the Company on 22 May 2024 (the "Share Option
Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for 10 years from the date of adoption on 2 May
2019 until 1 May 2029, subject to early termination
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
recognise the contribution or future contribution of
the eligible participants for their contribution to the
Group by granting options to them as incentives or
rewards and to attract, retain and motivate high-
calibre eligible participants for the benefits of the
growth of the Group. The Share Option Scheme shall
strengthen the many long-term relationships that the
eligible participants have or may have with the Group.

On 2 May 2019, the Board of Directors of the
Company approved the Share Option Scheme for
the issuance of in aggregate no more than 7.5% in
nominal amount of the total number of shares in issue
on the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme,
representing 82,514,550 shares (subject to the
terms of the Share Option Scheme and the relevant
provisions under the Listing Rules).

On 21 August 2024, the Board resolved to extend
the exercise period of all the 52,246,000 outstanding
options (the “Outstanding Options”) granted under
the Share Option Scheme by 5 years from the original
expiry date, being 2 October 2024, to 2 October 2029
(the “Modification”) to reinforce the reward/incentive
attributes of the Outstanding Options granted, reward
the holders of the Outstanding Options for their
continuing services and contribution to the Group's
performance, and incentivise them to perform their
utmost of the Group. The Modification took effect on
21 August 2024 (the “Modification Date”).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, share-
based payment expenses of HK$31,668,000 was
recognised in the consolidated financial statements
(2023: Nil). The expenses recognised in the current
year are the difference between the fair value of the
modified share options and that of the original share
options, both estimated as at the Modification Date.

BRERARAE —TNEFH

ENBEBE—EBR _E—HIE
AR _H#WE&H TR _F M
FRA -+ _HEKREMBITN
FERRHESTE (TRERGHESTEIY) o
EREstgaE -_Z2—hdh
B_HEMZzHEBFEEN
+E - BEE_ T _NEFEHEA—
B > 3 0] 4k B8 AR R 5t B RO & =X
IERT4R 1k

BRESSSTEEBASER
HEERLBEREFELEZRN
B3 URBA R EHN R EBFR
FERARRBRELENE
BR 6 AR EIR 5| ~ £R B2 K AR
THEUNEGERSHERR®
AEEER BRESSFE
BEGERSRERYPIEELX
EEZBENRAREAR

RN_E—HAERB-H ' &AQ
DESETHERERES B LI
T A B BE BRHE 5T 8 R IR 4%
BB ZRTRAOEHNTBE
7.5% > BN82,514,5500/% ({B7E
¥ IR BE IR R 5 B AR R R B 5T
EHRAMNBRERT)

RZE_WENB-+—H">
BE2gRABREERESTE
BHMFTAES2,246,00015 & 2k
TREERE (TERITEBRRK
) MITERRRENEIER
(Bh—=—_m&E+H2H) i
ESFEE_ZE_NE+HZH
(MEER)) ~ELIMEBEEEE
By RITRERE IR 2B,
Bh & o SR ED 1A SR 1T e B AR A
HEFE AFERBRS RS
EERBELER LHE
MEAREBIBRFTAE - ZE
BR_E_mMENB_-_+—H
(Mg 1) BEX -

RNEHEZE_Z_MNWE+_HA
=+ —HLEFE RHZAE
F331,668,0008 T ERGEE M
BHRRTPER (=
) o RFEEFTHER Bﬁ%ﬂ%i%
WE&@E@E%M@%FE%J&?&K
BRHESNAFEEZBENE
KB o
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25 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION (continued)

149

(b) Share option of the Company (continued)

(ii) Fair value measurement and assumptions

As at the Modification Date, the weighted average fair
values of the modified share options and original share
options were HK$1.506 per option and HK$0.900
per option, respectively, as determined by using the
Binomial valuation model. The table below summarised
the significant inputs adopted in the model:

25 RRAKEBIRE @

(b) ARFERE @

RIFE (BT
BRITEE (Bro)
TRHDR IR R
RIgRAAE Sz (F)
TRHIR B W@ R
=R AR

Spot price per share (HK$)
Exercise price per share (HK$)
Expected volatility

Remaining option life (years)
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate

(i) FlEFERER
BEEBNA BRENERE
MERBRENMETFHRAE
ERNAERI.5068TRE
f%0.9008 o L Th IR & Z 18
NAEEEEMERE - TRABE
WREFRFRANE RS A
7’

The modified The original

share option share option
BRI iE AR 1 [REERR1E
4.500 4.500

3.570 3.570

47.04% 33.30%

5.1 0.1

6.09% 6.09%

2.66% 3.83%

The expected volatility is based on the average
historical volatility of the Company over the most
recent period commensurate with the contractual life
of the share options. The expected dividends are based
on the historical dividend record of the Company.
Changes in the inputs adopted in the model could
materially affect the estimated fair values of these
share options.
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e MBmRMsE

25 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION (continued)

(b) Share option of the Company (continued)

(iiij) Share option movements

25 IRAEKLEBRRHE @

(b) ARFERE @
(iii) FEAR BT B

Number of Number of
share share
options options
held as at Reclassified Granted  Exercised Lapsed held as at
Exercise 1 January during during during during 31 December
Name Date of grant price 2024 the year the year the year the year 2024
®
—EICmE
RIZ-MmE +ZA
—B—H =+—A
FrfsRamRE £R s Ra R
4 et =k 1R ¥B ENSE EABE  FERTE FREX 8
(HKS)
(#7)
Directors
BZ
(In aggregate) 2 October 2019* 3.57 23,000,000 920,000 - - - 23,920,000
ik —E-hE+AZA*
Employees
g8
(In aggregate) 2 October 2019* 3.57 31,528,000 (920,000) - (2,282,000) - 28,326,000
(485t) “E-AFE+RAZRA*
Total 54,528,000 - - (2,282,000 - 52,246,000
By
Number of Number of
share share
options options
held as at Granted Exercised Lapsed held as at
Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
Name Date of grant price 2023 the year the year the year 2023
\ Kog-=f
RIEZ=F +Z-A8
—B—H =+—H
) i FsRRE ) ) FRRE
e eil=k:d 1@ %8 FREH FRTE FREU 8
(HK$)
(&)
Directors
S
(In aggregate) 2 October 2019* 357 23,000,000 - - - 23,000,000
(45t “E-AF+AZRE*
Employees
=1
(In aggregate) 2 October 2019* 3.57 35,402,000 - (3,874,000) - 31,528,000
(4Bt “T-hAF+RZA*
Total 58,402,000 - (3,874,000) - 54,528,000
i
* The share options will be vested to the grantees, u ERERBAREA > EF

among which 30% of the share options would be
vested on the date of grant, a further 30% of the
share options be vested on the first anniversary of the
date of grant and the remaining 40% of the share
options will be vested on the second anniversary of
the date of grant. The exercise period of these share
options shall be 10 years (2023: 5 years) from the
date of grant, subject to the aforesaid vesting period.

BERKEHARAR

30%ERENIRHB R
B> 5 5M30% 88 Bs 1R
RERHM—BEREB HER
A0% IR ER N E H A H
MBFRE -2 FBREDN
TREASBERL B RAES
TECERZ=FH1F)
AR R AI MR B -

“E_MEFR
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25 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION (continued)

151

(b) Share option of the Company (continued)

(iiij) Share option movements (continued)
Movements in the number of share options
outstanding and their related weighted average
exercise prices are as follows:

25 IRAEKLEBRRHE @

(b) ARFERE @
(iii) FEARERTE B ()

HARTENERERKEEH R
HARRAIEF T EENT

Year ended 31 December

BE+_A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—TImE —TT=F

Average Average

exercise exercise

price in HKS price in HK$
per share Options per share Options
option (thousands) option (thousands)

SHREN SHEREN
BITEH FERRE BT TH BRI
TEE (F13) TRE (F15)
At 1 January n—A—H 3.57 54,528 3.57 58,402
Granted B - = - -
Exercised BT 3.57 (2,282) 3.57 (3,874)
Lapsed BERXM - - - -
At 31 December R+ZRA=+—H 3.57 52,246 3.57 54,528

On 2 October 2019, 82,510,000 share options under
the Share Option Scheme were granted to certain
directors and employees at an exercise price of
HK$3.57 per share. These options shall expire on 2
October 2029 (2023: 2 October 2024). During the
year ended 31 December 2024, no share option was
granted, cancelled or lapsed, and a total of 2,282,000
share options (2023: 3,874,000 share options)
were exercised. The weighted average share price
immediately before the share options exercise dates
was HK$6.30 per share (2023: HK$6.06 per share).

As at 31 December 2024, all outstanding options were
exercisable (2023: same).

PAX GLOBAL TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

RIZE—AE+AEZH KB
fe 5T 2175 82,510,0001) B8
RN ITHEESRIS7TEBTE
FTETESFEKEE -ZEBR
EER_Z-_hAE+A_-HC
T -F . TE_EFE+TRAC
B Ef-BE_T_MFE+—
B=Z+—HLEE  TEMEW
BIREERE LW B
532,282,000 ERE (T
=4 :3,874,0001p B REHE)
EETH RIBERETHEH
BRI IMNEFEHREAER6.30
BT (CE-=% ' 5K6.0658
7T) ©

RIEZ_WWE+ZB=4+—

B FrAEKRTHENEREDY
ATE(CE=F :FL)-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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26 RESERVES 26 {#fE

Share Employee

Share Treasury Capital option benefit Other Exchange Retained
premium shares reserve reserve reserve reserves reserve eamings Total
=]
RiaE ERR Bkl BREEE BRI Rtttk SHEGE REER @t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TEn YEn Yén TR TR TR TR TR iR
(note (i)) (note (ii))
(Hi3kG) (3 Gi)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HES-ME+ZA=t+-HLEE
Balance at 1 January 2024 RIB_ME-R-B2&H 1,058,277 (40) (414,978) 172332 266 (225%)  (413502) 6971126 7,351,046
Comprehensive income 2EhE
Profit for the year FERR - - - - - - - 73427 73427
Other comprehensive loss Rth2EHE
Exchange differences ariing on translation of hEENEATNBRR
the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries EEMEREE - - - - - - (121,931) - (121931
Remeasurement of post-employment EEGEERENE
benefit obligation - - - - (433) - - - (433)
Total comprehensive (loss)income for the year FE2E (BB /WENE - - - - 433) - (121,931) 7342 591,063
Transactions with owners HERAZRS
Repurchase of the Company’s shares EREATNRA (56,114) L] - - - - - - (56,074)
Dividends to the sharefolders of the Company BAEATREZRS - - - - - - - (501,303) (501,303)
Share option scheme Bt
- value of senvices provided -BRIEFBHEE - - - 31,668 - - - - 31,668
- share options exercised -BiTekRE 7,919 - - - - - - - 7919
Acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary WE-ENRAREERES - - - - = (436) c = (430)
Total transactions with owners (48,195) 40 - 31,668 - (436) - (501,303) (518,226)
Balance at 31 December 2024 KZE-ME+ZAZ+-B2EH 1,010,082 - (414,978) 204,000 (167) (297)  (535433) 7183350  7,423883
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26 RESERVES (continued)

153

26 f#fE @

Share Employee
Share Treasury Capital option benefit Other Exchange Retained
premium shares reserve reserve resenve Teserves Tesenve eamings Total
&S
hiEE Bk BniE  BREHE BHIGE Rttt SNERE REEF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fhn Thn Thn Thn TExn TEn TEn ThEn i
(note (i) (note (i)
(1) (GO
For the year ended 31 December 2023
Balance at 1 January 2023 1,128,184 - (414,978) 172332 480 (22,533) (282,881) 6,246,252 6,826,856
Comprehensive income 2EhE
Profit for the year i3l - - - - - - - 1116 1,155,164
Other comprehensive loss Rth2EHE
Exchange differences arising on translation of hEENEATNBRR
the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries EEMEREE - - - - - - (122,639) S (122,639)
Redlassfication of exchange reserve upon the liquidation of EE-HMELAIRNIEGE
a subsidiary ENNE - - - - - - (7,986) - (7.986)
Remeasurement of post-employment EEGEERENE
benefit obligation - - - - 214) - - - (214
Fair value loss on an investment -BERENATESR - - - - - 2) S o @
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year FERE (Bl /hElE - - - - 214 2 (130621) 1,155,164 1,024327
Transactions with owners HEEAZRS
Repurchase of the Company’s shares EEALANRG (83,350) (40) - S S S o S (83,390)
Dividends to the shareholders of the Company BAEATREZRE - - - - - - - 430,190) (430,190)
Share option scheme Bt
- share options exercised -BiTEkRE 13483 - - - - - - - 13,443
Total transactions with owners HEFAZR7EE (69,907) (40) - - - - - (430,190) (500,137)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZEZZE+ZAZ+-B2EH 1058277 0 (@498 1733 266 (253) @350 697126 7351046
Notes: B 5E -
(i) Capital reserve (i) EXG#E
Capital reserve represents the difference between (i) the aggregate BEAREBIETIMENER (IRZ2

(i)

of the consideration for the acquisitions upon the reorganisation
completed on 15 February 2010; and (ii) the aggregate of the share
capital and share premium of the directly owned subsidiaries of the
Company.

Statutory reserves

The subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC are required to
allocate 10% of the companies’ net profit to the statutory reserves
fund until such fund reaches 50% of their registered capital. The
statutory reserves fund can be utilised, upon approval by the
relevant authorities, to offset accumulated losses or to increase
their registered capital, provided that such fund is maintained at
a minimum of 25% of their registered capital. As at 31 December
2024, retained earnings comprised statutory reserves fund
amounting to HK$227,445,000 (2023: HK$222,259,000).

PAX GLOBAL TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

(i)

—TFE"A+OHTEREERFIWNENR
B R(INVEABDEREANNE A
BRRA KRR mEAEEE -

EEGRE

ANABRPEKE QD ERG QT4
ME10%NEEEZEHES BEZXH
BEEEHEMBEAN 0% - KEBE
BiLER EATERESTANIEHE R
BRI NEEMES HZHEESR
BAEHFNEFMER25%HIKF o ;2
TECNE+ZRA=+—H REEF
BIE R E# B S227,445,0008 T (ZF
T =4 222,259,000 7T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R E M BRI

27 TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 27 FEMIERFR - HMFE AR B FE SRR
ACCRUALS 15

Material accounting policy BEREFHE
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that FENRMRANRERSEFBREPREERS
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from RS E MR EREN IR
suppliers.
Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities WRAFHAR LR —F (HNERER
if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal B B — R EEEEER)  BAORM
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are REMEMERAHEZ2I A REEE
presented as non-current liabilities. TR g 2N ABIEREEBE
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair values PSR R B (J ER R E ¥ 1R 12 A F
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective B HBERAERAN S ER#HEN
interest method. N ==

As at 31 December

R+ZRA=+—H
2024 2023
ZENE —T”=

HK$"000 HK$'000
FTHET TAT

Trade payables (note (a)) FEfTERTR (MizE(a))

Trade payables FE{TBR RN 935,193 887,133

Amount due to a related party (Note 33(b)) (T — R RA%: 5 =18 (FI5E33(b)) 2,018 1,488
937,211 888,621

Other payables and accruals HFE TR R R FE 5t 7R 1E

Other accrued expenses and payables HMEST R RIRR 310,287 328,479

Receipt in advance from customers (note (b)) EWE R FIE (fMfsE(b)) 136,249 122,723

Other tax payables HMEMIRR 42,949 53,877

Payables for constructions ERERIBEIR™ 21,890 58,259

Contingent consideration payable (note (c)) FET I AMNE FEE(0) 29,393 S

540,768 563,338
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27 TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS (continued)

155

(a)

(b)

Trade payables
The ageing analysis of trade payables and amount due to a
related party based on invoice date is as follows:

27

FEATRRTR « ELfthFE(FARFR B FE 517K

I8 @
(a) FE{TERRR

FE A BR 7R e & A — il el Bk 75 TR IR 422
EZAMNRE DT

As at 31 December

R+=ZA=+—H
2024 2023
ZEImE =

HK$°000 HK$'000
THET THET

Up to 90 days 90H UK
91 to 180 days 91HZE180H
181 to 365 days 181HZE365H

787,430 742,149
145,394 144,058
4,387 2,414

937,211 888,621

The average credit period granted by the Group's suppliers
ranges from O to 180 days.

Receipt in advance from customers

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December
2024 that was included in the contract liability balance at
the beginning of the year amounted to HK$58,590,000
(2023: HK$226,510,000). The Group expects to deliver the
goods to satisfy the remaining performance obligations of
these contract liabilities within one year or less.
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27 TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS (continued)

() Contingent consideration payable

The contingent consideration payable related to the
acquisition of PAX Australia (Note 32) is measured at FVPL
and is denominated in AUD. The following table presents the
changes in the contingent consideration payable for the year

27 [E(TBRER - HthFE(TERFN R FEETRR
I8 @)

() FEESHARE
EA L BEPAX Australia (Ff5E32) 878
I FES S AR BLUR A FE AR
mot2E BTt E TRENEH
ECEZ_NE+ZB=+—HIE

ended 31 December 2024: EREMHARENES !
Year ended
31 December
2024
BEZZ-NE
+=AH + =]
ILEFE
HK’'000
FHET
At 1 January n—A—H S
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) WHE—REME A B (Mi5E32) 77,977
Fair value gain on revaluation RERAEBHNE G R FEWE
recognised in profit or loss (4,562)
Settlement 24 (44,022)
At 31 December n+ZB=+—H 29,393
Unrealised gain recognised in the FiBm AR A RS EHR
profit or loss attributable to balance R ER 2 REIR W R
held at the end of the reporting period (2,845)
The fair value measurement of the contingent consideration ENZAREBLEREARFAATR

payable uses significant unobservable inputs (level 3) with
the application of discounted cash flow analysis. The key
unobservable input used in the analysis as at 31 December ==
If the discount rate
shifted downward by 1.0%, the impact on profit for the
year would be HK$241,000 lower. The lower the discount

2024 is the discount rate of 6.8%.

rate, the higher the fair value.

R AHEZE (F=R) WERBKIR
REREDMAEELAFE - KT
mE+ZA=+—8 LaH
FIERANEITEATERE A SR
ABHIRE6. 8% o W BE IR E T &
1.0% HEERFMNEER 2 TE
241,000/ 75 BIREHIE > A 1B
s o
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28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

157

Material accounting policy

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 28 RIEFRISIR @
The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during FIEFMEREEREBERNEAZEEN
the year are as follows: T
Deferred income tax assets IREFRSIREE
Year ended 31 December
HETZA=1-BLEE
2024 2023
ZENE kSt 3
Unrealised Unrealised
profit on profit on
Provisions Leases  inventories Total Provisions Leases inventories Total
FEAER BERER
e g bt fit e e patl &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAn TER TEn TER TEn TEn TERT
At 1 January ®-A—H 39,269 20,056 127,483 186,808 47,902 14,882 97,635 160,419
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) hiE-BREAT (H332) 306 3,655 - 3,961 S S = =
Credited(charged) to the consolidated income statement 3t A/ (I3 B) EAlER 43 (3,170) (41,080) (43,827) (7,536) 5,329 32,853 30,646
Exchange realignment EQEE (1,354) (1,054) (3,190 (5,598) (1,097) (155) (3,005) (4,257)
At 31 December R+ZB=1+-H 38,644 19,487 83,213 141,344 39,269 20,056 127,483 186,808
Set-off against deferred income tax labilties BHELREHER - (19,487) - (19,487) = (18,260) = (18,260)
Deferred income tax assets, R+ZB=+—8H
net at 31 December BIEMRHERTS 38,644 - 83,213 121,857 39,269 1,79 127,483 168,548
Deferred income tax liabilities IEEFRSRAR
Year ended 31 December
HE+ZRA=t+-BLEE
2024 2023
ZEImE “BICE
Revaluation Revaluation
of intangible of intangible
Leases assets Others Total Leases assets Others Total
g EMEEER Ht &t e EREEESH Hh &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEw TEw TER TERT TER TER FEx TERx
At 1 January ®—-B—H (18,260) (2,865) (2,636) (23,761) (13,304) (4,033) (.277) (21,614)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) WE-REHBA (i32) (7.493) (13,182) (68) (20,743) = = = =
Credited to the consolidated income statement FAGERER 2,712 1,456 2414 6,582 (5,098) 1,140 1,591 (2,367)
Exchange realignment EREZ 1,405 1,538 30 2,973 142 28 50 20
At 31 December R+-A=+-H (21,636) (13,053) (260) (34,949) (18,260) (2,865) (2,636) (23,761)
Set-off against deferred income tax assets EHETHEIHEE 19,487 - - 19,487 18,260 - - 18,260
Deferred income tax liabilities, R+ZA=+-Af
net at 31 December EEMEREERE (2,149) (13,053) (260) (15,462) - (2,869 (2,636) (5,501)
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28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

159

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit
through future taxable profits is probable. At 31 December 2024,
the Group has unrecognised tax losses to be carried forward
against future taxable income amounted to HK$650,101,000
(2023: HK$559,348,000). All tax losses will be expired from 2025
to 2044 (2023: 2024 to 2043). The potential deferred income
tax assets in respect of these tax losses which have not been
recognised will be calculated based on the effective income tax
rates according to prevailing tax laws and regulations in which the
Group operates.

Caishui Circular 1 of 2008, which was jointly issued by the
Ministry of Finance and the State Taxation Administration of
the PRC, took effect on 22 February 2008. Under the circular,
dividends declared by foreign investment enterprises (“FIEs”) to
foreign investors out of their cumulative retained earnings as at
31 December 2007 shall be exempt from withholding income tax.
For dividends declared out of profit earned after 1 January 2008,
withholding income tax will be levied on the foreign investor
at a tax rate of 10% unless the foreign investor’s jurisdiction of
incorporation has a tax treaty with the PRC that provides for a
different withholding tax arrangement.

As at 31 December 2024, deferred income tax liabilities
have not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the withholding tax that would be
payable on unremitted earnings of the PRC subsidiaries of the
Group amounting to approximately HK$463,425,000 (2023:
HK$403,190,000), as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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29 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT

(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (a)

generated from operations

29 RERTREBRMEE

HYEI AR

PREFSIR AR R EFR SRS

Year ended 31 December

BE+__A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EIOE 2=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Profit before income tax PRPAIS IR A A A 861,245 1,253,964
Adjustments for: FHE
Interest income B (20,661) (36,733)
Finance costs A5 E A 5,556 5,376
Share-based payment expenses RO ERA 31,668 =
Depreciation of property, M BERREITE
plant and equipment 63,673 28,235
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 29,112 34,150
Amortisation of intangible assets B E 5,254 3,260
Losses on disposals of property, HEYE BEREEN
plant and equipment, net B8 38 258 725
Share of results of investments FELREmEARZEEXE
accounted for using the equity method (10,638) (4,974)
Employee benefit obligations EBERANEE - REEFTE
— defined benefit plans 614 564
Net (reversal of impairment losses)/ EMEEZ CREBERRIFE)
impairment losses on financial assets JOREFEE (6,963) 1,443
Fair value gain on a contingent —HENMHARBHN AT E RS
consideration payable (4,562) -
Fair value loss on an investment at fair —IERATFESTABRZREZ
value through profit or loss NFERE 3,701 2,973
Provision for obsolete inventories [REFEERE 20,115 40,108
Net gain on liquidation of a subsidiary BE—ERBATZFNRE - (15,593)
Operating profit before EEESEMINEE R
working capital changes 978,372 1,313,498
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills & W BR TR R PR U 22 48 ~
receivables, other financial assets W AL AT IR 2 Efth & R
at amortised cost and other assets BEERECEER LD, (N 104,250 (350,456)
Decrease in inventories FEEL 188,643 630,013
Increase in restricted cash T BR&IIR &1 N (7,888) (520)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, FETBRFR ~ A FE(TBR R
other payables and accruals K FESTRIBE I, CRlz 53,548 (849,472)
Cash generated from operations REMBRE 1,316,925 743,063
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29 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 29 ZRRETRERMZTE @
STATEMENT (continued)

161

(b) Proceeds from sales of property, plant and

(o)

(b) HEMZE. K& EFRSTRIEA

equipment
In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from sales RiEEREMERT LEVE K
of property, plant and equipment comprise: B R ERTSRIREE ¢
Year ended 31 December
HE+-HA=+—HILEE
2024 2023
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Net book amount IREFE 258 725
Losses on disposals of property, HEYE BERREN
plant and equipment, net 518 358 (258) (725)
Proceeds from sales of property, HEME -BEXK
plant and equipment RHEPTETIE - S
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (0 HMEEHFIELEENHER
activities
This section sets out the movement in liabilities arising from KEEIIMEFN S FEMEFEF
financing activities for each of the years presented. EfasmEso
Lease
liabilities
HEaE
HK$'000
FAT
As at 1 January 2024 RIE2EZWFE—HF—H 108,215
Additions on leases HMERE 3,070
Financing cash flows MERERE (19,830)
Exchange realignment bE 2 FE 2 (3,630)
As at 31 December 2024 R TEIWNEFZRA=+—H 87,825
As at 1 January 2023 A2 _=%—HF—H 85,926
Additions on leases HEARE 48,703
Financing cash flows MERERE (24,836)
Exchange realignment R (1,578)
As at 31 December 2023 RZZ2_=F+"RB=+—H 108,215
Interest expense on lease liabilities for the year ended HE-_ZEZ-_NFE+ZHE=+—H

31 December 2024 amounted to HK$5,556,000 (2023:
HK$5,376,000) are presented as operating cash flows in the

consolidated cash flow statement.
2 AKERERE
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30

31

32

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

30

31

ARG

RZE_MERZZT_=ZF£+°-H
=t+—H xERTEEANAEGR-

B

RBEEHRREITNERARIASER/NE
REXRAZWT :

As at 31 December

®W+=-B=+—H
2024 2023
—EZMF TEC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Property, plant and equipment IR PR ZE - B R
in the PRC 8,110 33,235
BUSINESS COMBINATION 32 EFBEaH

Acquisition of PAX Australia

On 5 August 2024, Pax Technology Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share purchase deed
with, among others, the original shareholders of PAX Australia
to acquire 100% of the issued shares of PAX Australia (the
“Acquisition”) in the forms of:

(i)  Cash consideration amounted to AUD5,997,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$32,266,000) paid to the original
shareholders of PAX Australia; and

(i) Contingent consideration with fair value of AUD14,493,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$77,977,000) payable to the
original shareholders of PAX Australia.

Upon the completion of the Acquisition on 1 September 2024,
PAX Australia became a subsidiary of the Group. Acquisition-
related costs of HK$1,236,000 have been charged to
administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

PAX Australia is principally engaged in the sales of E-payment
Terminals products in Australia and New Zealand. The Acquisition
would strengthen the Group’s global network of sales and serve
as a cornerstone for the Group’s operations in Australia and New
Zealand, acting as a catalyst for further growth.

UK BEPAX Australia

AT TMENBABE ARBANEEN
BABIAEREERA BN (AR EIE)
PAX Australiaf9 R AR BE 5T 3 BB RS 3245 0 32
575 U BEPAX AustraliaBJ100% My B 217
B (TUWehED)

()  MPAX Australiafy R E 111
% 185,997,000 5 (HHERNLH
32,266,000 7T) ; &

(i)  TAPAX Australiafy R & 58 FE {2 JA 1K
BATEEA14,493,0008 7 (FBE
#4977,977,00037T) ©

AR TWFEAR —HERWER > PAX
Australiapt B EBE WM B AT - B EE
HHRARIALAS1,236,000B Bt AEE
ENEF"A=+— EIJtEFETE’J,@éH&
HRPRITEER-

PAX Austral|aigﬁ$7£/>—/)ﬂ7§z%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ

EBFXNRIRER WERMRAER
EIKIHE Iﬂﬁﬁ’ﬁﬂ’ﬁ%j&%@ﬁ"/w)bl&
HMOMEZENEL RE—TERERE
EfER-
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32 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
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Acquisition of PAX Australia (continued)

Details of the consideration, the fair values of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed and goodwill at the acquisition date are as

32 #EaH e

U BEPAX Australia ()

REEERNAE BERBHNEERE X
ENERNATERBENFBEOT

follows:
HK$'000
FET
Consideration: K&
Cash paid BIRE 32,266
Contingent consideration payable FET S ANE 77,977
110,243
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets B HNEWBNEERERENAR
acquired and liabilities assumed: HE%E
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BEREE 238
Intangible assets mICEE 52,727
Deferred income tax assets BEFFEMEE 3,961
Inventories 5 850
Trade receivables FEULBR TR 34,410
Cash and cash equivalents HWERIREEBY 6,802
Trade payables FE{TBRFR (24,380)
Other payables and accruals H AN FE (T BR 7R K FE 51 =R 1B (1,468)
Current tax liabilities EHMEEE (800)
Deferred income tax liabilities RILFTIEMRER (20,743)
Net identifiable assets AR EEFE 51,597
Goodwill = 58,646
110,243

The goodwill is attributable to a number of factors, among others,
the synergies expected to arise after the Group's acquisition of
PAX Australia. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be

deductible for income tax purposes.

(i) Acquired receivables and deferred income tax (i

liabilities recognised

The fair value of acquired trade receivables is
HK$34,410,000. The gross contractual amount for trade
receivables due is HK$34,410,000, all of which are expected

to be collectible.

Deferred income tax liabilities of HK$13,182,000 have
been provided in relation to the fair value adjustments of
intangible assets arising from the Acquisition.

PAX GLOBAL TECHNOLOGY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

IR 2 B o

IEFRIER

SRR ARl

13,182,000 7T ©

mENFEEANRZERNEZ  HhaEEEn
NEFEUEEPAX AustraliaB i E4 89153 E
MR E RN EETARERE

BRI R AR TR K EFESDBVIE

EWNENERERNAFES
34,410,000/ 75 © EIHAFE I AR A9 42
BHEEEA34,410,0008 T FAER S

ERMBBERMEENERLEEND
FTERESRELEMSRAR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R E M BRI

32 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Acquisition of PAX Australia (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Revenue and profit contribution

PAX Australia contributed revenue of HK$8,573,000 and
loss of HK$5,267,000 to the Group for the period from 1
September 2024 to 31 December 2024. If the Acquisition
had occurred on 1 January 2024, consolidated pro-forma
revenue and profit for the year ended 31 December 2024
would have been HK$6,064,205,000 and HK$710,611,000,
respectively. These amounts have taken into account
the amortisation of intangible assets arising from the
Acquisition, where appropriate.

Consideration
The net cash outflow arising on the Acquisition are as
follows:

32 #EaH e

U BEPAX Australia ()

(i)

(iii)

WA Big ) B RR

A ZE_MOFAB—HEZZ
“HWE+ZHB=+—HHR/E  PAX
Australiaz A~ £ [E #57k 8,573,000
TTUW A %5,267,0007% 7T K548 © fis Uk
BR_E_NE—RB—H%4E#
E_E_NE+_HB=+—HLtHE
ENEaEE WA R GHNED S
6,064,205,0007 7t %710,611,000%
Too LB EEE S ARUREMELEM
| EESNE (HEA) -

RE
WEBPREERFREMBUT ¢

HK$'000

FAET

Cash consideration paid BNRERE 32,266
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B BWENRERIREEEY (6,802)
Net outflow of cash — investing activities REERE—KEEH 25,464

As at the date of acquisition, PAX Australia had an
outstanding trading balance of HKD24,038,000 payable to
PAX Technology Limited. This balance was effectively settled
as a result of the business combination. Should the effective
settlement be accounted for separately under HKFRS 3,
the consideration transferred and the net identifiable
assets acquired would amount to HKD134,281,000 and
HKD75,635,000, respectively. The goodwill recognised
would remain unchanged at HKD58,646,000.

The contingent consideration payable represents the
amount payable to the original shareholders of PAX
Australia upon fulfillment of certain revenue targets. The
maximum potential undiscounted amount of all payments
that the Group could be required to make under this
arrangement is AUD24,567,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$132,178,000). This contingent consideration
arrangement is a non-cash investing activity of the Group on
the date of acquisition.

HERKEHZARAR —ZTTNEFR

FUREE B > PAX Australialdl ‘R —Z5FE
{F#5PAX Technology LimitedBY3Z 57 £k
%H24,038,0007& 7T o s BREER B W
BeammEEAEE LEEE BiF
EAMBHRESERNEIFHZSE Y
EENRETEEE AEEER
BNEWBNOHNEESERD
A#5134,281,0007%8 7tcF175,635,000
BT -CDHIANBEBRRFIAES
58,646,0007 7T ©

FENHAREBIEERESE TWAE
1Z B FE it FPAX Australiafy R i 58
MR- RIFZTH > REBTESE
ELXNHNMBERBHNRABER
IHEEEA24,567,00008 T FEERL
132,178,000/ 75) c Z AN EBLHE
EWEHBRRALRERN —IEIFR
SREEFH

164



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R E M BRI

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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Parties are

considered to be related if one party has, directly

or indirectly, the ability to control the other party or exercise

significant i

nfluence or joint control over the other party in making

financial and operating decisions.

(a) Transactions with related parties
Except for those disclosed below and elsewhere on the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no other
significant transactions with related parties during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: same).

33 FAMtARS

i —2 ANEHENDEFSBEEEM
ATHEEMALFHEBREERR
RS HEEMERTZENHEFES > A&
ATHWBB B HBHMA IR

BRI 5 B3 5
BTXFRBEEREAHBRE
WEME S EEARBE D
“mE+-AZ QLR
BELEAALMEASS (T
—=E I FL)

(a)

Year ended 31 December

BE+__A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EBIME —TT=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Transactions with subsidiaries of Hi Sun*: HEB 2B AN S !
— Sales of electronic payment products to —mEEz— BB ARHEE
a subsidiary of Hi Sun (note (i) BFEMER M) 15 -
— Rental fee paid to a subsidiary of Hi Sun ~ —A&E%5Z— B AT
(note (ii)) A= (EE) 348 1,411
— Service income from a subsidiary of Hi —MAEkEz —ERBABNRE
Sun (note (jii) YA (%)) - 287
Transactions with a joint venture: H—EEERENRS !
— Commission to a joint venture (note (iv)) —MBE—RE&E AR HE
(BEEGY)) 27,311 16,520
— Service income from —B—EE5ZRERRBE WA
a joint venture (note (iv)) (B 5E(iv)) 16,807 3,977

The Company is an associated company of Hi Sun Technology
(China) Limited (“Hi Sun”), whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Sales of electronic payment products to a subsidiary of Hi
Sun (the “Sales”) were transacted pursuant to the terms
and conditions set out in the framework agreement entered
into by the Company and Hi Sun on 23 December 2021.
A framework agreement in respect of the Sales (the “Sales
Framework Agreement”) was originally entered into by the
Company and Hi Sun on 19 December 2012. The terms and
conditions of the Sales Framework Agreement were renewed
on 31 December 2015, 5 December 2018 and 23 December
2021 respectively. These transactions were continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the applicable
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in respect of these transactions.
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33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Transactions with related parties (continued)

(b)

(c)

Notes: (continued)

33 BMARZ @

(a) HREAMS RS @
MEE ()

(i) Rental fees paid to a subsidiary of Hi Sun were charged at a (i mMaEBN—HWEBASZ A
fixed monthly fee mutually agreed. These transactions were TEBARERBENETEERK
de minimis continuing connected transactions exempt from WeoZERZ AR EHRAE+THA
shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure EETREREBRFERER S
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. REeBETREME FEBEBEK

FRBEIRENHE -

(i) For the year ended 31 December 2023, service income from (i) HEZE—_=F+"_F=+—H
a subsidiary of Hi Sun were transacted pursuant to mutually FFE - BeBEN—HERE AR
agreed terms and conditions. These transactions were de B9 AR 75 Ur A 75 AR $R T B 15 E B9 %
minimis connected transactions exempt from shareholders’ AERBEHET - ZEXZR LT
approval and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A RAE + IHASIE T R & R 4R A
of the Listing Rules. B BB TRERERMR

BREENRE -

(ivy  Commission to and service income from a joint venture were (ivy m—EaE RN HeRE—
transacted pursuant to mutually agreed terms and conditions. BEEAPBRSE WA T RIEH
These transactions did not constitute connected transactions Bl E B IRR R AF I ET & F
or continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of R AEpL EHRAE A+ TIA
the Listing Rules. FEETMTHHEERZRITFERER

% o
Balance with a related party (b) E1—FEIRAR S RVAEER
As at 31 December
W+=ZB=+—H
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAET
Balance with a joint venture: B]VAEER
— Amount due to a joint venture EIEeE|
(note (i), Note 27) (B 5£) ~ B9 5E27) 2,018 1,488

Note: M &E

(i) As at 31 December 2024, the balance with a joint venture is () MRIBEZHOAF+-A=+—H>
unsecured, interest-free and with a credit period of 30 days H-BEEARNEHRAEE
(2023: same). RSB EWHII0BEER (22

- +

Key management compensation

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, key
management compensation is equivalent to the Directors’
emoluments as disclosed in Note 35.

BE_T_NMERT_=ZF+"

B=+—HLEFE =

& 12 E i

THREFNRWESREZESMHE -
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34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVES MOVEMENT OF 34 ZHARBEEBEBREEEES
THE COMPANY

Balance sheet of the Company TATEERER
As at 31 December
®w+=ZB=+—H
2024 2023
—TEZNE T =F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mzt FH&T FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset ERENEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—REREAENKE 680,140 655,172
Total non-current asset ERENEELERE 680,140 655,172
Current assets RENEE
Other current assets Hitmen sz 921 847
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS MY B A B RR I8 815,729 815,729
Cash and cash equivalents RERIBSEEY 97,084 39,647
Total current assets RENEEHLE 913,734 856,223
Total assets BERTE 1,593,874 1,511,395
EQUITY gy
Equity attributable to the owners TATIEE AELERE
of the Company
Share capital &N 106,170 107,021
Reserves HHE (a) 1,460,433 1,377,396
Total equity g 1,566,603 1,484,417
LIABILITIES &af&
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HhFE (I BR 7 K FE 51 =018 27,271 26,978
Total current liabilities and TEBEHEERAELEEE
total liabilities 27,271 26,978
Total equity and liabilities ke 1,593,874 1,511,395
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34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVES MOVEMENT OF 34 ZARBEBEBREEEHEES @
THE COMPANY (continued)

(a) Reserves movement of the Company () AREEEES
Share
Share Treasury option Retained
premium shares reserve earnings Total
R iEE EFR MBREREE FRERA Mst

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAET TET TET TAT TET

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_T_HWNE+-_A=+—HLEE
Balance at 1 January 2024 AZETMF

—A—BZ%&ek 1,058,277 (40) 172,332 146,827 1,377,396
Comprehensive income 2EE
Profit for the year FERT - - - 600,827 600,827

Transactions with owners BEEBAZRX S
Repurchase of the Company's [E1B& 75 /A S]AY AR 1

shares (56,114) 40 - - (56,074)
Dividends to the shareholders B4R ATREZ
of the Company e - - - (501,303)  (501,303)
Share option scheme BT
—value of services provided — — B IR MHARFEH
BE - - 31,668 - 31,668
— share options exercised —BiTFRERE 7,919 - - - 7,919

Balance at 31 December 2024 R Z_EZME+_8
e = - 1,010,082 - 204,000 246,351 1,460,433

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z-_=F+"B=+—HLEE

Balance at 1 January 2023 A E =&

—B—HZ iR 1,128,184 = 172,332 371,262 1,671,778
Comprehensive income 2HEWE
Profit for the year FE&T] - - = 205,755 205,755

Transactions with owners HEBAZRXS
Repurchase of the Company's [a8&7/A 5 AR 1D

shares (83,350) (40) - = (83,390)
Dividends to the shareholders B4 ATREZ

of the Company e = = - (430,190)  (430,190)
Share option scheme EREsTE

— share options exercised —BITFEERE 13,443 = = = 13,443

Balance at 31 December 2023 R-_ZE_=F+_H
—t+—Bz&H% 1,058,277 (40) 172,332 146,827 1,377,396
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35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION
ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING RULES)
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35

EENRRER (FAQEEG (58
622%5) 38361 A7 (HWEEEF
HERD) HE (56226E) REE L

3R AR E 94K B8)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments () EERTHAERME
The remuneration of every Director and the chief executive BE_ T MER_EFE_=ZF+_H4
of the Company during the years ended 31 December 2024 S+—HEFEE FRABBEEK
and 2023 is set out below: THBARERB B &SI
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZECME+ZAZt-ALEE
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
HEAREES FRATRAIENBATEY) BCAIERNHE
Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect
of director’s
other services
in connection
Emoluments with the
Employer's paidor  management
contribution receivable  of the affairs
Estimated toa inrespectof of the
money value retirement accepting  Company or
Discretionary Housing of other benefit office its subsidiary
Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits scheme asdirector  undertaking Total
HESER
FARHE
HEAREH
AE%EE  FENEM
EtfIEN EEHELH BHEMT FHEfE
fig F+3 T EEEM fHENEE  BUHEMER FElEM FElE S @5t
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Name iz FEn F#n T#r TEn FER FEn Fin Tin TR
Executive Directors #ES
Nie Guoming (Chaiman) EEEER) 2,360 1,202 3,000 5 598 Ji 5 = g
Lu e (Chief Evecutive Officer) ER (R 3480 5570 9,000 - 6,578 97 - - 4,725
Li Wenjin 2XE 3,360 - 9,000 - 6,578 18 - - 18,956
Cheung Shi Yeung (Chief Financial R GRIBERLINE)
Officer & Company Secretary)* 2395 - 4,000 - 550 15 - - 6,960
11,595 6812 25,000 - 14,304 203 - - 57914
Independent Non-Executive BUkanEs
Directors
Yip Wai Ming 65 300 - 350 - - - - - 650
Wy Min &Y 300 - 350 - - - - - 650
Man Kwok Kuen, Charles e’ 300 - 350 - - - - - 650
Fok Wai Shun, Wison ERR 300 - 350 - - - - - 650
1,200 - 1,400 - - - - 2,600
Total @3t 12,795 6812 26,400 - 14,304 203 - - 60514
J Mr. Cheung Shi Yeung was appointed as an Executive g RABEER S _NF=A

Director of the Company on 14 March 2024.
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35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION
ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING RULES)

(continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)
The remuneration of every Director and the chief executive
of the Company during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 is set out below: (continued)

35

BEENERED (EEATER (B
622%) 5538361 A F (HBEEF
HEE) RE (5622GE) REH L
mRARENRE) @

() EFRTBEEMME @

BEE-_NMER_ZE-_=F+-A18
Z+—HLEEE ARTIZEERK
TBHE SR FBNEZINT @ (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HECBCZE+IR=t-HLEE
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company o its subsidiary undertaking
HEAETES FaARLARENBLIEY) BHCIRLNNE

Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect
of director’s
other services
in connection
Emoluments with the
Employer's paidor  management
contribution receivable  of the affairs
Estimated toa in respect of of the
money value retirement accepting Company or
Discretionary Housing of other benefit office its subsidiary
Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits scheme as director undertaking Total
SEZER
KRFHE
WEAREH
AEYEE  FEMEM
Afifla®  EINRG BEE6E BBERI
ik it |2 EEEL HHEMEE  BRHBER felE felE & 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Name #% TEL TEn Thn Thn TEL TEn Thn Thn TEn
Executive Directors HrE%
Nie Guoming (Chairman) 228 (2R 2,360 1,265 6,000 - - 51 - - 9,676
Lu e (Chief Executive Officer) EN(THAF) 2480 5673 10,000 - - I£] - - 18232
Li Wenjin IXE 2,360 - 9,000 - - 18 - - 11378
7,200 6,938 25,000 - - 148 - - 39,286
Independent Non-Executive BujyirEs
Directors
Yip Wai Ming -3 300 - 350 - - - - - 650
Wy Min 29 300 - 350 - - - - - 650
Man Kok Kuen, Charles NER 300 - 350 - - - - - 650
Fok Wai Shun, Wilson? EBR 186 - 216 - - - - - 40
1,086 - 1,266 - - - - - 2352
Total a3t 8,286 6,938 26,266 - - 148 - - 41,638

Mr. Fok Wai Shun, Wilson was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company on 19 May 2023.
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35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION
ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING RULES)

(continued)

171

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits during the year (2023: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there are no
loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour
of the directors, or controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year (2023:
Nil).
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other potentially material accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements
are for the Group consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group (refer
to Note 36.2).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
income statement, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated balance sheet
respectively.

(ii) Associated companies

Associated companies are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associated companies are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting (see (iv) below),
after initially being recognised at cost.

36 HMEBEEEXRETERME

2P 51 5 R B UL AR & M B R R TR A
WHMBESEAGSHHR BB AHRB
S BEBRIRFABMENFE—EHE
BMEB - AUBBRREAELER (BFESE
NEREWERE) AR e

36.1 SHERAIRERE A

() HiEBAE]
B AR EENHA R
BOFMABR -AEEHNER
BEG®R RiEAEERE2H
ZERNEEMAEHZD
BB EARNAEERZEAHET
Bho®m WENERHEER
RAPFNENTE LB -
MEBABEEHNRERERE
EERE2HSHAR-MBEL
BTEERELIE BERRIES
HARR

FEBNEZGHEBKRED
SHEANRR (B2EMIFE36.2) ©

ERARAERE EHKkE
ENSIIHES %E’H&LIEH& 119
FTURB - REFGEETEH
o BRIFRRZRMHERRAT
FREEEERRAERE R M
BARINESHRERFTEE
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

173

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)
(iii) Joint arrangements

(iv)

Under HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”, investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification depends
on the contractual rights and obligations of each
investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint
arrangement. The Group has a joint venture.

Interests in the joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method (see (iv) below), after initially being
recognised at cost in the consolidated balance sheet.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in
profit or loss, and the Group's share of movements in
other comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividend received or receivable
from associated companies and joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of
the investment.

Where the Group's share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in
the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associated company and joint venture are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in
these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of equity accounted investees have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 36.6.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(v)

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests
and any consideration paid or received is recognised
in a separate reserve within equity attributable to the
owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of control,
joint control or significant influence, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value
with the change in carrying amount recognised in
the consolidated income statement. This fair value
becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as
an associated company, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associated company is reduced but joint control or
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL

175

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.2 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired
business

° equity interests issued by the Group

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquired
entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the:
. consideration transferred,

° amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired
entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair
value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement as a bargain purchase.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HMBESEARLHHEHRE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.2 Business combinations (continued) 36.2 ¥#iEa6% @

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The
discount rate used is the entity's incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such remeasurement are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

36.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes directly attributable costs of an
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets including
goodwill.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

177

36.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional currency and the Group's
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year end exchange rate are generally recognised in
the consolidated income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the consolidated income
statement, within finance costs. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated income statement on a net basis within
administrative expenses.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at
FVPL are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair
value gain or loss and translation differences on non-
monetary assets such as equities classified as FVOCI are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HMBESEARLHHEHRE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.4 JMEIAE (@)

(© ZEEZLE
WEEKHEEHREKAHERE

36.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of foreign operations

(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

. assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet

o income and expenses for each income statement
and statement of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless
this is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

o all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities
are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated
at the closing rate.
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36.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(d)

Disposal and partial disposal of foreign

operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associated
company that includes a foreign operation), all of the
currency translation differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to the consolidated
income statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share
of accumulated currency translation differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in the consolidated income statement. For
all other partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group's ownership interest in associated companies or
joint ventures that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange difference is
reclassified to the consolidated income statement.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HMBESEARLHHEHRE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.5 Property, plant and equipment 36.5 M B E K& E

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated income
statement during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 36.6).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the
consolidated income statements.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction or pending installation, and is
stated at cost less impairment losses. Cost comprises direct
costs of construction including borrowing costs attributable
to the construction during the period of construction.

36.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation and is tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount might
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of
the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting
period.
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36.7 Investments and other financial assets

0,

(ii)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income, or
through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to present subsequent changes in fair value in other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HMBESEARLHHEHRE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.7 Investments and other financial assets (continued) 36.7 RERHEHMEMEE @
(iii) Subsequent measurement of debt (i) EFTRZEEFZE
instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories into which
the Group classifies its debt instruments:

(1)  Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss (except for the foreign exchange
gains and losses) arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement and presented in other gains, net.
Impairment losses are presented as a separate
line item in the consolidated income statement.

(2)  Fair value through other comprehensive income

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in profit
or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other gains, net. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in administrative expenses and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated income statement.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.7 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(iiij) Subsequent measurement of debt

instruments (continued)

(3) _ Fair value through profit or loss
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or
loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in the
consolidated income statement and presented
net within other gains, net in the period in which
it arises.

36.8 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated balance sheet where the
Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts, and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

36.9 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated cash
flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash
on hand and demand deposits held at call with financial
institutions, with original maturities of three months or less.

36.10 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity
instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-
back or a share-based payment plan, the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to the owners of the Company as treasury shares for the
accounting purposes until the shares are cancelled.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HMBESEARLHHEHRE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.11 (BB 7S

36.11 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

36.12 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.12 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and considers whether it is probable
that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax
treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either
based on the most likely amount or the expected
value, depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

(b) Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax
assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has
a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and

settle the liability simultaneously.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.13 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision, where
appropriate, is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Post-employment pension obligations

The Group operates various post-employment
schemes, including both defined benefit and defined
contribution pension plans.

The liability or asset recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension
plans is the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period less the
fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation
is calculated annually by independent actuaries using
the projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation
is determined by discounting the estimated future
cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality
corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency
in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms
approximating to the terms of the related obligation.
In countries where there is no deep market in such
bonds, the market rates on government bonds are
used.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.13 Employee benefits (continued)
(b) Post-employment pension obligations

(continued)

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the
discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit
obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This
cost is included in employee benefit expenses in the
consolidated income statement.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognised in the period in which
they occur, directly in other comprehensive income.
They are included in employee benefit reserve in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and
reserves in the consolidated balance sheet.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit
obligation resulting from plan amendments or
curtailments are recognised immediately in the
consolidated income statement as past service costs.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the "“Pension Scheme”) set up pursuant to
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
relevant income and are charged to the consolidated
income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the Pension Scheme. The
assets of the Pension Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administrated
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed to the Pension
Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when
the employee leaves employment prior to vesting fully
in the contributions, in accordance with the rules of
the Pension Scheme.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HMBESEARLHHEHRE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.13 Employee benefits (continued) 36.13 lEE@F (@&
(b) Post-employment pension obligations (b) FEBEUREEF @
(continued)
For defined contribution plans, the Group has no MACHMEEMS a5 E
further payment obligations once the contributions REMHmEBEEMMARE
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as o HANENPRCR SRR

s EEREN R - AT HMR
BS B4R [0] 37 < 5 BT 49 85 R 2R (4

an employee benefit expense when they are due.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the

extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

In addition, pursuant to the government regulations
in the PRC, the Group is required to contribute an
amount to certain retirement benefit schemes based
on approximately 7% to 22% of the wages for
the year of those employees in the PRC. The local
municipal government undertakes to assume the
retirement benefits obligations of those employees of
the Group. Contributions to these retirement benefits
schemes are charged to the consolidated income
statement as incurred.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses and profit-sharing based on a formula that
takes into consideration the profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments.
The Group recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.14 Share-based payments
(a) Equity-settled share-based payment

transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

including any market performance conditions;

excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified time period); and

including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period
which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected
to vest based on the non-market vesting and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated income
statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received, net of any directly
attributable transaction costs, are credited directly to
equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R E M BRI

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HMBESEARLHHEHRE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.14 Share-based payments (continued) 36.14 B&1R 21T (@

(b) Share-based payment transactions among

group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiaries
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an
increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with
a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity
accounts.

36.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations might be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditures required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

36.16 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.17 Leases (as lessee)

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to the consolidated income
statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received,
and

o any initial direct costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases of premises
and all leases of low-valued assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in the consolidated income
statement. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less without a purchase option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBmRMsE

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.18 Value-added tax refund
Value-added tax refund is recognised in the consolidated
income statement when there is a reasonable assurance
that the refund will be received which generally occurs upon
the receipt of the approval of tax refund from the local tax
bureau.

36.19 Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised in the
consolidated income statement at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all the attached
conditions.

36.20 Research and development

Research expenditure is expensed as incurred. Costs incurred
on development projects (relating to the design and testing
of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible
assets when it is probable that the project will be a success
considering its commercial and technological feasibility,
and costs can be measured reliably. Other development
expenditures are expensed as incurred. Development costs
previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an
asset in a subsequent period.

36.21 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company's
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.
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Five Years Financial Summary
AFPRBERE

A summary of the published consolidated results and the consolidated EE&EEXPHFRE AL BER B REH DL
assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as MAEBBEXAERREEESAMEEEER
extracted from the audited financial statements and reclassified as #&aEELRABEBMENT !

appropriate, is set as below:

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“ECmE T -FE T fF T -F T EE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FAET FHET FET
Results E 5 |
Revenue WA 6,044,878 6,709,324 8,062,702 7,195,982 5,650,619
Gross profit EH] 2,853,389 2,994,001 3,306,141 2,827,197 2,337,309
Operating profit =il 856,163 1,254,366 1,429,342 1,277,972 1,067,172
Profit for the year attributable to RABEBEA
the owners of the Company FEILEERF 713,427 1,155,164 1,264,675 1,083,774 900,123
Financial position BN
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Total assets BEMLE 9,169,505 9,075,329 9,490,329 8,821,278 7,637,059
Total liabilities BBE%E 1,604,918 1,589,155 2,584,479 2,364,722 2,063,487
Capital and reserves BT
Total equity AR5 7,564,587 7,486,174 6,905,850 6,456,556 5,573,572
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